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PREFACE,
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PART I

TIE ORIGIN OF THE OCITY.






Crarrer 1
THE HOYSALA THEORY

Section 1:—An enquiry into the origin of Vijaya-
nagara is ossential for a correct understanding of the
history of South India during the 14th century. The
problem may be divided into fwo parts, viz., the
origin of the city, and the foundation of the kingdom.

Who founded the city of Vijayanagara ? It is not
possible to offer a simple answer to the question, as
it involves the discussion of a varicty of topies which
have apparently no connection with it. Several
scholars hold that the city was founded by the Hoy-
sala king, Ballala III. One of them describes the origin
of the ecity thus: * Various stories are related of the
foundation of Vijayanagar. The fortification of the city
that afterwards became Vijayanagar must, however, be
regarded as the’deliberate aot of the great Hoysala
ruler, Vira Balldla III, It was founded soon after
the destruction of Kampili by the army of Muham-
mad, and immediatley following the invasion of the
Hoysala capital Dwarasamudra.”* In the opinion of
another, the ‘city was founded ‘by a king who had
been imprisoned by Delhi Munssalmans, taken as a
prisoner to their northern ecapital, and then sent
back to his country in the sonth.” ¢ Ballila III was
taken prigoner to Delhi, and afterwards was released
by the Sultin. Hence Vira Balli]a III seems fo be . . .
the founder of the city.’ .

These statements are based on very slender evi-
dence. The only source from which Ball@la IIl's con-
neotion with Vijayanagara is learnt, is & passage indhe

* 8, K, Iyengar CHY, iii p, 489,
+ Heras 1 The Bepinnings, pp. 41-43.
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VIJAYANAGARA

Rise of the Muhammadan Power by Ferishta where the
foundation of the eity is attributed to that monarch.
¢ This year,” (A.D. 1344), says he, * Krishn Naig, son
of Luddar Dew, who lived near Wurnngole, went pri-
vately to Bilal Dew, Raja of Carnatie, and fold that he
had heard the Muhammadans, who were now very
numerons in the Dececan, had formed the design of ex-
tirpating all the Hindus and that it was therefore advi-
sable to combine against them. Bilal Dew convened =
meeting of his kinsmen, and resolved first to secure the
forts of hig eountry, and then to remeove the seat of his
government among the mountains. Krishn Najg
promised, on his part also, when their plans were ripe,
to raise all the Tlindus of Wurungole and Tulingana,
and put himsell at their head. ¢ Bilal Dew, accordingly
built a strong city npon the froniiers of his dominions,
and called it after his son Beeja to which the word
nuggar or cily was added, so that it is now kuown by
the name of Beejanuggar.” *

The evidence of Ierishin, however, is not trnst-

worthy, and it should not be taken into consideration ;
{for,

(1) Ferishta records only a tradition written or
oral which he obtained from some unknown source,
when the city of Vijayanagara had already become
a memory. Moreover, the story of the feundation,
as it is narrated by Ferishta, contradicts the reliable
evidence of contemporary doeuments.

(2) According to Ferishta, Krishn Naig’s meeting
with Bilal Dew took place in A.D. 1344. It is very
much to be doubted whether there was any Balldla
alive on that date; for, the death of Ballalu III took
place on Sept. 8, 1342 ; + and though his son, Ballila IV

* Briggs 1 Ferishta, 1, p, 427, 1 EC. vi Kd.76.
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ORIGIN OF TIIE CITY

agcended the throne on Ang. 11,1843,* he did not rule
long. Some believe that he ruled until 1846, + The
belief is based on an epigraph dated in that year which
is supposed to contain a reference to him. It records
that in the year Vyaya a certain Jakkanma Nayaka
gave, to a Siddaydji Vodeyar, Kattu-Nayaka’s Jadda-
pura during the time of Ballalardya }

Since the Saka year is not given it cannot be de-
finitely asserted that Ballglariya of the inscription is
Ballala IV. There occurs a Vyaya in the reign of Bal-
lﬁla. II, and it is just possible that the Balldla of the ins-
eription may have to be identified with him. Secondly,
the gift of Jaddapura appears 4o have heen made some
time before the grant was engraved upon stone, for
the writer of the inscription alludes to the gift as
having been made during the time of Ballalarfiya. As-
suming that Ballila IV was alive in, A.D. 1846 it is just
possible that he received Krishn Naig and promised to
help him in overthrowing the power of the Muham-
madans. In order, however, that he should be the
founder of Vijayanagara, he should have had a son of
the name of Vijaya or Beeja. There is absolutely no
svidence to show that Ballala IV had any children.

For the reasons mentioned above, it cannot be
maintained, on the strength of Ferigshta’s evidence that
Ballila III was the founder of the city of Vijayanagara.
A recent writer, in order probably to get over the
difficulty, shifts the time of Krishn Naig’s meeting
with Bilal Dew to A.D. 13828. * This date,’ he
declares, ‘seems to coincide with the conguest of
Warrangal by the Mussalmans, and the meeting of
Krepa Nayaka with Balldla III referred to by Ferishga.

* EC vi. Cm, 105, + Ruce : Mysote and Coorg p, 108.
1 £C. 1x. Bn, 120,

(5]



VIJAYANAGARA

It was, therefore most likely at Tiruvappamalai that
the assembly of Ballala III with his kinsmen in order
to defend the empire against the Muhammadans was
held.” * To prove the correctness of the suggested
date he cites an inseription : ¢ One of the inscriptions
that was most unfortunately overlooked ... is one that
comes from Chitaldrug TalGika dated in the same year
13828. 7 It records that ¢ when the Hoysana strong-
armed Vira Ballila Déva, together with the ehampion
at his side, the strong-armed Bhima R&ya, the prince
Kathorahara, the prince Vira Simha Raghun&tha, the
prince Kflamégha, the Prince Vira Santa, Baicewa
Dannayska Cawmiipa who was the punisher of the
famous Madhava Raya of Udsvara, the great minis-
ter Ballapa Dannpayaka, the great minister Singeya
Danniyaka were in the residence of the city of Unya-
male roling the kingdom in peace and wisdom. ” * All
this seems to point to the meeting of kinsmen econve-
ned by Ballgla III, as Ferishta mentions. It is inte-
resting to notice that the place and the date of
meeting are vespectively Unpimale i. e., Tiravanys-
malai and 1328. Such are procisely the place and
dute of Ballila’s meeting with his kinsmen suggested
in the above lecture, ” ¥

The date of meeting suggested by the writer, it
must be remembered, is not the same as that of
Ferighta. He does not give any reason in support of
the proposed change, except that his date, 1328
A.D. coincides with the conquest of Warrangal by
Muhammadans, 3 But that is not true, for the con-
quest of Warrangal was completed in A, D, 1323.

® Heras : The Begtnnings, p. 122.
+ #6id : pp. 124-12B.
' I #bid s p, 128

[6]



ORIGIN OF THE CITY

Uliigh Khin * entered the country of Tilang, took
the fort of Bidar, and made its chiel prisoner. From
thence he proceeded to Arangal for the second time.
He invested the mud fort, and after plying it for a
few days with arrows from the ndwaks, and stones
from the mughribis, he captured the whole place,
Rai Laddar Deo, with all his rais and mukaddims,
their wives and children, elephants and horses, fell
into the hands of the victors ... The prince sent Lad-
dar Deo Rai, of Arangal, with his elephants and
treasures, relations and dependents to the Sulign
under the charge of Malik Bedar, who had been
created Kadar Khan and Xhwija HEj, nd@idb of
¢ griz-t-mamilik. The name Arangal was changed to
Sultanpiir and all the conntry of Tilang was conquer-
ed. Officers were appointed to manage the country,
and one year's tribute was taken. The prince then
marched towards Jajanagar, and there took forty
elephants with which he returned to Tilang. These
he sent to his father. * ”

There is reagson to believe that PratGparudra
was subsequenily released and sent back to his country.
He appears to have exercised some sorf of control
over a portion of his former kingdom until A.D. 1330. }

It is evident that the ¢ conquest of Warrangal ’
by Muhammadans took place not in A.D, 1828, as the
writer under consideration would have us believe, but
in 1823 A. D, five years earlier than the date of the
alleged meeting of Ballala III and his kinsmen. There-
fore, there could not have been any counection bet-
ween ‘the conquest of Warrangal,” and the Tiravanpa-
malai meeting. There is no indication that there was

* Barni: ED. iii pp. 283-234.
+ NDI ii Kr. 28,

L71



VIJAYANAGARA

a revoli and reconquest of the country between
1823 and 1386. In 1327 Muhammad bin Tughlak
transferred his capital to Dévagiri. Thence he sent
an expedition against the Raya of Kampili who offer-
ed shelter to Bahf-ud-Din Gushifsp, the rebellious
cousin of the Sultin. The RaAya was killed and ¢ the
town was taken, its inhabitants were made prisoners.’
Then the Saliin’s army next proceeded againsi Bilal
Dew under whom Bazh&-ud-Din had now taken shelter
and laid siege to his capital Dwarasamudra. Bilal Dew,
however, submitted 1o the Sultin and surrendered the
fugitive. These events 1ook place late in 1827 or
early in 1328, So long as the Sultin’s armies were
active in the Sounth, there was no scope for the Hindus
of Warrangal fo rise up in rebellion. Tilang remained
submissive for at least half a dozen years more ; for,
no revolts broke out, and the Sultin could mareh to
Warrangal and remain there without any trouble for
gome months in 1336 A. D. * According to Ferishta
the meeting of Kysna Naoyak with Ballgla III was
followed more or less immediately by the expulsion
of Muhammadans and the declaration of independence
by Krsna Nayak; but all our authorities, contempo-
rary as well as later, state that the expulsion of the
Muhamnmadans from Tilang took place about A.D. 1345.
It would not have been possible for the reasons
mentioned for Kysna Nayak to confer with Ballila 111
in 1328 for tho purpose of overthrowing the autho-
rity of the Mussalmans.

Now, the inscription in which Ballgla I11’s meeting
with his kinsmen is said to have been recorded, is very
Qadly damaged, and some of the words cannot be made
out. Mr. Rice, the edilor of the inscription, remarks

* Barni: ED, iii. p.234.

[81



QRIGIN OF THE CITY

that “several of these names (occurring in it) are
very doubtful owing to the inscription being indis-
tinet.” * Moreover, there is much difference between
the printed Kannada text and its transliteration :

Badoaee Fredd ede
Snwe, doachie BRSRG
no@ onndPesd... ... o,
8880, .. 000 3,e0¢T. -«
ToohHaNT  ReSZodvecd
%*.)’:Sd......:)ed...ﬁ W98
rvern 0B ByeFod wo
weodheoy ... ... B 36D
& BB, poso wg®, wome
ohEdy AoRodh Towzoh
¥dio evomahSeh T,
0n IS2eaded Rw¥o
Zpeddeesio vezyo Aok
3 dde..

The names:——

1. Padayole ganda bhuja-

bala-bhima . .. ya.

2. Narasimha . . . Raya ...

8, Sri Vira
Kuvara

4, Vira Santa R3ya Ku-

vara

* EC,xi pab; fn, to Cd. 4

Hoyisana-bhuja-bala S11-Vira
Ballala Rayanti edeyole ganda
bhuja - bala - Bhima Rayani
Kathora - Hara Rayakuvara
Simha Raghun@tha - Riyaku-
vara Kalamégha Rayakuvara
Vira Santa Rayakuvara . ...
Vira . ... Udavarada ugpdige
khyati Madhava Raya ganda
Baichayadannayakabha . ...
Sriman-maha-pradhinam Bal-
lappadannayakaru  Singeya
danppiyakarum Unpnp&maleya
pattanada nelevidinSlu sukha
sankatha vinddadim - rajyain
geyuttamiralu &e.

1. Edeyole ganda bhuja-

bala Bhima Raya.
2, Kathora Hara Raya
Kuvara.

8. Simha Raghunatha
Raya Kuvara.

4, Kalamégha Raya Ku-
vara,

191l



VIJAYANAGARA

B. Vira... ge khyati ... b. Vira Santa Riya Ku-
ganda Baicaya Dan- vara.
nayaka.

6. Ballappa Danpiyaka ... 6. Baichaya Danpiyaka
(Vira Udavirada up-
dige khyati Madhava-
Raya ganda.)

7. Singeya Dappiyaka ... 7. Ballappa Dannayaka.
8. Singeya Dannayaka.

Padayole ganda bhuja-bala-Bhima, Vira Santa
Raya Kuvara, Baicaya Danniyaka, Ballappa Dan-
nayaka, and Singeya Dannpayaka are common to the
text and the transliteration, though it is more reason-
able to take the first as a birnda than as a proper name.
Nos. 2, 8 of the text are not found in ihe translitera-
tion; nor Nos. 2, 8, 4 of the transliteration are to be
seen in the text. The names, Kathora-Hara-Riya-
Kuvara, Simha-Raghunétha-Réya Kuvara, Kalamggha-
Raya-Kuvara, and Vira Udavarada undige khyati
Madhava-Raya-ganda are added by the editor for
reasons known only to himself. Therefore, thegse names
appear to be fictitious, and they need not be taken into.
consideration. The only names which we can be certain
of are those of Vira Santa-Raya - Kuvara, Baicaya
Danpayaka, Mah&pradhina Ballappa Dapn@yaka, and
Singeya Dannayaka. There is no reason to believe,
in the light of the evidence before us, that these were
the kinsmen of the king, The last two should not be
confused with their famous namesakes, the sons of
Padi Someya Daypayaka, for the name of their father
is said to be B&heya in the present record. In 1328,
Ballala Il was present at Tiruvapnamalai conducting a
esmpaign against his sonthern neighbours. Naturally

101



ORIGIN OF THE CITY

his officers were present in the eamp with him. This
lhad no connection either with the capture of Warran-

gal by the Muhammadans, or Krypa Nayaka’s visit to
Ballala 11I.

(8) T4 members of the Hindu confederacy
which expelled the Muhammadans from the South are
said 1o be, according to Nerishta, Krishn Naig of
Warrangal, Bilal Dew the ruler of Carnatie, the Riyas
of Dwarasamudra, and M‘abar.

Ballala III managed to hold his dominions intaet,
ufttil his death in 1842 ; and it is assumned that his son
ruled for a short time without suffering any loss
of tervilory. The capital of Ballala [V was also
probably Dwarasamudra, for the only inscription of
his reign is found in the Cikmagallir 1lika, in the
neighbourhood of that city.* As Ferishta makes a
clear distinction between Bilal Dew and the Ritya of
Dwarasamudra, his information should be regarded as
inacenrate. T Since at the time of the meeting it was
the fourth Ballala who bhad no children that was ruling,
it is inconceivable how he could have named a city
which he is said to have built after his son Beeju.
The evidence of Ferishta should be regarded as in-
correct and consequently untrustworthy.

1t is asserted that Balldla III was taken as a pri-
soner to Delhi in A.D. 1810, and was subsequently
released somewhere about the commencement of A.D,
1313. § This statement is not based on evidence.

* EC. vi Cm, 105,

é.ﬁ.’r &”Hﬁ/ WL 2Ly J}»}' o)l A ..,d, L:/;‘,J J—U:
T3 ikfi-i-Ferishta p, 138, " whe3) u@-'// "

I Heras: The Beginnings, p. 42.

. [11]
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VIJAYANAGARA

Though the Muhammadan historians are not agreed
among themselves regarding Ballala’s ecapiure, they
are unanimous in omitting to mention any prisoner of
war. Amir Khusrau who probably accompanied the
army describes graphically the various incidents con-
nected with the campaign, and he does not even
remotely suggest the capture of Ballala. On the eon-
trary, a perusal of T@riki-i-*Alai leaves on the mind
the impression that he was allowed to remain free.
Barni who was an younger contemporary of Khusran
gtates definitely that he fell into the hunds of the
Muhammadans ; and Ferishta copies Barni.

riz|



Khusrau

‘The fire-worshipping Rai (Bilal Deo), when he learnt that
his idol temple was likely to be converted into a mosque,’
despatched Kisii Mal to ascertain the strength and the circum-
stances of the Musulmans, and he returned with such alarming
accounts that the R& next morning despatched Balak Deo
Naik to the royal canopy to represent that your slave ¢Bilal Deo
is ready to swear allegiance to the mighty emperor like Laddar
Deo and Rém Deo and whatever the Sulaimfin of the time
may order, I am ready to obey. If you desire horses like
demons, elephants like qf¥its, and valuables like those of Deogir,
they are all present. If you wish to destroy the four walls of
this fort, they are as they stand no obstacle to your advance.
The fort is the fort of the king; take it ¢The commander
replied that he was sent with the object of converting him to
Muhammadanism, or of making him a Zimmi and subject to
pay tax, or of slaying him, if neither of these terms were agsented
t0. When the R&i received this reply, he said he was ready to
give up all he possessed, except his sacred thread.” ‘On Friday
the 6th of Shawwil, the Rai sent Balak Deo Naik, Nfriin Deo,
and Jit Mal with some other basiths to bow before the royal
canopy and they were accompanied by six elephants. Next day
some horses followed. On Sunday * Billal Deo, the sun-worship-
per, seeing the splendour of IslAm over his head, bowing down
his head, descended from his fortress, and came before the
shadow of the shadow of God; and trembling and heartless,
prostrated himself on the earth and rubbed the forehead of
subjection on the ground. He then returned to fetch his
treasures and was engaged all night in taking them out, and
next day brought them before the royal canopy, and made them
over to the king’s treasurer.”

“ The commander remained twelve days in that city, ¢ which

is four month’s distance from Delhi, and sent the,captured
elephants and horses to that capital.”

) E. D. TII. p. 89,






ORIGIN OF THE CITY

Though Barni and Ferishta agree with euch other
regarding Ballala III’s capture, Khusrau does not even
suggest its probability. As Balldla III surrendered to
the Muhammadans his wealth, kingdom and person as
soon as they laid siege to his capital, there is no reason
why he should have been made a prisoner. The source
from which Barni obtained his information is not known.
However, his evidence cannot be lightly set aside as he
was also a contemporary of Khusran. Though it may
be admitted for the sake of argument that Ballala III
was made a prisoner, there is no ground for the belief
thht he was taken to Delhi, On this point, all the three
Muhammadan writers are in complete agreement.
When Malik Kafiir returned to Delhiin 1811 A.D., he
is said to have presented to the Sultdn the spoils of his
sonthern campaigns. Aeccording to Khusrau, they con-
sisted of elephants and gems: *The ground was
covered by the large bodies of the elephants, and faunlt-
less gems.” * Barni describes the booty in greater de-
tail ; Malik Kafiir presented to the Sultéin ‘six hundred
and twelve elephants, ninety-six thousand mans of gold,
several boxes of jewels and pearls, and twenty
thousand horses.” T Ferishta reduces the number of
elephants to three hundred and twelve, but with regard
to the other items he repeats Barni’s account. ] None
of these writers, however, mentions any prisoner of
war. It is improbable that, had Ballala III been taken
to Delhi as prisoner and presented to the Sultan, this
fact should have passed on unnoticed.

An examination of the inseriptions of the period
(1810 to 1818) shows that Ballala III was within his
kingdom. He was ruling the earth together with

* The Khasa'inul Fussh, JIH. 1x p. 18 ¥ £D, 1 p. 204,
i Brige’s Ferishia, i p. 374,

{18}



VIJAYANAGARA

Madigadéva Dappdyaka and Aliya M&ceya Dapni-
yaka from Dorasamudra in A.D. 13160 * In the next
year, he granted lands of Belhalli to Harihara-
bhattopadhydya, son of the rgjaguru Vigpubhatta.
The inseriptions registering the gifts of some of his
subordinates dated A.D. 1312 declare that Ballala was
ruling the earth in happiness. § Therefore, itis not
likely that Ballila could have been absent [rom his
kingdom. The inscription which is said to refer to his
return from Delhi deserves to be examined in this
econnection. The person who returned from Delhi
was not Ballala ITII, but his son prince Ballala Raya,
the future Ballzla IV. A perusal of the text of the
inscription makes this point clear.

Svasti Srimat-Pratapa Hoysapa $if Vira Balldla
Dévarasaru rajyamgeyuttimire Turuka Vigrayfdalli
ddeli yanda makaln Vira Ballala REya Patapa prevesem-
fidur-avasaradalli Pram&di ($am)tsara Jy@siha suddha
dagami yalli Kidaliya Raman@ta Devarige dhiripiiry-
vamaddida dharma. §

The inscription registers a grant of taxes to god
Rimanédha Déva of Kiidali by Hoysana Sl Vira
Ballala Dévarasa in honowr of the arrival of hig son
Vira Balldla Raya from Delhi on 6th May 1818, after
the Turuka war. The ruling Hoysala monarch in 1318
was Bullala IIT ; therefore, the Vira Balldla Dévarasarn
of the present inscription who made the gift, should he
identified with him. It follows from this that he did
not return from Delhi, but was in his capital. If Vira
Ballala Baya who returned from Delhi is identified
with Ballalwy III, then according 1o the inseription under

& BC rnCd 1, + EC, iv Kr, 43.
1 ALAR, 1907, .6 ; EC, x Sd. 36, § ZC.vii $h, 16.

[14]



ORIGIN OF THE CITY

consideration, his father’s name should bLe Ballila
Dévarasa. But the name of Balldla III's father is
Narasimha and not Balldla. Therefore, the identifica-
tion should be considered incorrect. If, on the other
. hand, Ballala R&ya is identified with Prince Virfipaksa
Ballala, the son of Ballala ITI, this identification agrees
with all the facts of the Hoysala pedigree and chrono-
logy. On the evidence of the present inseription, it
cannot be asserted that Ballila III was taken to Delhi
as a prisoner by the Muhammadans and subsequently
released. If imprisonment at Delhi and subsequent
rel®ase should be taken as reasons for attributing to
Ballala 1II the foundation of Vijayanagara, it must be
said that he had no connection with the building of
that city.

The other grounds for believing that Balldla TII
built the city of Vijayanagara are far less strong. No
direct evidence, contemporary or later of any kind is
available to maintain this view. It is based npon a
series of indirect deductions drawn from half under-
stood statements contained in a few inscriptions of the
early Vijayanagara period, and may be stated in the
following manner :

“There is an inseription in the temple at ITampi
(known also as Virlipaksam) referring itself to the
Tloysalas, indicating thereby that Hampi was in the
ierritory of the Hoysalas.” Ballala III ¢ laid the founda-
tions of the city generally called Ilosappaitaya or
Virlipaksapattana.” ¢ There is further an inscription
of A.D. 1854 (not at Hampe) which states that Bukka
was ruling Hosapattana.” “In the next year, he is
said to be in Vidy&nagari, his capital.” *

* S, K, Tyengar ¢ Sonth Zndéa and her Mulommadan Inwaders, pe 112,
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“This series of facts would put it beyond doubt
that Hosapattana and VidyZnagara are the same us
VirGpaksapattana or Hampi and that this had becn
fortified against eventunalities . . . by the Hoysala king
Vira Ballgla IIL.” *

This view deserves to be examined closely. Ifis
true that there is a Hoysala inscription at Hampe. In
order to lend support to the statement that Ballala IIT
founded Vijayanagara, it should show that the region
round Hampe was included in his dominions. The
inseription, however, belongs to the reign of Vira
Soméswara, and is dated in A.D. 1286, + exactly a
century before the traditional date of founding the
city of Vijayanagara. It does not help us to learn
whether Tlampe was included in the territories of
Ballala ITII.  An analysis of the inseriptions during the
period in the Bellary district may give us an idea of the
people who held sway ever it.

8. K, lyengar, South fndia and her Muhammadan Invadsrs, p, V11,
+ MAR 1920, p. 33,
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The inscriptions of Ballila II are found in
Bellary, Hoaspst, Harpanahalli and IIadagalli taliikas
as well ag in the Sandir state. His authority should
have extended over these tdlfikas, and probably also
over Kudligi, as it was surrounded by his other
possessions. The two eastern tilikas, Adoni and
Alidir, were governed by the Y&dava king Singhana.
As Singhana’s inseriptions are also found in the Gooty
and the Dharmavaram taliikas of the Anantapfir dis-
trict, * it is not unreasonable to believe that R&yadurg
taliika, which lies between Alfir and the Anantapir
district should have also come under his sway. "

The successors of Ballila II seem to have
gradually lost their hold upon their territory m the
Bellary district, The inscriptions of Narasimha IT are
found only in the three western talikas viz., Harpana-
halli, Hadagalli, and Kudligi. His authority seems to
have been confined only to this area Som8svara is
represented by o single inseription dated 1236 A. I,
almost at the very commencement of his reign. TIle
seems to have lost his hold on this region subsequent
to this date. There is reason to believe that he
was ejected from this district by Singhana. One of
SomB8vara's generals elaims to have scattered the army
of Kysnakandh@ra; ¥ and in an inscription dated
A.D. 1287, “he is represented as first fighting against
Krsnakandh@ra, ” § As Kandhara did not ascend the
throne umtil A. D. 1247, the events mentioned above
should have taken place during Singhaya’s reign.
On the octasion of his war with Krgnakandhara,
Somefvara seems to have penetrated as far north as
Sholapiir, for an inscription of SGm8évara dated 1236 is

* MER, 343 of 1919, 298 of 1926. t MAR. 1907 p. 4.
Y EC %1, Md, 122, #led, 1v, Ng. 99,
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found at Pundharpiiv. * Whatever be the cause of this
campaign, Somésvara never made any attempt to win
back his possessions in the Bellary district subsequent
to this date. REmanatha made an effort about
A.D. 1275-76 to reconquer a portion of this region ; but
Lo does not appear to have been successful. Tlis Kogali
inseriptions stand alone, and they remain the last
indications of the Hoysala power in the district. It
is interesting to note that neither Narasimha III, nor
his son Ballala III is represented by a single inscription
anywhere in this region, though the rule of the latter
was recognised in Kalyayadurg, Dharmavaram, Penu-
gonda and HindGpfir t&likas of the Anantapfir disirict
in the neighbourhood. Therefore, it may be said that
the Tloysala power in the Belliry district became
practically extinet after the death of Naiasimha II
and that the Yadavas [irmly established ihemselves in
the place of their rivals.

Simultaneously with the disappearance of the
Hoysalas, the Y&davas rose to prominence. They
geem tfo have acgwred not only the whole of the
present Bellary district, but also Davanagere talika
of Citaldrug district. = Krgpakandhira’s rule over
Alfir, arpanahalli as well as Davanagere is proved by
his inscriptions in these respective areas. ¥ Mahadéva’s
records are found in Hadagalli and Davanpagere. t
Mahadéva was an aggressive monarch; he seems to
have allied himself with the Cgla chief Irungla DevaIl,
and carvied five and sword to the very gates of
Dorasamudra. § The sway of R&machandra extended

* Bombay Arck, Rep, 1897-8,

+ MER. 84 of 1904, B26 of 1914, 732, 738 of 1919, XEC =,
Dg 88, 103.

t EC. 1. Dg. 8, 87, 97, 100, 102, 162, 163, 174, 172.
§ EC. v. Bl, 120, 164, 167,
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over Adoni, Aldr, Harpanahalli and Davanagere ; and
his authority seems to have been recognised in the
other parts of this district. * The Yadava rule lasted in
this region until probably the death of Rimachandra
in 1810 A. D. Power then pasgsed into the hands of
Vira Kampila Déva who ruled gloriously for a period
of seventeen years. T In 1327, he was slain in a war
with the Sultin of Delhi who annexed his dominions
to the empire. This aspect of the question, however,
will be fully dealt with in another context.

#

The insoriptions—if their evidenee eould be relind
on—speak unequivocally that neither Narasimha III,
nor his gon, Ballgla III had anything to do with the
Bellary distriet. It is therefore impossible that Hampe
should have been included in the Hoysala dominions,
during the reigns of Narasimha II and his son.

Section 2 :—Hosapattana.—Did Ballala II[ build a
city ecalled Hosapattana? Several scholars assort
emphatically that he did. What are the grounds on
which this assertion has been made ? None. A careful
search of the inseriptions of Ballgla III reveals the fact
that they do not even remotely allude to Hosapattana.
It makes its appearance for the first time in the insecrip-
tions of Bukka I, and nothing is known about it
subsequent to the time of Harihara II. Though no
evidence is available to attribute its construction to
Ballgla III, it is necessary to locate the place in order to
clear geveral misconeeptions. Where was Hosapattana ?
In an inseription of Citaldrug, dated A.D. 1855, it is
stated that Bukka I was ruling from ¢ Hosapattana,
the capital of Nijagalikataka Raya in the Hoysana
country.” } Two points must be noticed in this

* EC, xi, Dg. 13, 26, B9, 70, 81, Ti. 80,
1+ App. A. Note on Doravide. I &2C. x1,Cd, 2,
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context: (1) That [Mosapattann was the capital of a
chief called Nijagalikataka Raya, and (2) that it was
included in the Tloysapa country.

For the convenience of the present discussion the
second point may be considered first. Where was the
Hoysana country? Sir Walter Elliot first identified
Hosapattana with the city of Vijayanagara.™ Ilis
grounds for this identification are mnot known. As,
according to tradition, Vijayanagara was newly built in
AD. 1336, and as Hosapattana means ‘new town’, he
pobably considered that they were identical. Be his
reasons what they may, his identification did not
satisfy Mr. Lewis Rice, for Vijayanagara which is said
to be identical with Hosapattana ¢ wounld not be in the
Hoysana country.” + His objection, though legitimate,
did not commend itself to later writers, one of whom
brushes it aside with little ceremony. ¢ It is beyond
doubt,” says he, ‘that the southern banks of the
Tungabhadra formed part of the Hoysala Empire. One
of the early Hoysala Emperors, Vinayaditya f is called
¢ the ornamental head of the Kuntala dominion on the
earth. It is therefore clear that the Kuntala country
was within the Hoysala Empire from the early years of
the dynuasty. Now in the year 1480 an inscription of
Déva Raya II testifies that the city of Vijayanagara is
sitnated in the Kuntala country. Another insecription
of Achyuta Raya dated in 15638, similarly states that the
city of Vidayanagara (sic) ¢ belonged to the government
of Kuntala déda.” The same is said in another inserip-
tion of Saddsiva of the year 15566. Hence Vijayanagara

» Num. or 91,
+ Race. EC. ix, Intro. p 24,

1 It is meaningless o atinbute the term ‘emperor’ to VinayRditya. He
was only g subordinate of the Cilukyan kings of Kalyan,
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was also ineluded in the Hoysala Empire, and ecould
therefore be said to form part of the Hoysana country.
Consequently Hosapattana may be the same as Vijaya-
nagara,’’ *

Considerable ambigunity lies hidden under the
vague agsertion that ¢‘the southern banks of the
Tungabhadra formed part of the Hoysala Empire.”
It is true that the Tungabhadra was the northern
boundary of the Hoysala kingdom in certain localilies
at times. The question, however, is wheiher it formed
the northern boundary in the Bellary distriet durifig
the reign of Balldla III. The Hoysala power came to
an end in this part of the country in A.D. 1275-76,
when Vira R&manitha probably made an attempt to
recover what was lost by his father and half-brother.
It is pretty certain that the country corresponding to
the Bellary district was never inclnded in Ball&]a III’s
dominions. Consequently he could not have buili,
Hosapattana there.

The Hoysalas ruled over an extensive kingdom,
but no evidence is available to show that all the
terrvitories over which they ruled were ever together
known ag the Hoysana dgfa. It has bcen said that
during the time of Vinayaditya, Kuntala formed part
of the Hoysana country. This is not true. On the
contrary, the Hoysala inscriptions declare that the
Hoysana country was included in Kuntala. An ing-
eription of the time of Narasimha II dated 1223 A. D.,
thus describes the position of the Hoysala country :
“In the earth surrounded by the oeean is the Jambi-
dvipa, in the middle of which is the M&rn, south of
which is the pleasant Bharatavarga. In it is the

® Heras: The Bepinuings, pp. 56-57,
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Kuntalad&éa, in which by nature a cow of plenty
is the Hoysala nad.” *

Jamslovipa

t\"“"‘{
BHARATAVARSA
KuNTALA

HAD

From this, it is clear that the Hoysana country was
but & part of Kuntala, and not the reverse. More-
over, the Hoysala kings used to distinguish the
Hoysana country from their other dominions, which
they acquired by conqueat: Narasimha III refers to
his own capital Dorasamudra where ¢‘“he had
established all the wealth of his own (swakiya)
Hoysala mapdala.” ¥ He is eaid to have been residing
in A, D. 1261, ‘in his own Hoysala mandala, in his
proper capital DGorasamudra.” } Ballala III was
“yesiding in his capital DSrasamudra, in which his
father had with affection stored the riches of a great
kingdom.” The capital is said to be included in ¢his
own Hoysala wmandala’ (svakiya Hoysala mapdals). §
Ile was ruling in 1806 A, D. over * Hoysaga nad,
Konga nad, and 18 other districts.” 4 It is obvious
from these that the Hoysala monarchs applied the
name Hoysana nid or mandala to denote a particular
part of their dominions which they specially regarded
as their own. The Rayas of Vijayanagara applied the
names Hoysala nad or Hoysala mandala to the same

® EC.v.Cn, 197, + EC. v.BL 87, I #%d. v. Bl, 74,
§ MAR, 1910 p. 20, i £C.iv.Kr, B; MAR, 1915, p. 56,
[ 25
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region. As the Hoysala mandala was made a separate
province of the mew Vijayanagara kingdom, il was
very often spoken of as Hoysala r&jya also.

Where was this Hoysana n&d or mapdala? In
answering this question, inseriptions alone have to be
taken as our guide. These {all into two classes. Some
of them for instance CD. 2, and 3 refer to Hosapattana
in the Hoysana country ; however, they are not helpful
either in identifying Hosapattana or in locating the
Hoysala country; but a few of them indicate places
where we should not look for them. The so called
¢ Remanujdchari ediet’ * mentions several places where
the Jainas were to be found in large numbers during
the reign of Bukka I. It refers to a petition of ¢the
Jainas of all the nads within Anegondi, Hosapattana,
Penugonde, and Kalyaha’ to the R&ya. No useful
purpose is served by proposing to identify Anegondi
with Hosapattana, + for they ave spoken of as two
different places in the inseription. It may, however, be
contended that Hosapattana was Vijayanagara iiself.
Such an interpretation is not tenable for two reasons :
(1) each of the four cities referred to in the inseription,
appears to have had a few n&dus under its jurisdiction.
Anegondi and Vijayanagara were included in the same
sub-division of Hampe-HastinAvati and were regarded
as a single city. Therefore, Hosapattana which was at
the head of a few nadus could not have been the same
city as Vijayanagara. (2) Anegondi is referred to in
the inseription as a centre of the Jainas. Strangely
enotugh not a single vestige of Jainism is to be found
in the place; but on the southern bank of the
Tungabhadra i. e, at Vijayanagara several Jaina

® EC. ix. Mu, 18,
+ Heras: 7he Beginnings: pp, 127-128,
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temples and inseripiions are still to be geen. In spite
of the comnstruction of Vijayanagara, Anegondi or
Hastingvati was still spoken of in the inscriptions of
the time of Havihara [ and Bukka T as their capital. *
Anegondi of the present inscription should be taken
to mean Anegondi including the new town, Vijaya-
nagara, which conld not have been very large at this
time. Therefore, Hosapattana and together with it
Hoysana désa should be looked for elsewhere.

Several inscriptions of the Hoysalas, the Rayas
of, Vijayanagara as well as the Vodeyars of Mysore
register gifts of tax-free villages in the Hoysana
country to the gods and the Br&hmayas. They mention
villages, n&dus, and stmes which can be located without
much difficulty ; and consequently they help us in
identifying Hoysala ndd or mandala. The table that is
given below is bound to be useful in the enquiry.

® EC. vilt, Sh. 8753 EC, vi Kp.6; EC, vii, Ci.13,
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Rel. Dyn, King. Date.

EC. V. Hoysala  ...|Narasimha II | 1223
Cu. 197.

EC. V. do. ..|Narasimha IIT ...} 1261
BI. 74.

» BL 87| do. do. .| 1265

EC. VL do. - do. .| 127b
Kd. 148.

MAR. 1910 do. «s | Ballgla I Nil
p. 20.

EC.1V. Kr. b. do. do. ...| 1806
also MAR.
1915 p. B7.

EC. IV, Sangamsa .., |Bukka I .| 1368
Ch. 118,

rasi
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Place.

Remarks.

Jambiidvipa, Meéru, Bharata-
varga, Kuntala in which by
nature a cow of plenty is the
Iloysala nad, Nirgunda vrtti in
the Hoysala nad.

The king was in his own Hoy-
sala mandala, in his proper
*capital Dorasamudra,

The king was in his own capital
of DGorasamudra, where he
had established the wealth of
his own Hoysala mandala.

The inseription mentions Asandi
nad in Hoysana n&qg.

It mentions DBrasamudra in hig
own Hoysala mandala.

It mentions the Mah&ganas ....
and the chief men of Hoysana
nad, Konga n&d and 18 other
districts,

L

It refers to Ganapatima, gover-
nor of the south side of the
Kavéri in the ocountry of
Va:)iqguvardha.na Pratapa Hoy-
sala,

The Nirgunda vrtii is
to be identified with
the tract of land
surrounding Nirgun.
da in the Hosadrug
talika of the Cital-
drug district.

Dorasamudra is identi-
fied with Halebiduin
the Balar tdlika of
the TIassan district,

do.

Asandi is in the Kadifir
talika of the Kadir
district.

Darasamudra is identi-
fied with Halébiduin
the Beltr talika of
the Hiassan district.

Since Konga nad is
equal to the present
Arkalgfid taliikain the
Hassan district, Hoy-
sapa nad should have
been somewhere in
the neighhourhood.

The Hoysala country
should have extended
at least in part to the
gouth of the Kavéri
which flows through
the Mysore district.

[29]
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Ref. Dyn. King. Date.
EC. 1IV. Sangama ... |Harihara II ..[1378-17
Yd. 46.
MAR. 1915 do. do. 1877
pp. b7-58. ‘
MAR. 1913 do. do. .| 1379
p. 42,
EC. V. do. do. .] 1885
Bl 148.

{801



ORIGIN OF THE CITY

Place.

Remarks.

He made a grant of the village
of Hebsfir belonging to the
Kongu n&d on tﬁe bank of
the Kavéri in the Hoysana
eountry.

It mentions BAceyshalli belong-
thg to the Kabahu district in
the Hoysana rajya.

It mentions Sagara situated on
the Kapila in Bayanid of the
Hasana kingdom.

It mentions the village of Ghat-
tadahalli in the gl'ge nad of
the Hoysala kingdom.

Hebsfir stands very

near the Kavéri. It
is situated to the
gouth of Nardana-
halli in the Yedatore
taloka of the Mysore
district.

Baiceyahalliis the same

as agrahira Baca-
halli m the Kysga-
rajapéte talika of
the Mysore distriet.

Bayanad is identified

with Heggade
DévanakGte taltika.
Sagar is probably
Saragiir on the banks
of the Kabbma in the
Nanjangiid talaka of
the Mysore district.

The distriet cannot be

located yet. Hn. 86
dated A. D. 1396
refers to Kadaltir-
near Hassan in Sige
nad. In the Hassan
talika there is a
place called Sige
Gudda ; probably the
Sige nad of the pre-
gent inscription ma:fr
be tentatively regard-
ed as the counfry in
its neighbounhoog.

811
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Ref. Dyn. King. | Date.

EC. V. Sangama .. |Harihara II 1381
Hn. 86.

EC.V. Bl 3. do. do. 1397

EC. IIL do. do. 1897
Tn. 134.

EC. IV. do. do. 1398
Ch, 114,

EC. IIL do. .. | Mallik@rjuna 1458
Sr. 89.

MAR. 1914 |[Tuluva . | Krynaraya 1612
p. 69.

EC. V. do. do. ...| 1612
BL. 79.

L
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Place.

Remarks.

Singhapura situated in the
Abalige nad of the Hoysana
country.

It refers to VElanagari in the
celebrated Hoysana couniry.

It refers to the village of Hem-
muge sitnated on the bank of
the Kaveri belonging to Tayftir
in the Pére-fir-country in the
Hoysala kingdom.

Acapna Vodeyar was govern-
ing the Hoysala country.

It mentions Mg&lugSte in the
Kurnvanka ndd vente of the
Huyisala r&jya.

It refers to the village of Hiri-
jattiga situated in the Velir
sime of the Hoysala country.

It refers to Kuppe, Maiicana-
halli, Cikka - jattigahalli, Ka-
danka or Cinnidévipuram
and Hiri-jattiga, belonging to
Veldr sime in the Hoysana
eountry.

Abalige ndd cannot be
located yet.

Vélanagar is modern
Beliir, the headquar-
ters of the t#liika of
the same name in
the Hagsan distriet.

Taytr is in the N. E,
corner of the Nafijan-
id t@lika on the
Cabbini very near
its confluence with
the Kavari.

MelugGte is in the
extreme mnorth of
the Seringapatam
taliika in the Mysore
district.

Veliir is modern B&lar
in the Hassan district.
Velir sIme may
roughly correspond
to the present Baliir
talika.,

do.

[38]
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Ref. Dyn. King.
EC. 1II. Tualuva. .. |Krggardya.
Tn. 87.
EC. V. do. do.
H. N. 19
EC. V. do. do.
Cn. 167
EC. IIT. do. do. .
Tn. 42.
EC.1V. do. .. |Acyutariya
Kr. 11.

Date.

.| 1518

J 1617

.| 1619

| 15621

1531

[84]
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Place.

1t mentions Malange in the Hadi
nad venthe on the south side of
the Kavéri in the Hoysana
country.

-

It mentions Narasiyapura slme
in the Hoysala nad.

It refers to the village of Sanaba
which is gituated in the Atakiir
sthala of the Hoysala nad in
the Ghanagiri kingdom.

It mentions KalaGr in Mulir
athala which was the Anania-
kggtra, on the south side of the
Gajaranya kgétra which was
southern Varanasi of the banks
of the Kavéri in the Hoysana
country.

It refers to Belekere belonging
to Sindhaghatta in the Hoy-
sana country.

Remarks.

Hodinadu or Nadin&ru
is in the Nanjangiid
talika to the mnorth
of the Kabbinpi
Milange is Malingi
on the southern bank
of the Kaveri in the
extreme south of the
Turumalakudli - Nar-
siptir tallka.

Narasiyapura is the
same as Hold-Narsi-
Eﬁr in the Hassan

istriet.

Atakiir is the same as
Atagiir in the N. E.
of Mandya taliika of
the Mysore district.

Mulir is the same as
MullGr on the south
bank of the Kavéri
in the Kollggal tala-
ka of the Coimbatore
district. Kala-fir is
identical with Kalai-
yir in the Tirumala-
kudli-Narsipfir talika
of the Myrove district,
very near Mulldr.

Sindhaghatta is the
same a8 Sindhu-
ghatta which is situ-~
ated in the Krygpa-

rajapéte tdlika of
the Mysore disiriet,
in the neighbour-

hood of Méglukdte,

[35]
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Ref. Dyn King. Date.

EC. 11T Tuluva . |Acyutariya 15634
Md. 55.

EC. VL do. . do. 1641
Kd. 158.

EC. IV. Aravidu  ...|Sriranga X 1576
Yd. 9.

EC, 1IL Mysore .. |D8varaja II 1668
Tn. 28.

EQC. 1V, do. . do, 1663
K. 67.
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Place. s

It mentions Maragondanahalls
situated on the banks of the
Kavéri in the, great Hoysala|
nadd m the Srirangapattana
country. !

|

It refers to Muktiballi, Hiriydr
and other villages in the
Asandi nad in the Yakatti
sIme in the Hoysala nad of,
the Sonthern conntry.

* It records the grant of Rama-
pura in the Hampapura sthala
belonging to the Narasimha-
pura sime, situated in the
middle of the Ka&véri in the
Hoysana kingdom.

It refers to Hallikere situated in
the Nagamangala sthala in the
Hoysala nad.

It records the grant of M&lagir
belonging to B@icahalli sthala
in the western Nagamangala
hobali in the Hoysala nad.

Remai ks,

Srirangapaitana is Ser-
mgapatam on the
K&vér in the Mysore
distazct.

Agand: is in the ex-
treme north of the
Kadiir talika of the

same distriect. The
villages must be
somewhere in the
neighbourhood of
Asand..

Hamp@pura is in the
Yedatore talika of
the JMysore district
on the Kavéri near
its conHuence with
the Iémavatt. Nara-
simbapura 18 the
same as Holé-Narsi-
g[‘u' in the Kadar
istret.

Nuagamangala is the
headquarters of the
tilika of the same
name in the Mysore
district.

BZcahalli is identical
with agrahara-Bacs-
halli in the Kisna-
rajapéte talika of the
Mysore district.
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Ref. Dyn. King. Dade.
EC. IV. Mysore ... | Dévarija II .| 1666
Yd. 64.
|
Yd. 538 ...| do. do. ... 1666
Yd. 43 ] do. do. .| 1667

[88]
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Place.

Remarks.

It refers to the wvillage of
Bhériya in the neighbourhood
of Narasimhanagara in the
Hoysala nad country.

It mentions the village of Bhérya
belonging to Narasimhapura
in the middle of the K&vari in
the Hoysanpa country.

Salagrama belongir]? to Nara-
simhapura in the Hoysana nad
countiyry.

The village of Bhériya

is in the north of
Yedatore talika in
the neighbourhood of
Akkihabal in the
Krgnargjapéte talika
ofthe Mysore district.

The village of Bhérya

is different from
Bhériya as the for-
mer is said to be in
the middle of the
Kgveri. Narasimha-
pura is, no doubt,
Hols-Narsipfr.

Salagrama is in the

Yedatore talika of
the Mysore district.
Narasimhapura is
Hols-Narsipfir.
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The thirty one inscriptions examined in this
connection belong to five dyunastics (the Hoysala, the
Sangama, the Tuluva, the Aravidu and the Mysore)
ranging from A.D. 1223 to 1667. During this long
period of nearly 450 years, the name Hoysala nad,
mandala, d&ésa, or rAjya was made use of to denote a
tract of territory included in the preseni Mysore siate.
All the villages or the districis to which they belonged
are found in Mysore, Hassan, and Kadir districts.
In the east, the Hoysala ndd appears to have extended
to the borders of the Bangalore district and in the south,
it included the Kollégal taltka of the Coimbatore
district. Therefore, the Hoysana nid, mandala, désa,
or rajya denoted a tract of country, well within the
boundaries of the present Mysore state. A search
should be made in this region for Hosapattana, a city
which rose to prominence during the days of the
early Sangamas. The two inscriptions from Citaldrug
(Cd. 2, 3) state that Bukka I was ruling {rom Tlosa~
pattana in the Hoysapad&sa. In auother insecription
he is represented as ruling from Penugonde and Hosa-~
pattana. * And in an undated epigraph of his reign
found at Sakrepattana in the Kadir district, Hosa-
pattana is described, as * the face of the goddess of the
Hoysala kingdom, and a mirror of the goddess of the
kingdom of Vira Bukka.” ¥ Tt appears from this that
Hosapaftana was the capifal of the Hoysala country
during the reign of Bukka I.

‘Where was Hosapattapa situated in the Hoysala
country ? While looking for the place, the following
points may usefully bé remembered :

(1) It should be in the Hoysula country.

* MER. 522 of 1906.
t A/AR. 1937 No. 48. p. 61.
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(2) It should be sitnated in a region where the

Juinas and the Vaigpavas could have come into
conflict.

(8) It should be in the neighbourhood of the fort

of Nijagali whose lord it could have served as a capital
at one time.

(4) These are essential; and if, in addition to
these, it has the name of Hosapaitana, the problem
may be considered as solved finally.

Commenting , on the Sakrepattana epigraph,
Dr. §3ma Sastri observes, * The present record would
tend to show that Hosapattana was either the village
of Sakrepattana, where the present inscription stone is
found or some village in the neighbourhood.” * Speak-
ing of another inscription at Hosaviir he declares,
‘#Hosaviir may probably be the same as Hosa-
pattana.” + This identification satisfies almost all the
conditions laid down above, though neither of the
places suggested by Dr. S&ma Sastri bears the name
of Hosapattana. Hosapattana is neither Sakrepattana
nor Hosaviir, but it stands at some distance from them
on an island in the Hémaiavati river in the Kygnarfja-
péte taliika of the Mysore district. At present, ‘an
anicut in two sections’® is built ‘ abutting on the island
of Hosapattana where there is an old deserted fort.”
Having thus spotted Hosapattana, it is necessary to
find out whether this place satisfies the above men-
tioned conditions.

(1) Its name is Hosapattana.

(2) It stands in the neighbourhood of Srivapa-
Belgola in the Cannarfiyapattapa talika of the

* MAR, 1927 p. 62, + #id. p, 63,
1 Rice, Mysors Gaseiteer Vol. ii. p. 250,
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Higsan district (16 miles), a Jaina centre, and of
Mgélukote (17 miles) in the Krsnarfjapéte taliika of
the Mysore district, a Vaispava centre. It is known
that the Jainas and the Vaignavas would come, on
occasions, into conflict.

(8) It is in the very heart of the Iloysala country.
The village of Bheriya which, according to an inserip-
tion of 1666 (Yd. b54), was included in the Hoysala
country, stands in the immediate neighbourhood of
ITosapattana.

(4) Nijagali kataka riya or the chief of the fort of
Nijagali is mentioned in one of the Western Ganga
records. He was a Calukyan prince, and his daughter
Jakamba was given in marriage to the Ganga king,
Ereganga-Déva-Nitimarga. * It is evident {rom this
that the lord of the fort of Nijagali lived a few centuries
before the foundation of the city of Vijayanagara.
Since Hosapattana was his capital, it should have been
in existence from his time. The village of Nijagali,
which gave the chief his name, can also be located.
Nijagali is in the Hoysala country. Itis situated in
the Nelamangala talika of the Bangalore district
where it touches the frontiers of Tumkiir.

Therefore, the identity of Hosapattapa may be
taken to have been finally established.

Section 3 :— Virlipaksapura. — Virtipaksapura or
Virtipakgapattana which is mentioned in Ballala Ill's

* MAR, 1921, pp, 11, 21, 25.

Vitta :—

Tasya brahma-mahindra-brnda-makuta-vyRsakta-raktita]a
Cehiyi-kunkuma-raadyarikyta-pada~-dvandvesye dSvyam probhuh
Cilukyimala-vamsa-bhi- Vijegali-ksmiapils putryim abhur
Jyakimb3-vyapadBsa-bhajl tanayal Sri SatyavikyS nppab. |
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inscriptions as one of his nelevidus is identified with
Ilampe, and consequently with Vijayanagara. It is
stated that ¢ Vira Ballgla III was the real founder
of the city of Vira- Vijaya - Virtipaksapura, which
eventually became Vijayanagar not long after.” *
¢ 811 - Vira - Vijaya - Viripiksapura was the city of
Vijayanagara.” It was called first Vijaya. But
besides, the city bore the name of Sri-VIra-Virﬁpa‘iksa,
that is exactly the name of Vira Ballila II’s son.” +
“The full name of Vira Ballala III's son was most
likely Sii-Vira-Vijaya-Viripaksa.” t

The following propositions emerge from these
statements.

(i) Ballala II[ had a son called Vira-Vijaya-
Virtipaksa Ballala.

(ii) He built a city called Vira-Vijaya-Virfipaksa-
pura, evidently naming it after his son.

(iif) Vira-Vijaya-Viripiksapura was also known
as Hampe which formed a single city with Vijaya-
nagara. Therefore, Vira - Vijaya - Viripgksapura is
identical with Vijayanagara.

(i) There is no contemporary evidence to show
that the word * Vijaya " formed part of the name of
VirGipaksa Ballila. No doubt, it occurs in the name,
S11- Vijaya - Virfipiksapura; but there is nothing to
connect the name of the village with that of the prince.
The term ¢ Vijaya’ seems to be prefixed sometimes to
the names of certain villages in the inscriptions; e. g.,
the village of Araseyakere was known as Vira-Vijaya-

* Tleras : Tke Baginnngs, p. 85,
¥ dbid - p 48, % #bed - p. 45, n. 2,
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Ballilapura. * In cases such as these ¢ Vijaya’ should
be taken as an honorific epithet qualifying the name of
the village, and not as a proper name denoting a
person.

(ii) Again, therc is no indication in his numerons
inscriptions that Ballila III had ever built any town or
fortt The Hoysala monarchs seem to take some
pleasure in mentioning the places which they built or
improved. Soméswara is said to have built Vikrama-
pura ¥ and Vijayaradjéndrapattana. I Narasimha III
improved the condition of Dorasamudra ¢ by storingrin
it’ all the wealth of his own Hoysala kingdom. §
Ballala III had rebuilt the capital after it had been
destroyed by the attack of the Muhammadans in
1310 A.D. § Some of his officers made Candi-
nayakanahalli into a pattanpa in A.D. 1319. || It is
strange that no mention of the construction of a town
called Vira- Vijaya - Viripaksapura by Balldla IIT is
made in his inscriptions.

(iii) Hampe was ococasionally spoken of as Virii-
paksam ; ** and so far as I am aware, this name was
specially associaled with the Adwaita matha in 1he
place. It had never been used to denote the town or
the village surrounding the temple. Granting that the

* EC.v.Ak. 72. See also Ak. 49, and 60 dated A D. 1218 and 1227 respec-
tively. They rofer to an agrah3ra called Vijaya-Naiasimhapura, The agrahfia
was probably gianted erthsr by or for the 1eligious merit of Narasimha II, There
is no evidence io show that Narasimha IT had the name of Vijaya. The word
¢Vijaya’ in cases such as these, should be interpreted as an epithet qualfying
tho name which it precedes. Vijaya-Virfipaksapura belongs to the same class of
names as Vijaya-Vayayanii, Vijaya-Vengipura, Vyaya-Dasanapura ete.

+ ZC, ix, Bn. 6,

1 a4R, 1913, Two inscriptions at Ellespiir.

§ ZEC.v, Bl 4,87, Y £c¢. iii, Md, 100.

I EG.ix, Gp, 12, *% MAR. 1916, p, 95, 96.
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name denoted the town also, no evidence is forth-
coming to connect Ballila ITI’s name with it. It has
already been shown that the Bellary district in which
Hampe is sitnated was-never \i_ﬂ(}l_}ldpd in the dominions
of Balldla III or that of his father. This region passed
in 1828 A.D. into the hands of the Sultan of Delhi
who attacked Ballfla, and forced him to pay tribute.
Under these circumstances, it is not possible that
Ballala could have founded a fown in a place which
was included in the dominions of his enemy, the
Sultdn of Delhi. Therefore, a search should be made
for Virdpaksapura within the dominions of Ballala IIL.

Three places bearing the name Virlipaksapura
are found within the kingdom of Balldla III. One of
them is mentioned in an inscription of Mulbagal dated
1431 A.D. * Another is found in the Cannapattana
tiliika of the Bangalore distriet; and a third is referred
to in an inscription of Paduvari, in the Coondipoor
taliika of the South Canara district, dated A.D. 1360. ¢
Balldla ITI might have been residing in any one of these
places. However, none of these should be identified
with Virtipgkgapura mentioned in his inscriptions.
There is a place in the Magdi t&liika of the Bangalore
district called Virfipapura, where we find several ins-
criptions of Balldla IIl and his subordinates. § Now,
Virfipapura, is obviously an abbreviated form of
Virtipakgapura. It appears to have been a resort
frequently visited by Ball&la, owing probably to the
presence in the place of a renowned Saivite teacher
called Gurucittaddva. § It is reasonable to think that
Virtipapura is identical with the VirGpaksapura or
pattana of Balldla II’s inscriptions, and that it has no
connection whatever with Hampe-Virtipakgam.

* £ZC. x. Mh. 2, + MER, 646 of 1930,
1 MAR.1918 p. B6, § dbid.
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Section 4 :—Hosa-Ilampeya Pattana.—This place,
which is said 10 be mentioned in one of the inscrip-
tions of Harihara I dated A. D). 1340, is identified with
Vijayanagara. “In the time of Ilarihara,” says a
recent writer, ‘¢ Vijayanagara was popularly known
as Hosa-Ilampeya Pattana.’” *

The inscription from which the above information
is derived comes from Kundarpi in the Kalydnadurg
talika of the Anantapilir district. + It has abeolutely
no connection with Harihara I; his name or ‘the name
of anyone else who is connected with him is not even
remotely alluded to in it. . It is a record, as the
epigraphist correctly observes, ‘of the Iloysala king
Vira Ballala, the son of Vira Narasinga, who had his
headquarters in Dorasamudra.’” ‘It mentions a Maha-
samanta of the king by name Bommeya Nayaka, son
of Gtangeya Nayaka who was governing the Nidugal
rdjya, and mentions Hosa-Hampeya Pattana.’ IFrom
this, it is evident that Harihara I had nothing 1o do
with the present inscription.

The identification of Hosa-Hampeya Pattana with
Hampe is not tenable. Ilosa-Hampeya Paitana means
the town of New ITampe, and it should have been so
named for dislingnishing it from Old Hampe. Just as
New york and New Jersey cannot be the same towns
as York and Jersey, so New ITampe cannot be identical
with the old town of Hampe. Hosa-Hampeya Pattana
seems to have been included in the Nidugal rdjya
which Mah@sdmanta Bommeya Nayaka, a subordinate
of Ballala III was ruling in 1840 A.D. It must be
noted that the inscriptions of Balladla I or of his
subordinates are found only in the Amantapfir district.

% Heras « The Beginnings, p, B8.
T MER, 102 of 1927,
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And not one of them is to be found anywhere in
Bellary. Ilosa-Hampeya Pattana, therefore, should
be looked for within Balldla’s dominions and not
without. In the Anantapiir tdlika, there is a wvillage
called Hampapuram with which Hosa - Ilampeya
Pattana may provisionally be identified. The authority
of Bommeya Nayaka, could not have extended to
Hampe in 1340, for Haribara I was already ruling
from that place at that time. It cannot be said that
Tlarihara was a subordinate of Bommeya Nayaka;
for, what little evidence we have at our command
goes against the supposition. At the present state of
our knowledge, we are justified only in holding that
_there was a place in Ballala’s dominions called Tlosa-

Hampeya Pattana whose identity cannot yet be fully
established.
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TIE FOUNDERS OF VIJAYANAGARA

Section 1.—Who founded Vijayanagara? A few
inscriptions of the early kings of Vijayanagara
describe the manner in which ihe city was founded.
Two ocopper-plate grants both dated in 1336 A.D.,
attribute the foundation of the city to Ilarihara L.

It is said in the Kapaliir grant that on one occasion
king Tarihara who was ruling at Kuijjarakdna, on
the Tungabhadra, after crossing that river went out
hunting in the forest on the southern bank. There he
was astonished to see a hound being bitten by a hare.
“ He went to the hermit Vidy@ranya, the incarnalion
of spiritual knowledge, whose ansterity was honoured
and who was like another Mah&sana (Siva), who
(resided) near his (Viripiksa's) temple. Having salufcd
in his vicinity with reverence ...... he related this
incident whose explanation was wonderful.” Vidya-
ranya, the best of the ascetics said: *“ O king, the
country deserves to be the residence of a family of
great kings, and the sole source of great power! Oh
Lord, found a city named Vidy&.” ¢ Having accord-
ingly obeyed his command, occupying the seat of
kings (throne), conspicuous with an excellent white
umbrella, having indeed performed gifts which were
even greater than the sixteen gifts, he, king ITarihara
shone in the extensive town named Vidys. ” *

The same story is narrated in another grant of the
game date. King Harihara who ruled at Kuiljaraksna,

* NDI Vol. 1. Cp. No. 15,

(48]



ORIGIN OF THE CITY

on one ocecasion * crossed the Tungabhadra with the
intention of hunting, and coming forth with his army,
saw the forest to the South. And in that forest, that
moon to the ocean of Sangam8Sa was surprised to
gee a fierce dog with long teeth, only chewing what
had been bitten, and a hare. And sceing the God
Viripaksa along with the Goddess Pampa, he did
obeisance to them, and drawing near the yailin that
temple, informed him of the above curious -circum-
gtance. ”” Vidyaranys said, ¢ O king, this place is
worthy to be the residence of a family of great kings ;
this is a specially strong site. Make here a city
named Vidy&.’ Thereupon IlariharésSvara, doing ac-
cording to his direction, was seated on the throne,
and adorned with the while umbrella, made the
sixteen great gifts resplendent in the nagara called
V1dya of vast dimensions.” *

The two iunscriptions are word for word the same,
with the exception of the portions dealing with the
boundaries of the villages granted. With reference
to the foundation of the ecity, the following points
may be noted : ,

(1) Harihara went out hunting in the forest on the
gouthern bank of the Tungabhadra, where he saw a

hound and a hare together, in spite of their natural
enmity.

(2) On narrating this incident to Vidyaranya who
was practising asceticism in the temple of Virfipiksa,
he advised Harihara to found a city on the spot
called Vidyanagara.

(3) Harihara accordingly built the city from which
he began to rule his kingdom.

* EC, %, Bg, 70.
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According to these two inscriptions, Harihara I
built the eity of Vidyanagara on the advice of
Vidy&aranya. Ilowever, their evidence cannot be relied
upon; for both of them are condemned as spurious ;
the original of the Yaragudi grant (Bg. 70) is not
available, it ¢ being printed from a hand copy supplied
by the people.”* The Kapalfir grant is declared a
forgery by the editor:

“The character is Nandinfgari but the formation
of the letters is quite modern, and in certain letters,
it is very similar to Dévanagari. This fact shows that
the document is a fabrication. ”” + om

People who are more competent to pronounce
an opinion on the subject have mothing to find faunlt
with the formation of the letters.f Therefore, the
genuineness of the inscription cannot be questioned
on this ground alone. The strongest objection is
based upon the legendary material incorporated in it.
No doubt legendary material is found in several
inseriptions which are accepted as genuine. But"
there is a difference. Harihara is said to have
witnessed something of an abnormal character, which
it is not possible for other human beings to see.
That appears to be the most important reason for
rejecting the inscription as spurious.

Nevertheless, it is not improbable that Harihara I
should have built a capital for himself on the advice
of Vidyaranya; nor is it unlikely that the city of
Vidyanagara or Vijayanagara should have been built
abont 1836; for, according to some inscriptions,
Haribara I was ruling from VidyZoagara in 1848 A.D, §

* EC.x p.24L. n. 1, ¥ ANDZ 1, p. 108,
1 Venlayya Z4. xxxvin, pp. 89-01. § MER. 192021, Part1, A, 0,
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But the testimony of the Kapallir and the Yaragudi
grants cannot be taken as a proof for the construction
of the city by Tlarihara I in 13836 A.D. Therefore,
Harihara's share in the construction of the city must
remain doubtful, until some evidence of a more trust- {
worthy character turns up.

Section 2.—Did Vidy&ranya build a ecity ? Tradition
embodied in works like the Rijakalanirnaya and Raya-
vacaka attribute the construction of Vidyanagara to
the sage Vidyaranya. DBut tradition cannot be trusted,
and its evidence should not be considered, unless it is
corroborated by other reliable sources of information.
A few inscriptions of the Tuluva period, though they
do not attribute the building of the city to Vidysranya,.
declare that it was built by king Harihara I and named
Vidy@nagara in the name of Vidyaranya Sripada.

It is said in an inscription dated 1538 A.D., that
Vidy@nagara was built by Harihara Raya, and was
¢ got up in the name of Vidyiranya Siipada.” * In
another, dated 1569 A.D., Harihara Raya is said to
have buili Vidy&nagara in the name of Vidyaranya.”

Since these inscriptions belong to the 16th centary,
their evidence should also be classed as traditional.
There is, however, one important point which should
be noticed. The inscriptions do not make Vidyaranya
the builder of Vidyanagara. It was Harihara I who
built it, and named it after his spiritnal advisor
Vidydranya. This is not improbable.

Although tradition appears to be untrustworthy,
there seems to lurk an element of truth in it. Vidya-
ranya seems to have had some undefined connection
with the foundation of the city. The name Vidyanagara

* ZC.x1 Cd. 43. i dbd. Cd. B4.
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frequently occurs in the inseriptions of the time of
Harihara I and Bukka L. It is true that some of them
arve forgeries, and that the dates of some others are
irregular. There are, however, a few which must be
taken as genuine. According fto A. 16 of 1925-26
Virapratipa Bukkeriiya Mahfiriya was ruling from
Vidyanagara in 8. 1278 or A.D. 1361. Two inscriptions
of Harihara I refer to his capital Vidy&nagara. In one
ingcription dated 1848 A.D, Tlarihara is said to be
ruling from Vidy@Gnagara.* In another dated 1353{,
A. D., the city is called Kuruksétra-Vidyanagari. t

If these records are genuine—I believe they are
—Vijayanagara had its other name Vidyinaga.m almost
from the very beginning. The same fact is revealed
by the literature of the Sangama period., Kallanatha
who was a contemporary of D&varaya II and Malli-
kirjuna refers to the capital of his patrons as Vidya-
nagara. I If the name Vidyanagara was really derived
from Vidy3ragya, as the Tuluva inscriptions would
liave us believe, it cannot be denied that he had some
share direct or indirect in building the city.

There is yet another inseription dated 1378 A.D.,
which attributes the foundation of the city of Vijaya-
nagara to Bukka L

* A, 9 of1920-21, + A 8 of 1925-26,

1 JRAS. 1902 p. 662,

Bhogasthith bhigavafi ca nityam suparvaramy3ddivijasthaliva
Purthe Frdyinagaers cal¥ists TungR taranga: rabhitah pavitel |l

F3m £3sts prafosta prattbhata makufi prota niryaten mdr3
Ratna )yGts pravi]® vanamana catulitlipa tipa pratapah
Karpafighdta Laksmi carna parilasat paurusSikarsa 3K
Pravwgha Sri Déva RY3 Vyays Nypa sutd YIdavAnim varfoyah ||

Vifvambhar3 bhirn kptvatirah tusylists putr yadasT pavitrah
Sangita skhitya kal@svabhjiah pxitEpavin Jumede Devariyal ||

Sudharmeva sabhk yasya sam-ullisi-Lalddhary
Gindbayva guna gambhirf vidyAdbars vinSdmi, ||

[52]



ORIGIN OF THE CITY

“ Having received from him (Harihara I), the
wealth of the empire, Bukka rija, in valour and glory
eclipsed all past and future kings. Having conquered
all the world, he built a splendid city called the city
of Victory.” ¢ Iis fort walls were like arms stretching
out to embrace IIémakiita. The points of its battle-
menis like its filaments, the suburbs like its blossom,
the elephants like bees, the hills reflected like stems
in the water of the moat, the whole city resembled the
lotus on which Laksmi is ever seated. @ There with
Tungabhadra as his foot-stool, and H&makfita as his
throne, he (Bukka) was seated like VirTipdksa, for the
protection of the people of the earth.”” *

The city which, according to the present inscrip-
tion, Bukka I built cannot be the one whose ruins
extend from IIGspst to Anegondi. It should have
been much smaller. The fort was built around the
hill of H@makiita on which the royal palace itself \
probably stood.

When did Bukka I build this city ? A study of the
inscriptions of the time may provide us with the
necessary answer, as Vijayanagara is mentioned as the
capital of the empire from 1347 A.D., onwards.

Ref. ]g-a]ge Name of the capital.

EC. VIII. Sh. 875 ... 1847 | Vijayanagara.

MAR. 1924 Part 1L, 13568 do.
No. 84
E.CXIL Pg. 18 _ .. 1366 do.
EC. VIL Sk.281 .. | 1868 |Abhinava-Vijayanagara.
EC. XII. Mi. 74 ...| 1870 | Vijayanagara.
MAR. 1914-15 p 58.| 1877 do.

-

* EC, v. Cn, 2066.
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It is obvious that the city of Vijayanagara was
the capital of the kingdom from at least 1847 A.D., 7. e.
almost from the time, when IHarihara I, his brothers,
and officers met in gyngéri to celebrate a festival in
commemoration of their conquest of the earth from
the Eastern to the Western ocean. Since Harihara I
reigned until 1356 A. D., he should have been alive at
the time when Bukka I built the capital. No doubt,
Bukks I should have been more personally associated
with the building of the city than Harihara. Never-
theless, he could not have wundertaken the task
without the consent and the active co-operation of
his elder brother and sovereign., It must, therefore,
be admitied that Harihara I should have played some
part in the construetion of his capital. The truth
of the Yapagudi, and the Kapaliir grants, so far as
the construction of the capital is concerned, is p10ved
indireotly by the inscriptions of the period. It remains
to be seen whather Vidy&ranya Sripada had anything
to do with it.

It has become a pastime with a few writers in
recent years to treat Vidyaranya as a nobody. An
unprejudiced investigation of the inscriptions esta-
blishes the fact that the “early kings of Vijayanagara
shaped the course of their conduct on his advice.
Vidya@ranpys is mentioned in several inseriptions of
Bukka I and Harihara II. He was the spiritual advisor
of the latter. ¢ By the grace of Vidyaranya muni,
he acquired the empire of knowledge unattainable by
other kings.”* The influence of the gurus over
their disciples i& well-known. It is not unreasonable
to think thet Harihera IT would have consulted him on
important mattters of policy. The relations between
Bukks I and Vidy@rapya appear to haye been more

* MAR,1916, p. 66.
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intimate. He was in the habit of accompanying the
sage when the latter visited Srogéri to meet his
guru. * He seemr to have felt, at least on occasions,
that the presence of Vidy&ranya at Vijayanagara was
indispensable. About 1366 A.D., Vidyaranya paid a
vigsit to Benares where he stayed for sometime.
Bukka I, who must have succeeded Harihara I during
that year, desired for some reason that Vidyarapya
should retmrn to Vijayanagara. Ile knew that his
request to the sage would not induce the latter to leave
Benares. He therefore obtained a $rimukha from the
Senior S1ipada of Syngdri, commanding Vidy&ranya
to return to Vidy@nagara, and despatched it to him
coupled with his own request. It is said that he obeyed
the order gladly, * as he had great respect for his
guru.’ + Two points should be noticed here. (1) Bukka
felt for some reason that the presence at Vijayanagara
of Vidyaranya was necessary. (2) To secure this end,
he was convinced that he should obtain the help of
the Senior Sripada of Syngéri.

What made Bukks think that Vidyaranya would
not return to Vijayanagara at his own request?
Because he knew that the sage who retired to Benares
to spend his time in contemplation would not return
to Vijayanagara, as it would involve him once again
in the affairs of the world. Vidyaranya as Madhava-
cirya before he became a sanydsin was a minisier
of Bukka. It is said in the Parffara Madhaviya that
Madhavacirya was the ZAulagury as well as the
minister of Bukka, ¢ Like Angirasa to Indra, Sumati
to Nala, Medhatithi to Saibya, Dhanuja to Rama,
Mzadhava was the kulagurs as well as the minister to
king Bukka.” } Probably Bukka wanted Vidyarapya

* MAR. 1916, p, B6, + bid.
1 Par7Sara MRdhaviya: Introduction to the Vyavahfra Kénda,
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at Vijayauagara, so that he might have the benefit of

the counsel of the sage as of old. It is customary even

at the present day among the Ilindus to consult men of

learning and piety when they desire to build a house, |
for the purpose of discovering the most auspicious time

for commencing operations. Would not Harihara I and

Bukka I have consulted somebody when they resolved

to build a new capital? Who was there more compe-
tent to advise them on such a matier than Vidyaranya ?

Ilaxvihara I, and.probably also Bukka I held him in high

estimation. His feats are said fo be ‘more wonderful

than those of Brahma,’” for he could ‘make the most

eloquent dumb and the dumb, most eloquent,” * The

following passage culled from an inseription of

Tlarihara II describes how great Vidyaranya looked in

the eyes of his contemporaries :—

“ May the wonderful glances of Vidyaranya
which resemble showers of camphor dust, garlands of
kalhdra flower, rays of the moon, sandal paste, and
waves of milk ocean, and which shower the nectar of
compassion, bring you happiness. Can he be Brahma?,
We do not see four faces. Can he be Vignu? He has
not got four arms. Can he be Siva? No oddness of the
eye is observed. Having thus argued for a long time,
the learned have come to the conclusion that Vidya-
ranya is the supreme light incarnate.” 4 J

Would not Harihara I and Bukka I have consulted
this ‘supreme light incarnate?’ It is not unlikely
that they sought his advice, and began to constrnet
the city after he blessed their emterprise. When the
constraction of the city was completed they gave it
the name of Vidyanagara in honour of the guru whom
they adored. This econclusion is corroborated, as
we had already noliced, by inscriptions eontaining
references to Vidyanagara ag early as 1348 A. D,

* MAR, 1916 p. §6. T $#bid,
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BALLALA III AND THE SONS OF SANGAMA

Section 1:—The circumstances under which the
kingdom of Vijayanagara was founded still remain in
obscurity, in spite of the efforts of several scholars
during 1ihe last three decades. It has been said
that the five brothers who founded the kingdom of
Vijayanagara, were originally in the service of the
Hoysala king Vira Ballila III, who employed them to
defend his northern frontier and ¢ to stem the new
flood of the Bahmani invasions.” * The places which
were entrusted to the care of the five brothers are
also described. “In the early wars of Ald-ud-Din
Bahmani, when he marched south from Daulatibad
after the death of Muhammad bin Tughlak, there
figures on the southern frontier, and therefore the
more uncertain frontier of his, a Hindu chiefiain of
the name of Hurib in the region of the Konkan coast
up to Jamkhandi. A little further to the east of it
between Bijapiir and Gulburga figures another Ilindu
chief by name Kapras; and further east another
Hinda chieftain still of the name of Kampriz. ....
These three Hindu chieftains are obviously no other
than Hariappa (Harib), Bukkappa Razu (Kapras), and
Kampa Razu (Kampana, Kampriiz), the three elder
of the five brothers to whom the inscriptions of the
time ascribe the foundation of the empire of Vijaya-
nagara.” + The tract of territory over which Kampa
Razu bore sway has also been definitely described.
“ The government of the Nellore district, with the
fortified hill of Udayagiri within its jurisdiction, was a

* South India and her Muhammadan Invoders p. 181,

t i,
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very important post as regards strategy in Southern
India. . . .. The importance of the posi was specially
relevant when the Mussalmans of Delhi had shortly
before captured the city of Warangal, the capital of
the Kakatiya Dynasty just to the north of Udayagiri. "
« Kampa was therefore placed in that responsible
post by the same Vira Balldla (IIT).” *

Opinion, however, is divided regarding the manner
in which the independent kingdom of Vijayanagara
came into being, Some hold that after the death
of Ballala III, the five brothers having asserted their
mdependence established a new state with the city of
Vijayanagara as its capital; + whereas others believe
that Ballgla ¢ countenanced Harihara’s (the eldest of
the five brothers) establishing himself further north
as a great lord, and supported him by allowing him
to rule locally in the very heart of the Hoysala
kingdom.”+ It is even asserted that ¢Harihara I
was enthroned at Vijayanagara by the old Hoysala
monarch (Ballala IlI) as his own Mahamandaldévara
in the north.” §

It follows from this that,

(1) the five brothers who established the kingdom

of YVijayanagara were the subordinates of Vira
Ballala III.

(2) the Hoysala dominions, the defence of which
was entrusted to the care of the five brothers extended

* Heras: T/e Beginnings pp, 94-95 Cf, S, K. Tyengar, FAZ, p, 88, ¢ Another

Important garrison was placed (by Ballila I) at Udayagiri in the Nellore
distriet to guard the eastern ighway,’

+ Kggne Sostrl : ASR, 1907-8. p. 236,
Y Sewelt: Hirtorical Inscriptions, p. 187,
§ Heras: Zhe Beginnings, p, 67,
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from the Arabian Sea in the west to the Bay of Bengal
in the east, including along its northern frontier the
territory corresponding to the modern districts of
North Canara, Dharwar, Bijapir and Nellore.

(8) the Hoysala kingdom was exposed to the
attacks of the Bahmani Sultan Alf-ud-Din I, whom the
five brothers were expected to check.

(4) Ballala III enthroned Harihara I at Vijaya-
nagara, probably to induce him to take a personal
interest in the protection of the realm.

Unless these propositions are closely examined, it is
not possible to discover how far they are frue.

Section 2 :—(1) No evidence in support of this
proposition is forthcoming. Nearly three hundred and
fifty inscriptions of Ballala III have been brought to
light so {ar. It is strange that, if the five brothers who
founded the kingdom of Vijayanagara were really
Ball@la’s subordinates, they should not have been
mentioned in any of them. It is believed that a certain
prince called Kathora-Hara is mentioned in a Citaldrug
inscription dated A.D. 1328, * An attempt has been
made to identify this KathGra-Hara with ¢ Harihara I of
Vijayanagara who in all probability was one of those
kinsmen summoned to the meeting of Tiruvapypa-
malai’ ¥ It is pointed out that ¢ on many occasions
Harihara’s name is cut short and only the first part is
given, thus Hariyappa. Perhaps on this ocecasion the
first part is omitted so that the epithet Kathora (fierce)
should be properly applied to Hara or Siva. In faot
KathSra is the thirty-seventh name of Siva. This

* EC.xi. Cd. 4.
+ Heras: Tha Beginunings, p. 125,
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would be a welcome piece of flattery for Iarihara.” *
The explanation is no doubt ingenious, but it is
uncalled for; for the name Kathdra-Hara does not at
all occur in the text of the inseription. + It is, there-
fore, evident that among the officers and dependents
of Ballgla 11T, there was no person bearing the name of
Kathora-Hara.  Conscquently the question of his
identification does mot arise. Again the numerous
inscriptions of Harihara T and his brothers do not even
allude to their connection with Balldla III. On the
contrary, they make it clear that the founders of
Vijayanagara were independent rulers from the very
beginning, In the absence of evidence of any kind, it
is not reasonable to suppose that Harihara I and his/
brothers were at first subordinates of Vira Balla]a IIL.

Section 3 :—(2) What was the extent of the
Hoysala dominions during the reign of Balldla III?
The kingdom which he came to rule after the demise
of his father Narasimha III in 12902 A.D., was very
limited in extent. It corresponded roughly to the
present Mysore state excluding K&lar, and portions of
Bangalore, Tumkiir, Citaldrug and SImoga districts.
Even this small kingdom, he was not suffered to rule
in peace. He had to face the aitacks of his uncle
Ramanatha, who wanted to deprive him of his king-
dom, and throne., R&manftha was a half-brother of
Narasimho III; and their father Som&swara divided
his kingdom equally between his two sons, giving the
Tamil districts to the former, and the Canarese districts
which formed the Hoysala kingdom properly so called
to the latter. The reign of S&m8¢wara, however,
ended in a disaster. He was killed about 1262 A.D,,
in a battle with Jat&varman Sundara Papdyadsva

* Hevas: The Beginnings, p.126.n. 1, I Supra pp. 9-10.
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(A.D. 1250-1278) *, the king of Madura, and his capital
Kannaniir was captured. ¥ It wus probably at this
time that Vira-Pandya invaded Kongu which he
annexed to the Papdyan dominions. } Ramanftha was
thus threatened with the loss of his patrimony; but
he seems to have managed somehow to recapture
Kannanir from which he ruled his territory in the CGla
country until 1280 A.D., when he was finally driven
out of it by the Pandyas. Having thus lost most of
what his father had given him, he wanted to compen-
sate for his loss at the expense of his half-brother.
This led to the outhreak of a war between the two
brothers which dragged on for nearly thirty years.

The stroggle seems to have commenced even
before Ramanatha’s final expulsion from the CGla
country. It is alluded to in an undated inscription of
the Hassan district which Rice assigns 1o about
1260 A.D. § This date is too early for the outbreak
of the war, In the first place, Soméswara was still
alive, and it is extremely unlikely that he would have
allowed his two sons to quarrel with each other over
the division of the kingdom which he himself had

® SOmBswara is =aid to have died in A,D. 1287 (Z£C. iv. Kr, 9).
This is impiohable, as we find several of his inscriptions dated in his
27th and 29th regnal years corresponding to 1259 and 1261 respectively.
(MER. 20 of 1801, 519 of 1912, 84 of 1891.)

+ EZ, iii. p. 14,

1 Kongu remained undet the PRndyas probably until 1320 A, D. Seveial
inscriptions of Vira-Pindya refer to his conquest of Kongu (e. g, 87 of 1923);
and the existence of a few of his inscriptions in the Coimbatore district prove
the truth of the assertion. An epigraph from SZrm3idEvi altributes the conquest
of the two Kongus to MEravarman Kulasskhara, Although Kulaggkhara's records
are not found in the Kongu country, we find soma of his ¢o-1egent Jafivarman
Sundara Pindys in that region. The Pandyan occupation of Kopgu iz confirmed
by the total absence of ths Iloyssala inscriptions, No inscription of Narasimha IIT
nor of RamanZtha is found in the Coimbators district; snd the emliest dated
inscription of BallZ]a I belongs to the year 1323 A, D. (588 of 1904),

§ EC. v.Cn, 206.
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effected. Secondly, the IToysala position in the South
was challenged by the Pandyas at this time, and
Ramandtha could not have found it safe to despatch
an army against his brother.

Tlowever, there is reason to believe that his first
attack was delivered sometime before A.D. 1270;
for an inscription dated in that year coming from
the Caunnarfiyapattana télika of the Hassan district
mentions Ramanfitha as the reigning sovereign.* As
he is said to have bcen still ruling from Kannanfir, he
could not have concentrated all his attention upon
the conquest of Narasimha’s dominions. A more
gerious expedition seems to have been undertaken in
A.D. 1278, when he is said to have raised the
villages of Mannanakdgil and fought and killed a
certain Singeya Danpfyaka who was probably one of
Narasimha’s officers. ¥+ On this occasion Ramanatha
seems to have united his forces with those of ¢. .. arasa
Gajapati,” and offered battle to his brother at Sglelar. }
It was probably in this battle that Lala Maceya, one of
Narasimha’s subordinates was killed, § An epigraph
dated 1282 A.D. records the death of another officer
of Narasimha called Kopdu Nayaka in a battle with
Ramanatha. §f Whether Kondu Nayaka’s death is
connected with this war or some other cannot be
ascertained at present. The war seems to have ended
in a compromise, the terms of which, however, are
not recorded. In the meanwhile Ramanatha seems
to have lost his hold on the CBla country completely.
None of his inscriptions belonging to a date subse-
quent fo his 25th year corresponding to 1279 A. D, is

* EC.v.Cn, 235
+ #id, Ak, 149, t bid, B, 187,
§ MAR. 1909, p. 23, § £, v, Hn, 47,
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found in the south. He was still ruling from his
capital Kannanfir in 1278 ; * but he was soon driven
out of it by the great Pandyan monarch Maravarman
Kulaggkhara, It is stated in an inseription dated in
Kulagekhara’s 15th year (1283) that he was ‘in his
camp at Kannaniir’ + Consequently Ramanitha was
obliged to abandon the C3la country, and shift his
capital to Hesar-Kund&ni in the Salem district {rom
which he was ruling what was left of his old king-
dom in 1287. }

The loss of most of his kingdom, eoupled with
a desire to provide for his son, probably induced
Ramanatha to violate the terms of the compromise with
Narasimha III, and embark once again on a poliey
of aggressive conquest. He seems to have devoted
the last seven years of his life in waging war with
his brother and nephew. 'The campaign opened with
the siege of the fort of BettadakGte in the Gundlupéia
taliiks of the Mysore district where there appears to
have been some severe fighting. § Probably the place
was taken, and Rimanatha next seems to have marched
upon his brother’s capital, Dorasamudra. A battle was
fought in which some of the officers of Narasimha III
were killed. § Since Balldla III was residing in 1291
in Dorasamudra, | where he was anointed in the next
year, ** it is reasonable to believe that Ramanatha’s
attempt to capture DGrasamudra was not successful.
Nevertheless, he seems to have annexed a good slice
of Narasimha’s territory in the east, comprising the

* BC. v. Ak, 149,

+ M ER. 328 of 1023, Nilakantha Sastr- T2 Pigdyas p. 184 n. 1,
T EC. xd, Tm, 17, 27, 28, 29, 33.

& MAR, 1916, p, 55. % EC.v. Cn. 232,

I Zid, w1, R4, 49, *® J3id. Cra, 36.

[65]



VIJAYANAGARA

eastern tdlitkas of the present Bangalore and Tumkiir
districts. While the war was still going on, Nara-
gimha III died, * and he was succeeded by his son
Vira Ballala III who was anointed, as already noticed,
in 1292. Ballala thus found himself in the midst of a
war at the very beginning of his reign. Ramanatha
seems to have turned his attention to Sigal nadu
which he overran during the same year. + In the next
year he laid siege to the fortress of Kunigal, where
he seems to have met with stubborn resistance. The
defenders fought with the besiegers ‘like wrestlers,’
though the town was ultimakely taken. Some of them
are said to have penetrated into the ranks of the
enemy, and perished on their swords as they were un-
willing to be taken prisoners. I The capture of Kunigal
appears to be the last episode of the war. No informa-
tion is available regarding the events which happened
subsequent to the fall of this fort. The illness from
which R&manatha seems to have been suffering during
the last three years of his reign § may possibly have
resulfed in the cessation of hostilities and the conclu-
sion of peace. R&manatha breathed his last in 1295, q
and was succeeded by his son Viéwan@tha who ruled
for a short period of three or four years, though
nothing is known about the events that happened in
his reign. With his death, the Tamil branch of the
Hoysala family became extinct, and consequently the
Hoysala dominions were re-united under Ballala IIL

The death of Vidwanatha freed Ballgla III from an
enemy who might become dangerous at any time; and
the expansion of his dominions caused by the addition

* EC iv, Kr, 10; MAR, 1915, p. b6, + #idix. Kn. 28.

1 #d ix. Cp. 183, § Jv/d. x. Bp. 28, 25 2, Ct, 88,

% The date of his deatl: is nowhere recorded. As Bp, 25 a dated in 1295 is
his last records, it may be inferred that he died in that year,
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of his cousin’s territory increased his resources, and
strengthened his position. He was now ready to turn
his attention to external conquest. He seems to have
come into conflict with the Pandyas about 1297, for,
he is styled ¢the conqueror of the Papdya’ in an
epigraph of Hedatale in the Nafijangtd t&liika. * The
Papdya whom he conquered about this time should
have been one of the numerous Alupa chiefs that were
ruling on the west coast; but his attention should have
been drawn to the north rather than the west; for,
the extensive Yadava dominions lay almost unprotect-
ed owing to the invasion of Ald-ud-Din Khilji, Some
of the S8uga feudataries had thrown off the yoke of
D&vagiri, and were busy in carving out kingdoms
for themselves. The time, therefore, should have
appeared very opportune for launching an attack on
the territories belonging to the S@&upas who were the
hereditary enemies of Balldla’s family.

The feud between the Hoysalas and the S@unas
was rooted in the past. It had its origin during the last
quarter of the twelfth century when the country was
seething with confusion and political unrest. In 1178,
Sankama Déva of the Kalacurya dynasty ascended
the throne which his father had usurped from the
Calukyas; ¥ but from the day of his accession he
had to face several troubles. SOmé&swara IV, the last of
the Calukyas was striving hard to regain the kingdom
which his father had lost. About A.D. 11828, his
general Brahma, wrested from the Kalacuryas a large
part of the kingdom. § The supremacy had thus
passed once again from the K&lacuryas 1o the
Calukyas. As Soméiwara IV was not a strong ruler,

* EC.iv.Nj. 95; MAR. 1918, p. 47.
+ Fleet, Dyn, Kan, Dis, pp. 486-87. 1 Zid p, 464,
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many feundatories of his family taking advantage of his
incapacity asserted their independence. The S&upas
appropriated the northern districts; the Hoysalas
established themselves in the south ; and the Kakatiyas
made themselves masters of the east. In addition to
these, there arose throngout the kingdom, several petty
principalities which showed no inclination to submit to
anyone. Moreover, the ambitious policies pursued by
the rulers of the three kingdoms, brought them often
into conflict with one another which resulted in the
outbreak of bloody and protracted wars.

Soméswara had to maintain his authority over
these turbulent feudatories. Although he succeeded in
exercising some power for a few years, he had at last to
succumb to the inevitable., His general, Brahma was
defeated by the Hoysala Vira Ballala II *, and what-
ever power he might have exercised before this,
completely vanished with the disaster. The disappear-
ance of Som&&wara IV from the political arensa left
his nominal feudatories free to grab as much of
his territory as they could seize, The land-hunger
naturally engendered war and very soon the peaceful
countryside became disturbed by the marches of the
contending armies . 'The bone of contention was
the doab between the Krgpa and the Tungabhadra.
At the commencement of the period, a large portion
of this area passed info the hands of the S&una chief,
Bhillama, who consequently assumed the title of “the
beloved of the goddess of the sovereignty of Karnpita
country.” § His sway, however, did not. extend
over the whole of Karnpata, as the Hoysalas of Dora-
samudra, the Pandyas of Ucchangi, and the Kadambas

*® Fleet : Dyn. Kan, Dis, p, 502,
+ MER, ¥, 113 of 1926-27, L Fleet: Dyn Kau, Dis, p, 518,

Les}



ORIGIN OF THE EMPIRE

of Goa and Hanangal among others did notacknow-
ledge his supremacy. He was not even allowed to rule
peacefully that bit of Karpata which he had won ; for
his right to rule Karpita was soon questioned, and he
was ousted from his place by a successful rival, Vira
Ballitla II, the king of the Hoysalas.

Ballala II ascended the throne in A.D. 1178 * .
During the first ten years of his reign he was busy
consolidating his position by effecting the conquest
of some petty principalities in his neighbourhood.
The Cengalvas were conquered in 1173 ; f and the
Papdyan fort of Uechangi in the Nolambavadi was
subjugated in 1177. 1 About 1179, he fought with the
Kalacurya king, Sankama D&va whom he defeated. §
It was probably during these years that he acquired the
tract of country corresponding to the western half of
the present Bellary district. Having thus strengthened
his position, he commenced the struggle with the
Calukyas and the S8unas for establishing his supremacy
over Northern Karpata. His victory over Brahma, the
general of SoméSwara, has already been noticed. He
penetrated into the Dharwar country, and attacked
Bhillama. A decisive battle was fought at Soratiir in
the Gadag t8lika in A. D. 1191-2, and Ballala won a
glorious victory. § It was probably on this oceasion
that he slew Jaifrasimha, the trusted minister and
general of Bhillama. Most of Northern Karpita conse-
quently passed into the hands of the Hoysala king.
The extent of his territory execluding the Gangavadi,
Ninety-six Thousand country is described in an insecrip-
tion of Hirehadagalli. It embraced Nolambavidi 32000,

* EC. v. Hn,119; Ho. 7L vi Rad, 4, 136, 129,
1 #bid Bl 86. I £c, iv. Ng. 70,
§ MAR, 1915 Para 81, 9 Z4. 1. p. 299,
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Banavase 12000, Huligere 800, the two Beluvolas,
and Masavadi right up to Heddore. * A portion
of Sindavadi 1000 seems to have been included in it;
for Ballila II’s inseriptions are found as far north-east
as Kurugddu in the Bellary district. ¢+ Although
Ballala II’s authority extended over portions of North
Canara, Dharwiir, Raiciir, and Bellary districts, it was
never reecognised on the northern banks of the Krgna
and the Malaprabha. The northern boundary of the
“ Hoysala kingdom,” it is said, * was evidently the
Milaprabha rviver, and the Krspa from the point where
the Malaprabha joins it.” § All the insecriptions of
Balldla II are found only to the south of these rivers,
none being found on the north,

Ballala 11 ruled the conquered country undisturbed
for nearly twenty years. His authority was then
"challenged by the S8una king, Singhapa, a grandson
of his old enemy, Bhillama. Though it is generally
believed that Singhana ascended the throne in
A. D. 1210, available epigraphic evidence seems to
indicate that the event should have taken place, at
least seven years earlier. An inscription of Dévarabetta
in the Adoni talika dated in A.D. 1210 is said to
correspond to his 6th regnal year. § Another inscrip-
tion from Peddakottalika in the same taliika is dated
in A. D. 1208; § a third epigraph from Gorantla in the
Kurnool taliika is dated in A, D. 120B. | It is obvious
that Singhaga was governing the kingdom from
A.D. 1203 to 1210, though his activities during this
period are yet unknown. His struggle with Ballala II
did not commence until 1210. It is stated in an

* MER. 495 of 1914, t 1id 68 of 1904,
1 Fleet: Dy, Xeon, Dis, p. 519, § MER. A98 of 1916,
% %id. 563 of 1910, i P& 1. K1 221,
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inscription dated in the cyelic year Vyaya correspond-
ing to A.D. 1226 that it was sixteen years since
Singhana entered the Dharwar country *. Therefore,
the Séuna reconquest of Dharwar should have begun
in A.D. 1210. Balldla II seems to have held his own
for at least two years; for the latest date of his inserip-
tions in Dharwar is 1212, + after which no Hoysala
record is found in any part of the district. He was
then forced to retire into his own ecountry which
became the objective of a series of S8una invasions
during the succeeding years. Two inscriptions from the
Sorab taliika dated respectively in 1211 and 1212 allude
to an invasion of Singhanadéva.f Another undated
epigraph from Mallapura refers to an expedition which
Ballila II had despatched under the command of
Mahadéva Danpayaka against Singhanpaddva. § These
records indicate that there was severe fighting in the
north-western Mysore between the Hoysalas and the
Seunas in which the latter seem. to have gained the
upperhand. A study of the inscriptions reveals the
fact that the S8upas displaced the Hoysalas in parts of
the Simoga and Citaldrug districts either during the
reign of Ballala II or in that of his successor. §§ The
Hoysala power waa put an end to in the Sorab talika
in 1212 ; and although Somésdwara seems to have made
a few sporadic efforts to regain what was lost by his
grandfather, the S8upas managed to maintain their
rale probably until 1310. A.D. Though the last S&upa
ingeription is dated in 1300, the earliest of Ballala III
is assigned 1o 13814. It is not umlikely that Rama-
candra, in spite of his several misfortunes, was able to

* MER. E. 27 of 1927-28, Ft éhed. F, 62 of 1926-27.
i EC. wni, Sb, 376 5b, 404, § MAR. 1927, No. 156,

1 See Appendix A for this as well as the discussion regarding the relations
between the SPunas and the Hoysalas,
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keep a semblance of his authority until his death.
The Hoysala rule lasted in SAgar until 1226. Singhana
geems to have conquered it during the reign of
Narasimha II or that of his son. It was not until 1299
that the Ioysalas could secure a footing in the region
once again. In Sikarpiir, the rule of Ballala IT was
bronght to an end in A.D. 1215, and the S8unas held
nndisputed sway over the tiliika until 1294-5. Tlonnali
taliika. passed into the hands of the S&uypas in 1215
and in spite of the attucks of Narasimha III, it remained
in their possession until 1294. Since the earliest of
Ballala 1II’s inscriptions is assigned to A.D. 1814, the
S€una rule may be supposed to have continued until the
end. The exact date of the conquest of the Cannagiri
taliika cannot be ascertained. The last Hoysala insecrip-
tion is dated in 1288, the last year of the reign of
Narasimha II. Neither SGmégwara, nor Narasimha III
is represented even by a single record. It is obvious
that the Hoysalas had lost their hold on the region
subsequent to the death of Narasimha II; bunt the
earliest S6upa grant belongs to 12656. It is not known
when between 1233 and 1265 this area passed from
the Hoysalas to the Séunas. Davanagere was the only
talika of the OCitaldrug district, conquered by the
Ssupas, The conquest seems to have been effected
during the last days of Singhana. WNotwithstanding
the feeble attempts of Narasimha III to dislodge the
S&unas, they remained in this part of the country till
at least 1808, The Hoysala authority in the Bellary
district came to an end, as already noticed, during
the reign of SOm8gwara. REmanitha, no doubt, led an
expedifion as far as Kogli in 1275-6, * but his rule did
not fake root in the soil. It may be said that the
Séunas not only suceeeded in driving the Hoysalas ont

¥ MER 33,3 of 1904,
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of North Karn#ta but established themselves perma-
nently in a strip of Hoysala terrifory to the south of
the Tungabhadra extending from Belldry in the east to
the Western Ghats. The territory lost by the Hoysalas
between 1212 and 1292 roughly corresponded in extent
to Banavige, NGlambavadi, the Belvolas, Masavadi,
and Sindavadi.

Balldla III set his mind on the recovery of the
territory lost by his predecessors. His war with the
S&unas seems to have begun in 1299. TIe made an
attack upon KG&ti Nayaka, the ruler of Santalige
Thousand, and laid siege to his capital Hosagunda which
he captured®* He took Ko&ti Nayaka prisoner, and
carried off his elephant. ¥ Erupeya Dann&yaka, one of
his own officers, was appointed the ruler of the distriet. }
It has been suggested that Koti Nayaka was one of the
refractory chiefs, who rose up in revolt against
Balldla ITI; § but Santalige Thousand was conquered
by the S8una general Parafur@madéva in 1293; § and
therefore, at the time of Ball3la’s invasion it should have
been a S&una dependency, or what is more likely an
independent prinecipality having thrown off the Sguna
yoke subsequent to Ala-ud-Din’s attack upon Dévagiri
in 1295, Be that as it may. Ballala III's appetite for
conquest became keener by his initial success; he
invaded the province of Banavése in 1300, and lay
encamped in the neighbourhood of the village of
Sirsi. | The presence of Ballala in their country seem
to have united all the chiefs of the district under the
leadership of Gangeya S&ghipi, the great minister of

* £C. v, Sa. 96, 98.

+ i, Sa. 45, ¥ 15:d, Sa, 62,

§ The Mysore Gaseticer : (New Edstron), Vol I Part Ii p. 1399,

f ZC. viia, Sa 102, I} #b:d. Sa, 45,
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the Kadamba prince, Kavad&va. In the battle that was
fought on the occasion, Ballila III was defeated
and driven back. This reverse, however, did not deter
him from his purpose, and he repeated his attack on
Banavise three years later, and pitched his tents once
again at Sirisi where he was formerly defeated, *
Gangeya Sahigi having mustered his troops offered him
battle but the result of the engagement is not known.
The progress of the invasion should have been greatly
ehecked owing to a diversion caused by the S&una
attack on the north-eastern frontier of the Hoysala
dominjons. At the command of king R&madéva, his
general Kampilad8va advanced upon Holalkere and
took it. ¥ He then entered the principality of Bemma-
tanakallu, and inflicted a defeat upon its ruler,
Someya Nayaka.1 This seems to have produced the
desired effect; and Ballala II[ was obliged to keep his
plans of conquest in absyance at least for one year.
However, he invaded the Séuna kingdom in 1804, and
laid siege to Nakkigundi, which he eaptured after
winning a victory over the enemy. § Ramad&va,
who seems to have been greatly angered by the
persistent attacks upon his kingdom, took personally the
command of the army in order to push back the invader.
Both the armies met somewhere in the Banavise
country and a sanguninary battle took place. While
issuing the order for battle, Ramad&va commanded
his officers saying ‘you must take the king of
Karpatakas, and seize and give me that tiger’s cub ”
On this, his soldiers rushed upon the enemy, and
' making no hesitation’ *performed various exploits.’
It is not known how the battle ended. Probably
Ballila III was able to keep his hold on what he had

* EC. viii. Sa, 101, Y MAR, 1913, p. §0.
3 MAR, 1912, p, 45, § ZC, ix, Bn, B3.
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gragped. With this battle the satruggle between the
Sgupas and the IToysalas may be said to have come to
an end, for mo encounter is recorded during the
subsequent years.

Balldla devoted his attention during the next two
years to the reduction of the fort of Nidugal in the
Anantapiir distriect. Nidugal was the eapital of a small
but powerful CGla principality the rulers of which
had been hostile to the Hoysalas since the middle of
the thirteenth century. Irungolad&va II, accompanied
by his friend Giileya Nayaka, led an attack upon the
fort of Anebidderisi in the Tumk@r talika in 1269, *
He also participated in the attack of the Sgunpa
general, Saluva Tikkama on DGrasamudra in 1276. t
1t was only natural that Hoysala Narasimha III should
have retaliated. He marched upon the fort in 1285,
and after a siege of a few months captured it; t but
it was retaken by Baica Camilpaii, the minister of
Gansiwaradéva, a grandson of Irungola II, § and it
remained in the possession of the CGlas ever since.
The reduction of Nidugal is not mentioned in any of
Balldla II’s records. He was fighting with somebody
in 1807, for a grant was made during that year for the
victory of his sword and arm. 9 He is mentioned for
the first time as the rnler of Nidugal in an inscription
dated A.D. 1808. || It is reasonable to suppose that
the conquest had taken place before that date. As he
was busy from 1292 to 1805 fighting either with his
unele, R&manatha or with the Seunas, it is unlikely that
be could have found time to undertake this conquest
during those years. Therefore, the subjugation of

® EC. xii. Tm, 49, + 4%, v. Bl. 164, 168,
t bid. Ak, 161, MAR, 1909 p, 22, § EC. xi. Pg, 58,
§ MAR, 1914 (EC, x, MR, 83 revised) | MER, 729 of 1917,
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Nigugal should have taken place either in 1306 orin
the succeeding year. Balldla appointed Aliya Maceya
Dagniyaka as the governor of the conquered terri-
tory; but the people did not remain docile; and on
occasions they caused much trouble to Aliya Maceya
and his sons. * In spite of the disturbances which broke
the peace now and then, the Hoysala power was never
geriously impaired and the district remained in the
possession of Aliya Maceya’s family until 1340. T

The Hoysala connection with the south ceased,
as noticed already, about 1280 A.D., when Ramanatha
had to abandon CSla mapdala, and retire to a new
capital at Hesar-Kund@ni. The country which for two
generations the Hoysalas ruled was occupied by the
Pandyan monarch, M&ravarman Kula§skhara. The
Pagdyan rule remained undisturbed for nearly thirty
years; but towards the close of the first decade of
the fourteenth century, a civil war broke out in the
Papdyan kingdom owing to the rivalry between Vira
Pandya and Sundara Pandysa, the two sons of Kula-
§8khara. This was an opportunity which Balladla III
could not allow to pass unnoticed. Therefore, he
marched on the territory of the Pandyan brothers
“ for the purpose of sacking their two empty cities
and plundering the merchants.”” } He was, however,
balked of his prey by the intrusion of an enemy of
whose advance he seems to have been totally unaware.

Alé-ud-Din Khilji who ascended the throne of
Delhi in 1296, had despatched an expedition under the
command of Malik Kaffir against the Hindu kingdoms
of Deccan and South India in 1810, The expedition
reached Dévagiri, and was welcomed by Ramadéva who

* MAR. 772 of 1917, t 15id, 102 of 1926-27,
T ED, ui, p. 88
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remained loyal to his sovereign since 1205, He
provided the Mussalman army with the necessary
supplies, and commanded his dalav@y, Parafurimadéva
to aect as its guide on the march to DGorasamudra,
the capital of Ballgla IIL * On hearing of the advance
of the Muhammadan army, Ballila was obliged to
return to his country for the purpose of organising its
defence. The Muhammadan historians make it appear
that he surrendered without any resistance. The truth
seems to be quite the opposite. It is said in two ins-
criptions assigned to 1810, that one of Balldla’s officers
called Baica Nayaka perished in a battle with the
Muhammadans. ¥ And an epigraph dated 1816 refers
to the rebuilding of his residence at Dorasamudra.
It is evident from these, that Ballala fought at least
one or two battles with the Mussalmans before he
allowed them to approach his capital, which they
ultimately besieged and partly destroyed. Having
realised the futility of further resistance, he sued for
and obtained peace by surrendering all his wealth.

The Muhammadan invasion exhausted Ballila’s
resources and paralysed his strength. He remained
thoroughly inactive during the next few years engag-
ing himself in repairing the damage done to his
capital and kingdom by the invaders. He appears to
have been so far successful in recovering his strength,
that in 1817 he launched forth an expedition of
conquest against Tulu nad. An army under the
command of Sankiya S#higi, a brother-in-law of
Ballgla III's senior houge minister, Baceya Dapnayaka
marched against Basavadsva of Candaviir below the
ghats. § He demolished the town, and proceeded

* ED, m1, pp. 87-88, + EC. v. Hn, b1, B3,
1 ZcC, iv. Md 100, § EC, vii. HL 117
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against a place called Mutt. .. .. , where a battle was
fought in which the T'uluva army is said to have been
destroyed. The small principality of S&tu was proba-
bly subdued at this time, as the chief of the place had
become a subordinate of Ballgla III sometime before
1820. * The conquest of Tulu nad extending as far as
Barakfr and Mangalore was completed sometime
before 1383 A. D. As a mark of his victory over the
Alupas, Balldla seems to have assumed the Alupa
title, Pandya Cakravartin, {

While the campaign in Tulu n8d was still in
progress, Ballala III had to intervene in the affairs of
the Pandyan kingdom. The Muhammadan invasion
seems to bave scarcely affected the course of the eivil
war. Vira Pindya, the eldest son of Kulas€khara was
governing the northern districts of the kingdom from
his capital Kannanfir. He was attacked by his son
Samudra Pandya whom ParZkrama Pandya, another
chief of the family had joined. Vira Pandya whose
position was not probably strong seems to have invited
Ballala 1II io go to his assistance, and the latter
appears to have readily accepted the invitation. }
Balldla marched at the head of an army and reached
in 1818 Arupasamudra § which he made his head-
quarters for the time being. He is said to have been
marching in 1318 from Kannaniir to some unknown
destination, when he was attacked by the enemy,
The result of the aotion is not recorded, but it is not
unlikely that he sustained a defeat. The progress of his
campaign was checked suddenly by the appearance
of the Muhammadans on his northern frontier. Mubarak

* EC. viii. Nr. 19,
+ MAER, 1928-29, ii. p. 81, 1 M4R. 1918, p, 41,
§ EC, Ix, Cp. 783 MAR, 1916 p, b6, 1 EC. xii. Ck. 4.

[78]



ORIGIN OF THE EMPIRE

Shah Khilji who ascended the throne of Delhi in A. D.
1817, marched personally at the head of his army
to subdue HarapialadSva of D&vagiri who rose up in
revolt. He captured Harapila, and flayed him alive. On
this ocecagion, the Sultin remained at D&vagiri for some
months when he subjugated the whole of Maharistra
and divided it among his officers. At the same time
he is said to have appointed military governors to
Gulburga, Saghar, and Dwarasamudra. It has been
asserted that * the Hoysala (Ball&la IIT) does not figure
in the organisafion of the Mahratta country by
Mubarak, and the placing of the garrisons in the
various forts along the Hoysala frontier, or in the
subsequent invasion of Ma'bar by Khusru Khan.” *
The evidence of Ferishta is against this contention.
¢The Sultin’ says Ferishta, * stayed in that place
(Dévagiri), owing to the intervention of the ruiny
geason. Having introduced changes in the country of
Mahargstra, he built a mosque in the city of Davagiri
which still remains. He placed military garrisons at
Gulburga, Saghar, Dwarasamudra and other places.” +
The appointment of a Mussalman governor to his capi-
tal compelled Ballgla IIT to hasten fo Dwiarasamudra,
in order to repel the intruder. He was fortunate enough
to defeat the enemy, and drive him away from his
country. Two inscriptions dated in A.D. 1820, and
1321 respectively mention a minister of Ballala called
MahaviranSyakdcri Kalari BSaluva Raseya Nayaka

* 8, K, lyengar: Sonth India and ker Mukammadan Jitvaders, p. 171,
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Tas b/i-i-FerishaiBhi p, 128,
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who destroyed the Turuka army. ¥ As Balldla IIT or
his officers won no victories over the armies of Al&-ud-
Din, and as the Tughlaks did not come into conflict
with him until A. D. 1328, the victory of Réaseya
Nayaka should have been won over the officer whom
Mub3@rak Khilji had posted to Dwarasamudra.

Balldla seems to have remained in the north until
1320, when he led an army against the rija of
Kampili, but secured no substantial advantage. He
returned to the (0la country in the same year to
direct the operations against the Pandyas in person, and
took up his residence at Tiruvappamalai. But his ally
Vira Pandya whom his army was assisting could
not cope with the enemy. Samudra Pandya and his
friend Par@krama marched upon Kannaniir and laid
siege to it. There was some severe fighting on the
occasion, when Singeya Dannayaka, son of Maiduna
Someya Danpnpiyaka, a brother-in-law of Balldla III
was slain and the fort was ultimately ocaptured. +
Though the Pandyan victory blocked the progress of
Ballala’s conquests in the CBla country, it did not
prevent him form re-establishing the Hoysala authority
in Kongu. § The campaign having come to an end,
Ballgla broke up his camp at Tiruvappimalai, and
retnrned to Dorasamudra in 1322, only to contemplate
fresh schemes of conquest.

The small kingdom of Doravadi § on his north-
eastern frontier had been the cause of considerable
annoyance to Ballala III ever since he ascended the
throne. It was founded by Mummadi Singeya Niyaka

e

* MA4R. 1910, p, 88 ; 6id 1914 p, + MAR, 1913. p. 41,

1 His earliest dsted mscription in Coimbatore bears the Saka date 1248
corresponding to A, D., 1323 (M ER. 588 of 1905).

& See App. B, " Npnte pn Doravads,
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who rose to prominence in the service of king R&ma-
dsva of Dévagiri during the last quarter of the 18th
century. Doravadi which R&maddva seems to have
granted to him for his maintenance was included in the
Ballakunde Three Hundred, * a district which was
governed by & branch of the Sipdas in the past.
Mummadi Singeya was ambitious and restless, and he
soon picked up a quarrel with his neighbour Cavunda-
rasa who was probably the S&una governor of the
Nolambavadi province. Cavunpda placing himself at
the head of his forces was proceeding against
Doravadi, when he was opposed and killed by
Mummadi Singeya in a battle. + This victory not only
enhanced his reputation, but secured his freedom from
the interference of provincial officers. It also gave
him an opportunity to increase the extent of his
kingdom. In the first place, he seized the territory of
Cavunda extending as far as Harihara in the Dava-
nagere talika in the west; secondly, he appropriated
the estates of the petty chieftains who were in his
neighbourhood. He raised an army and attacked °. ..
mmalirkallu’ in the Hiriyfir talika in 1281 ; f and
he also fought during the same year with Sangaiya
Nayaka of Vétandakal and defeated him. § As a conse-
quence of these victories, he became a powerful baron
on the southern marches of the Séuna kingdom.

Mummadi Singeya appears to have died sometime
before 1300, and was succeeded by his son Khapdeya-
riya - Kampilad&va. One of the earliest acts of
Kampiladéva was the restoration of the agrakdra of
Harihara, which king Krgnakandhfira granted to Brah-
mans some two generations earlier. 9] He invaded,

* SIT. . 260,
¥ EC wt, G 34, 1 EC. xi. Hr, 86,
§ dkid, ik, 37. 1 #id. Dg. 26.
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as mentioned already, the Hoysala kingdom in
1303, at the command of his sovereign Ramadéva,
and forced Ballla III to retire from DBanavase.*
Nothing more is known of his activity until 1309,
when he built a temple in honour of Prasanna Vird-
paksa at Hampe. + The first stage in the reign of
Kampiladéva may be said to have come to an end with
this year.

During the next ten years, the principality of
Doravadi had undergone important changes. The
death of Ramad@va and the subsequent disruption of
the S&@una kingdom offered an excellent opportunity
for Kampilad&va not only to assert his independence,
but to acquire fresh territory by seizing as much of
the crumbling S8una kingdom as he could grasp. It
was probably during these years that he pushed
forward the eastern boundary of his state as far as
Siruguppa in the Bellary t&liika. It is also possible
that he conquered the districts on the northern bank of
the Tungabhadra; § but no epigraphic evidence is
available in support of this view. The rapidity with
which his power had grown, seems to have alarmed

* MAR, 1913 p. §0.

+ LR, 46; PR. 1, Bl. 388, This shrine is different from the famons
Varlipiksa temple which is certainly a more ancient foundation,
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his neighbours, especially Ballala III who could not
countenance the birth of a powerful kingdom in his
neighbourhood.

According to an inseription of Nagar dated 1320,
Balliila III “with all the troops of the armed force
marched upon Kapiladéva.””* The cause of this
invasion is nowhere recorded. It is just possible that
Ballala had embarked upon this campaign with the
object of rooting out an enemy while he had not yet
become very formidable. Coupled with this, he might
have also been actuated by a desire to annex the
region which formed an integral part of the Hoysala
dominions in the past. Whatever might be his motive,
he managed to lead his army to the very heart of the
enemy’s kingdom, and lay encamped in the vicinity
of his capital. Kampila, thereupon, came marching
¢ with all his armed force,’ ‘and both armies were
drawn up facing each other’ In the battle that
followed, some of the Hoysala officers were killed, and
Ballala was defeated. T An wundated epigraph from
Kiadli in the Simoga district refers to another encounter
between the two chiefs. It is said that Balldla who
wanted to destroy the pride of Kampila, ¢ went with
speed on Siraguppe, and encamped there,” ‘Kampila
went out to meet the enemy,’ and ¢ fought with his army
80 a8 to win the praise of all the world ! ' 'The result
of this battle was not very different from that of the
last. Ballala III and Kampila appear to have met on
the battle-field for the last time in 1825. § As the
insoription recording the event is in a damaged condi-
tion, it cannot be definitely ascertained how the battle
ended. Rice’s translation would have ns believe that

® (. viii, Nr, 19, F 25dd,
I MAR. 1923, 121, § ZC. xii, Tp, 24,
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Kampila was slain ; but there are strong reasons for
doubting the accuracy of his translation. Owing to
the peeling off of the stone, several letters between the
words Kampila and ‘modala nirudu kondn’ have
disappeared. The translation, therefore, cannot be
depended on. Again, according to the Muhammadan
historians, Kampila was alive until 1827, when he was
slain by Khwaja Jah&n who invaded his kingdom. * If
it be true that Kampila died at the hands of the
Mussalmans, his death could not have taken place in a
battle two years earlier. Therefore, it may be stated
that the last campaign of Ballala 1II also ended as
undecisively as its predecessors.

While the struggle between Balldla III and
Kampila was still undecided, the Muhammadan invaders
from the north made their appearance once again.
The Tughlak Suitdins proved more dangerous to the
stability of the Sounth Indian Hindu kingdoms than
theiwr predecessors. The kingdom of Warrangal was
overthrown in 1828, and Teling&na became a province
of Delhi; at the same time Orissa was attacked, and
the authority of the Sultdn was established in Ma’bar.
Ghifis-ud-Din, the first ruler of the Tughlak dynasty
died in 1825, and was succeeded by his son,
Muhammad bin Tughlak. ¥ It was during the early
years of the reign of this monarch that an expedition
was sent against the kingdom of Kampila. The
invasion was not caused by the desire of the Sultdn to
conquer more territory. He had a cousin called Baha-
ud-Din Gurshdsp, $ who rose up in rebellion against

* ED . p, 615, t Barmni+s ZD, 1w pp, 281-235.
% He 13 also called Bahfdar Gurshfisp s

TAAE #Mublrak SKTEs p. 99. -)/J %;ﬂjjbwwﬁ b{aj
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him in 1827. Having been defeated in battle by the
army of the Sultn, he fled from Deccan, and sought
the protection of Kampilad@va, who gave him shelter,
and treated him with consideration becoming his rank,
The Sultan himself arrived at Dévagiri, and despatched
an army under Khwaja Jah&in to bring back the
fugitive. They marched upon Kampila’s capital and
laid siege to it. He held out for a while ; but soon
realising that the fort would have to be surrendered
owing to the shortage of the supplies, he made up his
mind to do everything in his power to save Bahi-ud-Din
from the wrath of the Sultdn. He sent him with an
escort to the court of Balldla III, hoping probably that
it would not be possible for the Sultdn to capture him
easily. Kampila did not entertain any thought of
surrender. He issued a command to all the women of
the palace to burn themselves alive ; when that was
done, he had the gates of the fort thrown open and
sallied forth to meet the Sultin’s army. He and hs
followers fought with the besiegers bravely, until they
fell dead. The town was captured, and several
inhabitants including the eleven sons of Kampila were
made prisoners. The sons of Kampila embraced Islam,
on account of which the Sultin made them amirs,
and treated them ocourteously. The kingdom of
Kampila was annexed to the empire of Delhi. *

Khwaja Jahan next proceeded against Balldla ITI
who was then sheltering Baha-ud-Din. Ball@la, how-
ever, had no desire to court trouble for considerations
of chivalry. As soon as he heard that the Muhammadan
army was advancing upon his capital, he seized Baha-
ud-Din, and sent him bound to Khwaja Jahin,
acknowledging at the same time the supremacy of the

* ED, w1 p. 615,
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Sultin. Ballala III, by following a prudent policy,
averted a disaster which otherwise would have
destroyed his kingdom.

The kingdom of Kampila which was annexed by
the Sultdn did not remain as a province of his empire
for long. Although information is totally lacking
regarding its affairs during the succeeding years, it is
definitely known, on the authoiity of the contemporary
writers, that sometime before 1343, the Sultan appoint-
ed a relation of Kanya Nayak of Warrangal, who
embraced Islam, as the governor of the province ; but
the governor soon apostatised from Islam and asserted
his independence. *

The foregoing description of the evenis of the
reign of Balldla III makes it clear that the northern
frontier of his kingdom corresponded roughly to the
northern boundary of the present Mysore state. The
region corresponding to the distriots of North Canara,
Dharwar, Bijapir, Gulburga and Nellore was never
included in Ballala’s kingdom. Therefore, he could
not have appointed officers to defend the territory
which lay outside his dominions.

Was the Hoysala kingdom exposed to the attacks
of the Bahmani Sultans? and were the founders
of Vijayanagara employed by Ballala III ¢ to stem the
new flood of Bahmani invasion ?’ 1t is true that
Havihara I and his brother Bukka are referred to in
the Burkin-i-ma’asir as the rulers of the country
beyond the southern boundary of the kingdom which
Alz-ud-Din Hasan Bahmani had established. + The
evidence of Burhin-i-ma’asir in confirmed by lbn
Battfita, and the inseriptions. According to Battiita,

* BD i, p, 245, t 74, xxvin p, 148,
| [ 861
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Sultan Jamail-ad-Din of Honawar was ‘under the
suzerainty of an infidel Sultdn named Haryab’; * and
Haryab has been correctly identified with Hariappa
or Harihara I, whose sway, as shown by an epigraph
dated 1389 A.D. at Badami, ¥ extended over the
Bijapfir district. Since the reign of Harihara I lasted
until 1356, it is quite likely that he should have
come into conflict with Al&-ud-Din Hasan; but it is
absolutely certain that Balldla III had nothing to do
with this conflict; for, in the first place, the founders
of Vijayanagara, as shown already, had no connec-
tion whatever with Ballala III; and secondly, the
Bahmani kingdom did not come into existence during
the life-time of Ballgla. Al&-ud-Din Hasan founded
the Bahmani kingdom in 1347, whereas Ballala 1II
died in the middle of 1842.  How could the Hoysala
dominions have become exposed to the invasions of
the Bahmani Sultans, some twenty years before the
birth of the Bahmani kingdom.? It is highly impro-
bable that Balldla III could have provided in 1328
against a danger which was still in the womb of the
fature.  Therefore, the statement that Ballala III
posted the founders of Vijayanagara at important
places along his northern frontier to stem the
tide of the Bahmani invasions need not be taken
seriously.

Section 4 :~—The belief that Ballala III enthroned
Harihara I at Vijayanagara is not based on evidence.
It is stated that in the later years of his reign,
Ballgla IIT “had not a fixed residence as his predeces-
sors, but he frequently changed his capital according
to the needs of the empire, and in order to secure

* Thn Battita: Trevels in Asde and Africa, (The Broadway Travellers),
p. 230,

t 74.x p. 68, 1 EC. w1, X4, 8.
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its defence against the Mussalmans. * The capital was
changed for the first time in 1328. Ballala shifted the
capital of his kingdom from Dorasamudra to
Uppamalepattapa. Two years later, he went to

® Heras* T%e Beginnings, p. 65.

It is not true that the predecessors of Balifla M had a fixed residence
(rnelevign), That they were 1 the habit of changing their residence frequently
15 shown by the schedule given below:

Reference, Yoar. King, Nelevidu,
EC. v BL 58 .l S. 1089 Visnuvardhana ... V&liipura,
EC, v Mj. 60 v About
8, 1120] Vira Ganga Vignu-
vardhana ..| Bélipura,
EC, v Xr, 78 | About
S, 1130 | Vigpuvardhana ...| BankRpura,
EC. v B}, 124 .| S, 1085 do. o do,
EC. v Ak, 144 o S, 1059 de, ...| Bank¥@ipura and T#]a-
vanapura,
EC, v Cn, 199 o] Siddh¥rtha
S,1061| Vira Ganga Vispu-| Bankdpura
vardhana vus
EC, v Ak, 18 ver do. Vispuvardhana ... do,
BC, v Ak, 2 o S, 1073 Narasimha do,
EC. v B, 77 et 5. 1120 Balldla . Kukkanlir-Koppa.
EC, iv Ng, 47 o Se 1121 do. we| Lokkigund,
EC. v Cn, 172 v S, 1181 do. o | Vijayasamudra,
EC. ui Nj. 38 w S, 1161 | SBmEiwara .+] Kannanflr,
EC. 1r Kr, 638 - S. 1189 do. «.] PhEndysmandsla.
EC, iii TN, 108 «f 8, 1161 do, .| CBla RRjya,
MAR, 1923. No. 46 ... do, e[ DBcalabidu.
EC. v Cn, 203 do, Varadapukuppa.
MAR. 1913 o da, ol  Vijayar®)Sndra
pattaga.

A% B—~The list is not exhaustive,
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Vijayanagara where he remained antil 1840. During
the middle of this period, Balldla enthroned Ilarihara
a8 his mahamandalé$vara in the north”. This is said to
be proved by the mutual understanding that existed
between ¢ the emperor and his mahdmapdalgévara,
ag shown by the following :—

Harihara fortified Barakiiru in ... 1386
Balldla III paid a visit to inspect

Harihara’s work in ... 1838
Ballala III was at Vijayanagara in ... 1339

Camardja, a subordinate of Harihara
built the fort of Badami in .. 1840

It is true that Ballila III frequently changed his
residence during the later years of his reign in accor-
dance with the administrative needs of his kingdom.
That, however, should not be taken as an
indication of the change of the capital. Darasamudra
remained the capital of DBallila’s kingdom until the
very last. * The various nelevidus mentioned in his
inseriptions should be regarded as temporary camps,
where he happened to be staying for some reason or
other. It is not true that Ballala transferred his
residence to Tiruvappamalai for the first time in 1328 ;
for, he was there already for two years during
1821-22. + His visit to the place in 1328 must have
been due to the outbreak of war on his southern
frontier. He returned to the north in 1880, and
remained for a short time at Virlipikgapattana
(Virtipapura) in the Magdi talika, not Vijayanagara.
He did not stay here until 1840, but went to Hosabetta
in 1333 and DGoGrasamudra in 18356, returning to
Viripgksapura in 1889. He was at DGrasamudra once

® Kampili and Viecyanagara, p. 23, t EC, 1v. Gu, 69, 83,
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again in 1840, * where he performed the abliséka of
his son, before departing to the south for conducting
his final campaign against the Sultin of Madura.
There is absolutely no evidence in support of the
statement that he enthroned Harihara in 1336, or at
any other time. Therefore, it should be dismissed as
a speculation completely emancipated from the whole-
some control of facts. The unity that is supposed to
have existed between the ideals and plans of Ballala I
and Harihara must also be regarded as imaginary.
There is no evidence to show that Iarihara I ever built
a fort at Barakiira in 1336 ; and Ballila’s visit to that
place in 1338, was due to a desire to encourage his
troops stationed in the place to defend it against
Harihara's attacks. As Ballala III had nothing to do
with the affairs of the kingdom of Vijayanagara, he
could have had no connection direct or indireot with
the construction of the fort of BaEdami in 1339,

¥ Kampilfi and Vijayaragara, p. 23,
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CrarTER II,

THE EARLY HISTORY OF THE
SANGAMA FAMILY.

Section 1:—The true origin of the kingdom of
Vijayanagara is revealed by an investigation of the
contemporary records, Hindu aa well as Muhammadan.
The kingdom of Vijayanagara seems to have sprung up
from the principality of Doravadi or Kambila, as it was
known to the Muhammadan historians, which Sultin
Muhammad destroyed in 1327.* The destruction of
this state is vividly described by Ibn Battiita who came
to India in 1883. As he became intimately acquainted
with the sons of Kampiladéva who embraced Islam
subsequent to the death of their father, he would have
gathered all his information regarding the circum-
stances under which Kampiladéva died from eye-
witnesses who participated in the fight. Therefore,
his account of the siege and capture of Kampiladsva’s
capital is of special importance.

“Sultan Tughalik,” says he, “had a nephew,
son of his sister, named Bahi-ud-Din Gushtisp whom
he made governor of a province... And when his uncle
was dead he refused to give his oath to the late

/ db BYYy ﬁ) -t f,fulbp(&r‘)#b"h}»’} ol
/"&f /b/(;/utuliuut" - JLJ'/L'A,QJ"’ ku—-'bﬁ WJ
, lunv-/z.#}w L,,QJ, O V ful«w U’u! ::"/)/L ol
Pyl oipes oyr/f':wbwlfpﬂ Iy h.-v'f

TArikhei-Mublirak Shki p. 9,
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Sultan’s son and successor. The Sultan sent a force
against him, , .. there was a fierce battle, . . . and the
Sultan’s troops gained vietory. Bah&-ud-Din fled to
one of the Hindu princes, the rdi of Kambila.. ...
This prince had territories situated among inaccessible
mountaing, and was one of the chief princes of the
infidels.

“ When Bah&-ud-Din made his escape to this
prince, he was pursued by the soldiers of the Sultan of
India, who surrounded the r&i’s territories. The
infidel saw his danger, for his stores of grain were
exhausted and his great fear was that the enemy would
carry off his person by force ; so he said to Bah&-ud-Din,
‘ Thou seest how we are sitnated. I am resolved to
die with my family, and with all who will imitate me.
Go to such and such a prince (naming a Hindu prince),
and stay with him; he will defend thee,’ He sent
some one to conduct him thither. Then he com-
manded a great fire to be prepared and lighted. Then
he burned his furniture and said to his wives and
daughters, ‘I am going fo die, and such of you as
prefer it, do the same.' Then it was seen that each one
of these women washed herself, rubbed her body
with sandal-wood, kissed the ground before the r@ii of
Kambila, and threw herself upon the pile. All
perished. The wives of his nobles, ministers, and
chief men imitated them, and other women also did
the same.

“The rRi, in his turn, washed, rubbed himself
with sandal, and took his arms, but did not put on his
breastplate. Those of his men who resolved to die
with him, followed his example, They sallied forth
to meet the iroops of the Sultin and fought till every-
one of them fell dead. The town was taken, its

o2}
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inhabitants were made prisoners, and eleven sons of
the r2i were made prisoners and carried to the Sultan
who made them all Mussalmans.” *

What happened in the kingdom of Kambila, imme-
diately after the death of the rai is nowhere related.
The historian Zia-ud-Din Barni, one of the companions
of Sultin Muhammad mentions Kambila as one of the
provinees included in the empire of Delhi. IIe casually
states that the government of the province was
entrusted to the care of a Hindu who embraced
Muhammadanism. While narrating the events connect-
ed with the rebellion at Sannim and S&mana which
broke out in 1844, Barni observes:

“While this was going on, a revolt broke out
among the Hindus at Arangal. Kanya Nayak had
gathered strength in the country. Malik Makbal, the
nd@ib-wazir, fled to Delhi, and the Hindus took posses-
sion of Arangal, which was thus entirely lost. About
the same time, one of the relations of Kanya Nayak
whom the SultBn had sent to Kambala, apostatised
from Islam and stirred up a revolt, The land of
Kambala also was thus lost, and fell into the hands of
the Hindus.”

It is evident from these two extracts that the
government of the kingdom of Kambila, which was
destroyed in 1827, was entrusted by the Sultin to a
relation of Kanya Nayak of Warrangal who embraced
Islam. But this person, having apostatised from his
adopted faith, reverted to Hindunism, and by stirring
up a rebellion, asserted his independence in or
about 1844 A, D,

* ED, uni, pp. 61415 + dbid pp. 2456,
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The name of the relation of Kanya Nayak who
successfully headed the rebellion of Kambila against
the Sultdn is nowhere disclosed. It is, however,
possible to discover his name by an investigation of
the inscriptions belonging to this period. Jundging
from the position of Kambila as described by the
Mussalman historians, it should have extended from
the Southern frontier of the province of Davagiri to
Kampili on the Tungabhadra from which ifs name is
evidently derived. * Who was the prince or king that
was ruling this region from 1327 to 1344 ? It is stated
in the Kéapaltir plates dated 1335 that Harihara, son of
Sangama, a descendant of Yadu, was ruling this part of
the country from his capital Kufijarakona on the
Tungabhadra. ¥ The same information is conveyed by
another grant dated in the same year coming from the
Bagepalli tAlika of the Kolar district. T As these grants
are declared spurious, the value of their evidence has
become vitiated, and they cannot be of much use in the
present discussion. There are other genuine records
which should be considered in this context. It is stated
in an epigraph of Atakalagupda in the Kurnool district
that Harihara I was ruling this part of the country
in 1339 from his nelevidu at Gutti. § According to an
inscription dated 1840, the country round Bad&mi in
.the Bijapiir district was governed by king Harihara.
‘Fle bore the titles makdmapdalebvara, arirdyavibhila,
bhashagetappuva - rayera- gapda, and plirvapascima samu-
dradhipati. § It is stated in an unpublished inscription
of the same date coming from the Kurnool district that
Harihara was ruling the country in the neighbourhood

* Aumtakabal-lubds, Part th, p, 7.
+ D7, i, Cp. 18. 1 EC. x. Bg, 0.
§ LE. VoY, 28: pp, 6253, 14 % v 6
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of the Srisaila mountain, * This is confirmed by a
third inscription dated 1844, according to which
IMarihara’s brother Bukka was ruling from Vidya-
nagara. ¥ By 1842, the authority of Harihara was
recognised on the coast of Konkan. Ibn Battfita who
visited Konkan in 1842, states that Jam&l-ad-Din, the
Sultin of Honawar, was the subordinate of a Hindu
king called Haryab, } who has been identified with
Hariyappa or Harihara I of Vijayanagara.

The evidence of the inscriptions and Battiita make
it clear that at least from 1839 Harihara I was govern-
ing the country over which Kampiladgva ruled before
1327. It should be borne in mind that this country u
was included, according to Barni, in the dominions |

of the Sultin of Delhi until 1344, when, owing to,
the successful rebellion of its governor, it became
independent. It follows from this that Harihara I of
Vijayanagara and the Sultin of Delhi were holding
sway over this region simultaneously between 1339
and 1844, This could not have happened if both of
them were independent monarchs, It could have been
only possible, if one of them chanced to be a
subordinate of the other. Of the two, the Sultin of
Delhi could not have been a subordinate of Harihara.
Therefore, Harihara should have been a subordinate
of the Sultdn. As he was ruling the terrifories of the
old kingdom of Kambila about 1840, as a subordinate
of the Sultin of Delhi, he should have been that
relation of Kanya Nayak whom the Sultin appointed
as the governor of Kambila sometime before 1344,
but who stirred up in that year a rebellion against hia

.

~®-Mae, Mss, 15-8-38. pp. 307-14,
1 £C. x, Mb, 168, Sewell : Historical Inscriptions p. 189, 1.
1 Ibn Battlita: Zravels in Avia and Africa, (Broadway Travellesrs) p, 230,
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master, and asserted his independence. Ilarihara
appears to have been a follower of Islam at the time of
his appointment to the governorship; but he soon
abandoned it, and reverted to the faith of his fathers. '
Tlis reconversion to Hinduism which was the first
act of his rebellion might have been actuated by
considerations mnot purely religious. Probably the
rebellion which was in essence a Hindu protest
against the aggressive onslaughts of Islam ecould not
have been as successful as it was but for Harihara's
reconversion.

Section 2 :—Who was this Harihara? Very little
is known of the origin and the early history of his
family. Though the information on the subject is
very scunty, some attempts have already beon made
to reconstruct the story of his ancestors. It is said
that Harihara’s family was connected with the
Kadambas of Banavase. ¥ A passage from Nikitin is
cited in support of this statement: * The Hindu Sultin,
Kadam,” says he, %is a very powerful prince. He
possesses a numerous army, and resides on a mountain
at Bicheneghar.” I The word ‘Kadam’ in this passage
is the name of the Vijayanagara king, and mnot
of his family. Therefore, there is no reason to
suppose that the ancestors of Harihara had any

® Tt 1s mteresting to note that Bukka I, the younger brother of Harthara had
2 Mubammadan son. An wmperfectly dated mscription from Simoge (Ci, 65,)
mentions Gengy Seldr, son of Bukkana Vodeyar, The date of the inscription as
engraved 18 Sokavarsa sehnsrade Vibrama zargada. 'The expression sakssrada
means, *one thousand snd’ , and it is evident that the engraver had omutted
something after “and’, Bl, 3, dated about 1397, refers to the rebuilding of the
£pwura at BEUr which Ganga Saliir, the Turuka of Kallubarage had come an
burnt, The Ganga Salicr mentioned m Bl. 3, appears to he the same as th
Ganga Saldr of Ci. 65, for the names of these two persons agree, and they live

about the sqme time, It is nof unlikely that Bukkana Vodeyar had & son who
was & Muhammadan,

+ Herss+ The Bagingings p. 68,
1 Wikitia: Jadi in the Saxigeih Gostnry : (Hok. Soz.) p, 29,
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connection with the Kadambas of Banaviise or any
other place. Again, it is suggested that ‘the ancestors
of the first dynasty of Vijayanagara were the mem-
bers of the famous family of Keésavadapdanitha,’® *
who was one of the officers of Balldla IL. Three

arguments are brought forward in support of this
contention :—

(1) Kadavadandandtha'’s family is ¢ the only
Yadava family found in the inseriptions besides the
ruling family of the Hoysalas’. And Harihara and his
brothers trace their descent from the same family.
(2) Kesavadandanatha's family, °just as the family of
Sangama’, is called a ‘Karpita family.’ (8) Several
names of the members of one family resemble those of
the other.

None of these arguments can establish the connect-
ion of the family of Harihara with that of Késavadanda-
natha. In the first place,/K&sava's family was mnot
the only one besides the Hoysalas to claim descent from
the mythical hero, Yadu. The Ssunas of Davagiri,
the Yadavarfyas of Candragiri,  and the Papdyas of
Ucchangi claimed a similar descent. Therefore, the
ancestors of Harihara may be said to have been connect-
od with any one of them. Secondly, there is no justi-
fication for calling Harihara’s family & ‘¢ Karnata
family.’ Itis, no doubt, trne thatin one inscription,
Sangama, the father of Harihara is said fo have enabled
the Laksmi of Karndta défz to wear her ear-rings; §

* Yeras : The Biginuings p. 6. T dbid. pp. 75~76.
T, T, Dewastknam Tnsergptionr. Vol 1 p. 101. ShAyaua's Subkisia :
Rlya Catupaddhatis Md, Gov, Or. Mss, L,
Sindhui-candrasye bandhur-vanagidan-api-tollaksess sTrafge kirgant
Sarldyde-candrokiniddadhati na rajani pilaytivam iadiyd
BiRipam S3ri Rangonttham Yadukula-tlakom bhavye-K00§ bhajéia
BrR13 vidvigi- yogm wyapatsis-abliejai-bhit-ma jita-ridhe. |

§ ZC. viu TL, 206, Nr. 69; xii Pg. 69,
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but this cannot be taken to mean that Sangama and
therefore his son belonged to a family called the
¢ Karpata family.” What all we can say with reason
is that Sangama ruled somewhere in the Karpata
country ; but that is a different proposition. The mere
fact that the families of Kéfavadandandtha and Hari-
hara ruled in Karp&ta, does not unite them, making
them thereby a single family. Lastly, similarity of
names cannot be taken as a serious argument, since
such similarity may Dbe discovered between the names
of several other families of the time. Therefore the
suggested connection between the families of K&sava-
dandanatha and Harihara should be considered
improbable ; and if it is necessary to discover the origin
of the family of Harihara, an attempt should be made to
explore sources other than those mentioned above.

The inscriptions of Harihara I and his successors
yield some information, though scanty, about his father
and grandfather. The name of his father was Sangama,
and he is said to have been a powerful chief, though
nothing definite is known about his achisvements. *
The father of Sangama was a chief called Bukka who
is occasionally mentioned in the records of his descen-
dants. T An epigraph dated 1814 A.D. coming from

® However, in a copper-plate grant attributed to King Harthara II, (MAR.
1918, p 50) some of lus exploits e enumerated, ¢ He performed the sixteen
great gfts in RAmESvaram and other holy places. Quickly damming the Kivery
when in full flood, he crossed over, and seizing the enemy alive, took possession
of his Tafica kingdom (Tanjors) and the city of Srirangapattana, He conquered
Cérn, C3la, and Pipdya and together with the lord of Madura Manabhiisa, the
Turusks, and the Gajepati king.'' The wmscription in which this passage occurs
is a forgery of the 16th century ; for, (1) the passage is bodily taken from the
prafasti of the Tuluva kings describing the campaigns of Narasa Niyaka; and
(2) it does not oceur in the prafess of the First Dynasty mn any insanption
excepting the present, Therefors, Sangama may be said to have become
famous, only on account of s sons; but for them hus name would not have
come down to postenty,

NDI A, Cp, 16, 2T x, Gd, 46, MB, 158,
981
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G0zalavidu in the Kanigiri talfika of the Nellore district
mentions a Bukkariya Vodayalu bearing the titles of A
samasta bhuvandsraya, paficamahdlabda, mandaléévara,
mirurdyara-gapda, aririya vibhila, bhdsadappuvariiya-
gapda, navakhanda prihvisvara, and Virgpaksadgva divya
éri padapadmaradhaka. ¥ It must be noted that the first
three titles were never made use of by the Vijaya-
nagara kings; the third is especially interesting, as it
denotes that Bukkardya Vodayalu was an ordinary
chief, a mere mapdalé§vara. Therefore, the inseription
certainly belongs to a period anterior to the establish-
ment of the kingdom of Vijayanagara; and the titles,
arirGya vibhila, bhdsadappuvardya-ganda, Viriupiksadéva
divya §7 padapadmiradheka which are peculiar tfo
the descendants of Sangama, point out that this
Bukkarfiya Vodayalu should have also been a member
of the family. Having these titles and the date of the
inscription in view, it is not possible to avoid the con-
clusion that Bukkariya Vodayalu mentioned therein is
the same as the father of Sangama referred to above. t

o VDI i Kg. 7.

+ The 1dentification was made 37 years ago by Messrs. Butterworth and
Vepugdpala Ceity in the last volume of the Nellore Disirict Tnseriptions, p 1467,
But the Rev. Fr. Heras does not agree with them, ‘‘Messrs, Butterworth
and VEpugBpila Celty with #he preconceived idea that all the Vyayanagard
dynasties are Telugu, are inclmed to identify Sangama's father with & chief
named Bukkardya Odayalu who receives several hononfic titles in an inseription
at the Nellore district.’’ * But the father of this Bukkariya Ogdayalu seems
to be & Reddr chiel” The Beginnings. p, 4.

If Fr. Heras had studied the question calmly, he would have agreed with
Messrs, Butterworth and V@pugBpila Cefty. The inscription does not
mention the father of tlus ‘Bukkarfya Odayelu® at all. Ilowever, at
mentions the donor Gangi Reddr of IJumekant famuly, and his parents,
Peddi Reddi and Cipasini. The text of the inscription rums thus —

B¢ R B _BPSH Fow SouHIE gy sS:oaié-'a‘Stf BT eSS Ko
SO D Y TESSHySTaRKoll  MaqoXtyP ¥l DA S
oy QInEST RTINS Gt orohtiiasy  pid () cumub
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Therefore, the present grant makes it quite clear that
Bukka, the grandfather of Harihara I, was holding
sway about A.D, 1314 over a portion of the Nellore
district. It is a matter of common knowledge that this
region formed part of the Kakatiya kingdom which
Muhammad bin Tughlak had overthrown in 1323 A. D.
Prataparndra, II, who had been liberated from his
imprisonment by some of his officers, exercised some
sort of authority over this part of his kingdom wuntil
1380. Bukkardya Vodayalu of the GTzalavidu inscrip-
tion should have been a subordinate of Prataparudra I,

The information gleaned from the inscriptions
and the contemporary writers about the ancestors of
Haribara I may be summarised in a few sentences. His
grandfather, Bukkarfya Vodayalu was holding sway
over a portion of the Nellore district as a subordinate
of Prataparudra II about 1814 A.D. Nothing, however,
is known abouf his father Sangama except that he
begot five sons who established the kingdom of

Yoi3 XoRddo ™% ¥ d GFYs omem  0o3a.  oHES

wsolS WosEyE R Ty A B Bod 223320 EY wxdDED &

It has been correctly rendersd into English by Messrs. Butterworth and
Vepugdpdla Cefty* ‘Idumakanti Gangi Reddi Giru the servant of (Hasl)
Bukkarlya Vodayalu . . . gava. , . for the religious merit of hus (Gangr Redds's)
father Pedd: Reddi and his mother Canasimi &c,'”' It 15 not known how
Fr, Heras got the i1dea that Bukkariya Vodayaiu’'s father was a ‘ Redds chuef’
4t any rate, he could not have been mdebted to the text of the msernption which
1s quite clear on the pomnt. Another writer attempts to identify Bukkariya
Vodayalu of the inscription with Bukka I, ¢ The fact of Bukka I's patronage to
a Telugn poet or even of hus having under hum a Telugu povernor—Idumakant
Gangr Redds Gru in Saka 1314 (Butterworth, Nellore Inscriptions u, p. 643) does
not necessarzly mean that Bukke was of Telugu ongmn.” (Jr, Bom, Hist. Soc.
Vol. 1L p, 117). The identification 13 wrong, for, in the first place, the date of the
anseription 18 Sake 1236, and not Seka 1314, Secondly, Bukka I died about
Saka 1300, therefors, he could not be reigmng in Saka 1314, some fourteen
yeara after hus death, If the imscription did really belong to & subordinate
of Bukka I, then it establishes that he was of Telugu ongin, since, rulng
as he did in Saks 1236, ip Neliore, he should have been & subordinate of the
Kakatlya king, Pratfparndra I,

{1001



ORIGIN OF THE EMPIRK

Vijayanagara. (ga.riha.ra. 1, the eldest of Sangama’s
sons, was related to Kanya Nayak who began to rule
at Warrangal in 1844. He embraced Islam some years
before that date, and was consequently appointed by
Muhammad bin Tughlak as the governor of the king-
dom of Kampila which he overthrew in 1327, He
ruled his province at first from Kufjarakona, and
subsequently from Vijayanagara. He reverted to
IImduism sometime before 1344, and stirring up a
revolt againat the Sultan, became independent.
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THE KAKATIYAS AND THE FOUNDERS
OF VIJAYANAGARA

Section 1:—The connection of the founders of
Vijayanagara with the Kakatiyas suggested in the
previous chapter, is also shown though indirecily by
the crest of the kings of Vijayanagara as well as
some features of their administrative system.

The Crest.—It is well-known that *var@ha’ or the
boar was the crest of the four dynasties that ruled over
Vijayanagara, What was the source from which they
obtained it? ('he boar crest was at first made use of by
the Calukyas of Badami; and it was inherited from
them by all the branches of the family, who adopted
it, with a few modiﬁca.tion% The Calukyas of Kalyani
who estiablished a wide-spfead empire in the Deccan
made the boar crest the symbol of their imperial power.
The feudatory families which recognised their overlord-
ghip were profoundly influenced by the manners of
their court and methods of administration. All of
them copied the ways of their sovereigns; they even
modelled their prafastis on that of the royal family,
The Kakatiyas seem to have gone a step further; they
adopted also the royal crest.

After the fall of the CBlukyas) the three momar-
chies which stepped into their plage fostered the old
administrative institutions with a few changes here and
there, But thezld oyal crest disappeared everywhere
except in Telingi‘:;.a} The S8upas made use of the
Garuda crest, and ‘the Hoysalas, the tiger. {The
Kakatiyas slone had shown respect to the Calukyan
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boar. Ifis mentioned for the first time in the inscrip-
tions of Prola II. He is said to have marked the breast
of his enemy, Gunda of Mantrakiita * with the sign
of a boar.” * The image of the Kakatiya boar is also
found engraved on the seals of the copper-plates of
Granapati; T and it is also engraved at the 1op of some
of the stone inscriptions of Praiaparudra IL §

The founders of Vijayanagara should, therefore,
have borrowed their crest only from the Kakatiyas,
for no other royal house made use of it at the time
of the birth of the new kingdom.) One peculiarity
which is common to the Kakatiya 'and Vijayanagara
crests establishes, in our view, the connection between
them more firmly. On the seals attached to the
inscriptions of Ganapati and Prataparudra II, the figure
of a dagger is engraved in front of the boar; the
dagger is also carved on the Vijayanagara seals, but
in a slightly different manner. Whereas the dagger in
the Kakatiya seals is made to stand on its hilt, its
position is reversed in the Vijayanagara seals, where
it is made to stand on the point. Notwithstanding
this small difference, it may be confidently asserted
that the founders of Vijayanagara were indebted to
the Kakatiyas for their crest.

Section 2:—The Administrative Features:—The
founders of Vijayanagara seem to have modelled their
administrative machinery to some extent on that of the
Kakatiyas. (@) The administrative divisions that were
in vogue in the Vijayanagara kingdom were either
copied or evolved from those obtaining in the dominions
of the Kakatiyas. The village served as the foundation

* 4. x.p 17, T EZ, xvui, See the plate opposite to p, 351,

I It 15 engraved on the top of an inscription at Nandallr by the side of the
eastern gipnra of the CokkanHthaswimi temple,

[ 108 ]



VIJAYANAGARA

on which the whole fabrie rested. A few villages were
grouped together to form what was known as sthala.
A few sthalas constituted a nddu ; a few niddus formed a
stma ; and a few simas became a r@jya. This system of
grouping the divisions of administration was not
entirely created by Harihara I or his successors. What
they had done was only fo bring the scattered elements
which they found existing under a system. The sthale
and the 13jya™ are occasionally met with in the
Hoysala and the S8upa inscriptions; but they do not
seem 10 connote artificial sub-divisions of territory
created for the sake of administrative convenience.
There is reason to believe that the Kakatiya monarchs,
especially Rudr@mba and Prataparudra, made a con-
scious effort to overhaul the administrative machinery
of their kingdom. An examination of the lithic records
of their time reveals the existence of administrative
divisions that bear a close kinship to those obtaining
under Vijayanagara. The sthala may be taken up for
consideration at first :—

Reference. Date. Name of the sthala.

NDI. 0. 189 .. | 1218-19 Nellore.

” P. 37 " Padiyila.
Telingina Inscriptions,

Kikatiya, No. 84 .. | 1267 Panuganti.
NDI. D. 1 ...11272-78 | Poliganda.

”» D. 72 .. 11272-73 | Addanki.

Arualiru.
" D. 101 . | 1278-74 Pepdliira.

* The names of the rffyar of Nijugal, Kundfipi and S8tu are met with in
the insonptions of Ballila T, These wers independent kingdoms which he
inherited or congnered. After their acquisition by Balls]a I, 1n spite of tha fact
that they had 2 common ruler, they ware still spoken of as r#yas, owmg probably
it the foroe of halut, Théy were in no sense artificial units of territory created
far sfminisizative purposes,

[ 204 ]



ORIGIN OF THE EMPIRE

Reference. Date. Name of the sthala.
MER. 285 of 1893

SII. IV No. 1152. ...| 1278 (?)
NDI. O. B3 | 1298-4 Raviniitala.

' 0. 129 ..{ 1298-4 Ravintitala.
MER. 565 of 1909  ...| 1299 Surimadala,

ingala.

s A.10of 1918. 19| 1308 Nandyﬁla..
NDI. 0. b4 ...} 1806 Cadalaviada.
MER. 716 of 1921  ...| 1817 Kondiri.
NDI. Kr. 28 .. 1 1828-29| Piinginaii.

The artificial character of the stkalas is brought
out clearly by two facts: (¢) Each stkala was a group
consisting of a few villages. O. 101 refers to 8 villages
included in the sthalas of Araliiru and Pepdliru. MER.
716 of 1921 alludes to 18 villages of Kondiiri sthala.
() Each sthala was an artificial division created to
suit administrative convenience. It was placed in
charge of an officer sometimes called a s@dhvaka.
D. 72 mentions the s@dhyaka of the sthala of Addanki.
O. 139 refers to the ruler of the Nellore sthala. The
Telingina inscription (Ka@katiya No. 34) refers to the
ruler of the Panuganti sthala.

In some parts of the kingdom, in the place of the
sthala, we meet with the kampana :—

Reference. Date. Name of kampana.
NDI. U. 48 ..| 1262-3 Cilukapadu.
» D. 2b .. | 1254-b Amavakalamri,
» D. 28 | 12b64-B Amavankalam®ry,
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Over the sthala and the kampana was the nadu : —

Reference. Date. Name of the nadu.
NDI. 0. 139 ... 1,1218-19 ]%Eka,.
amma.
MER. 196 of 1905 .. | 1260 { P
o 3533 of 1915 ...| 1277 Anumakonda.
Pottapi.
» 406 of 1911 .. [ 1287 {Mulki
Paruva.
NDL 0. 129 .o 1 1298-94 Kamma.
O. 53 .| 1298-94 do.
Kr 1 ...| 1315-16 Piingi,
Kr. 23 ' do.
MER. 248 of 1897 ... Pzka.

The next sub-division, sima appears but rarely in
the K&akatlya inseriptions. Mulkin&du sime and its
sub-division Mukkanti nddu are referred to in an inscrip-
tion of Cenniir in the Cudappah district dated A.D.
1814 * and Kandukiir sima is mentioned in the last of
Pratiparudra’s inseriptions which is dated 1829-30. +
The earliest record of Vémaya Reddi dated 1335 also
refers to Ammanavabroli sima. £ Therefore, it is certain
that * sima’ was just coming into use during the latter
half of PratSparudra II’s reign.

No administrative division higher than sima, seems
to have been known to the K&katiyas; but Kr. 28
geems to puggest that a higher administrative district
was in fact in existence: it mentions the village of
¢ Arumurigulla included in the stkala of Plinginddu

* LR, viii pp, 88-86,
T NLL it Kr, 28 3 Sewell : Hisiorical Tnseriptions p.: 183.
1 MAR, 1920 : Paxt {, p, 11,

{106 ]



ORIGIN OF THE EMPIRE

belonging to Udayagiri in our kingdom,” and speaks of
¢ the villages of the Kandukiiri sima.’ It is evident that
the highest district was durge; and sima, nddu and
sthala came after it. This is not improbable; for the
Reddi inscription already mentioned brings to our notice
a similar organisation ; it refers to the village of Rama-
tirtham in the Ammanavabroli sima, in the Sridaila
bhami. * The internal organisation of the Kakatiya
kingdom is thus seen to be similar to that of Vijaya-
nagara. This similarity could not have been the result
of accidental development; for the same kind of
organisation was also oblaining in the kingdom of
Kondavidu, which was established by one of the
officers of Prataparudra 1I, in a part of the Kakatiya
dominions, The existence of the same administrative
divisions arranged more or less in a similar fashion
points to some intimate connection between the king-
doms of Warrangal and Vijayanagara which has not
yet been recognised. Probably the founders of
Vijayanagara, like PrGlaya Veéma Reddi, were also
in the service of the Kakatiyas.

One interesting point should be noticed in this
connection. Sthala and rdjya, as pointed out already,
are occasionally met with in the Hoysala, the S@upa
and the Cilukya inscriptions; but the term sima is
conspicuous by its absence. It makes its appearance
for the first time during the last days of the K&akatiyas,
and came into universal use under the Reddis and the
Rayas of Vijayanagara. As it was unknown outside
the Telugu country in the pre-Vijayanagara days, its
presence in the inseriptions of the Camnarese districts
during the time of the Rayas shows that it was intro-
duced by them when they established their mastery

* MAR, 1920 Part 1, p. 11,
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over the Karnfta country. Stma, therefore, indicates
that the organisation of administrative divisions of
which it was a part originally came into vogue on the
east coast, and it gradually spread westwards with
the expansion of the kingdom of Vijayanagara.

Section 8 :—(b) The Nayakara System:—The word
niynkara or ndyankare is familiar to all students of
Vijayanagara institutions. It was the name given to
the tenure under which the ndyakas or the amara-
niyakas, as they were sometimes oalled, held land of
the Rayas. The features of this tenure are made
familiar to us by Nuniz who seems to have studied it
with some care.

“ All the land belongs to the king, and from his
hand the captains hold it.” * ¢ These nobles are like
renters who hold all the land from the king.” ¢ They
are obliged to maintain six lakhs of soldiers, that is
six hundred thousand men and twenty six thousand
horses.” ¢ They are obliged fo maintain” several
elephants. In addition to these, * they also pay to him
every year sixty lakhs of rents as royal dues.” +

The Raya distributed land among his n@yakas so
that they might maintain troops for his service. They
had to provide him with foot soldiers, horses, and
elephants ; moreover, they were obliged to pay a tax on
their holdings. If they failed to fulfil any one of these
conditions, they were severely dealt with, and their
estates were confiscated by the government. §

This method of distributing land among the
nZyakas was in practice since the early days of the

* Sewell ;: FE, p, 879,
f aﬁﬁ b 87&: x M- P 389-
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First Dynasty. An inscription dated 1839 mentions a
certain Poddilapalli Singama N&yaka who held the
village of Dhénuvakonda as his niykara. * According
to another dated 1352, the son of the Maldsdvanii-
dhipati Balavankada Anki Nayaka was holding Afijadu-
nadu as his n@yakara. T Another dated 1392 refers
probably to the na@yakara of Tirumalangtha, the
grandson of Teppada Nagannpa.} Another dated
1412 alludes to Somagandanahalli of Hirasu nadu
‘belonging to the office of nayaka’ of Hiriya Mudiya
Nayaka. § Another dated 1418 refers to ITammira
nidu *‘ belonging to the office of nyaka’ of Jaka
Mudde Nayaka. q

The Nayakara System has been hitherto regarded
as an institution peculiar to the kingdom of Vijaya-
nagara. No trace of niiyakara can be discovered in
the numerous records of the Hoysalas, the S&unas and
the Calukyas. A study of the inscriptions of the
K3akatiyas brings to light the source from which the
Rayas of Vijayanagara got this system of land tenure.
It is stated in an inscription of 1279 that Rudr@mba
granted some place (name effaced) as niyenkara to
Bolli Nayaka who was her body-guard. [[ According to
a Ganapavaram epigraph dated 1292, PrataZpakumara
Rudradéva Maharija granted some place as his
ndyankara to MahGpradhini Gangidéva. ** Another

» NDI, ii. O. 85,

t EC. ix. Dv.20. @, weody, o M.

t EC. x. Bg.18. IR Hews.

§ EC. ix An, 44, 33, moodhe® d3tNeadd. ’

1 ZC. ix An. 4. *¢ @y meodhe 3riRess.
| 77, Vol. iv. 705 (4R, 254 of 1892).
*& Telingtipa Tuscripiions: Kikatlya 43,
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from Mellacerunvu dated 1811 mentions the ndyankara
which Pratiparudraddva Maharaja granted to a
certain Cami Yeyrapreggeda. * Another inscription
of the same date coming from Damagallu in the
Kurnool district mentions two villages which Pratapa-
rudra granted to a certain Videmu XommarZju as
his n@yakara. + A Ganap8ivaram grant of 1313 alludes
to ¢ Velanati niyaka-sthala vrili’ which the Kiakatiya
king gave to his angarakgas Polaya Nayadu and Kali
Nayadu. ¥ Lastly, a Penumalli epigraph of 1814
records the grant of twenty-two villages which
Prataparudradéva Mahar&ja made to his servant
Erreya, ‘ the gate-keeper of the royal palace,” for his
n@yankara. §

The instances mentioned above make it clear that
n@yankara was an institution which was in existence
during the time of the last two Kakatiya rulers. In
fact, tradition attributes the introduction of this system
to Pratiparudra II. According to the Pratdpacaritra,
Pratiparudra entrusted the defence of his capital to
77 Velama n@yakas, and having divided his kingdom
into seventy-seven districts, he distributed them €
among the nEyekas, so that they might efficiently
perform their task. This tradition appears to be based
on fact; for the Kaluvacsru grant of Anitalli dated
1423 informs us that Kapaya N&yaka, who, subsequent
to the death of Prataparudra, having expelled
Muohammadans, became the king of Telingéna was
served by seventy-five ndyakas. | The real author of
the reform was probably the queen Rudra@mbZ herself.
Tradition might have wrongly attributed its origin to

* 3k4. B0, + LR, xv. p, 287,
Y SZr vol.iv 952 (4R, 138 of 1893). § MER. 131 of 1917.
1 Prastparariira AS PP, vii, p. 2878, I ASP2. ii, p, 107,

[ 110 ]



ORIGIN OF THE EMPIRE

her grandson under whom the Niyakara System came
into force,

Whatever might be the manner in which the
Nayankara System had arisen, there is no doubt that it
came into practice for the first time during the reigns
of the last two Kakatiya monarchs. Since the system
was unknown in every part of South India and Deccan
except in Telingdna, the Rayas of Vijayanagara, must
have inherited it from the rulers of that country.
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THE EARLY VIJAYANAGARA KINGS
AND THE TELUGU COUNTRY

Section 1:—The foregoing study makes it abun-
danily clear that the founders of the Vijayanagara
kingdom came from the Telugu country included in
the erstwhile Kakatiya kingdom. But an objectiion is
urged against the ¢ Telugu origin’, on the ground that
both Bukka I and Harihara II are said to have defeated
the Andhras and the Kalingas. Since no vietory over
the Andhras is mentioned in the inscriptions of
Haribara I, it has been suggested that after the death
of Harihara, *the Andhra country apparently rebelled
against Bukka I’ This was the first of a series of re-
bellions which did not terminate before 1401. ¢ These
rebellions of the Telugu country against early Vijaya-
nagara rulers prove that the latter were not acknow-
ledged by the Telugus, a thing which can hardly be
believed, if the family of Sangama is supposed to be a
Telugu family.” *

To meet the objection in a satisfactory manner, it
is necessary to discuss the history of the Telugu
country after the fall of Warrangal in 1823. Barni
states that the kingdom of Tilang was annexed to the
empire of Delhi. ¢ The name of Arangal,” he says,
* was changed into Sultdnpiir, and all the country of
Tilang was congquered.” Prataparudrs II was taken

¥ Horas : The Baginnings : pp. 118-121, Fr. Heras inferprets literally the
conventional verses which appear in most of the Inscriptions describing the
mythical conquests of the dongrs, This method of interpretation, if followed
logically, would Jaad to absuzd conclusions. Scholars who are not familiar with

the hyperholic descriptions indulged in by the authors of the grafaestis should be
crutions, if they want to syoid mistakes, in attempting to interprst them,
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prisoner, and despatched to Delhi under the charge of
Malik Bedar who had been ecreated Kadar Khan, and
Khwija Haji, naib of arizé mamalik'; * but according
to Shams-i-Siraj Afif, Pratiparudra, ¢the rdja of
Telingana’ ¢‘died on the road’ to Delhi. ¥ It would
seem, therefore, that the Telugu country was subju-
gated, and the last of the Kakatiyas died, while being
marched to Delhi as a prisoner in 1323. As a matter
of fact, however, Pratiparudra seems to have lived
probably until 1830; £ and the kingdom of the
Kakatiyas not only did not perish with the fall of
Warrangal, but survived a few years longer, when it
appears to have succumbed to the forces of disinte-
gration which usually attacked Indian kingdoms after
some great disaster.

The political condition of the Telugu country after
the fall of the K&katiyas is described in an inscription
dated 1423 A.D., ie. exactly a century after the
capture of Warrangal by the Mussalmans. Though
the information, contained in the record should be
considered tradition, its correctness is vouchsafed by
contemporary documents. * After Pratiparndra (II)
died in freedom, his kingdom was occupied by the
Mussalmans. Then Prolaya Nayaka rescued the earth
from the Muhammadans, just as Varfha rescued it
{rom the waters of the ocean. When PrGlaya became
the guest of the swarga (i.e., died), Kapaya Nayaks,
whose valour resembled that of the Sun, assamed
control over his kingdom by the command of Vidvas-
vara. Then king Kipaya whose lotus feet were served
by seventy-five ndyakas protected the earth by the
mercy of Vidvédvara. King Kapaya not only restored
to Brahmans, the agrahi@ras which were seized by the
Muhammadans, but granted them several afresh. When

* ED, i, p.233. + ikdd. p. 337, 1 NDJ i Kr. 28,
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Kipaya went to heaven to serve the feet of Vifvéévara
whom he had already served in varions ways on earth,
the ndyakas retired to their respective places where
they began to rule independently.” *

The first point that deserves attention in the above
passage is the condition of Pratiparudra at the time
of his death. It is said that he died ®in freedom ’,
although the evidence of the Muhammadan historians
would have us believe that the event took place while
he was in captivity. Surprising as the statement is, it
does not seem to be altogether void of truth. Accord-
ing to an inscription of Santamagalfiru, Praiiparudra
was ruling in 1326. 1 Another inscription dated
1330 registers the grant of land to the temple of
Bhramaramgsvara of Arumirugulla by the king
himself. } These inscriptions make it eclear that
Prataparudra was not only alive after 13828, but
was ruling his kingdom. How is it possible to
reconcile this inference with the explicit statement of
Shams-i-Sirgj Afif that Prat@parudra died in captivity
on his way to Delhi? There seems to be but one
way out of the difficulty. If it be supposed that an
attempt was made by the subjects of the captive king
to liberate him from the oustody of the officers to
whom his safe conduct was entrusted, and that this
attempt resulted in a promiscuous fight, during the
course of which the prisoner had disappeared, the
officers mighi assume that he died in the fight, and
report accordingly to the Sultin. And the historian,
Siraj Afif who obtained his information from the
court, might have incorporated it in his work believing
that it was accurate. It is not improbable that what
actually had taken place was similar to what has been

* ASPP, il. pp. 93-112,
+ MER. 808 of 1918. 1 Moz, it, Kr. 28.
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suggested. According to an old tradition, Pratiparudra
who was imprisoned by the Mussalmans, was subse-
quently released. * Singama of the Récarla family,
one of the officers of Prat@parudra bore the title,
r@yabandivimdcaka or the liberator of the king from
captivity. + Since this title ia mentioned in the ing-
criptions of the Récarla family as early as 1369 it iy
not unlikely that Singama must have performed some
action to deserve it.  As Pratiparndra was made
captive only once, it is probable that Singama should

have earned the title, by securing his release on the
ocoasion.

Of the successors of Pratdparudra mentioned in
the inscription of 1428, not much is known. No doubt
the names of Prolaya and Kapaya are mentioned in a
few epigraphs of the time; § bnt nothing of import-
ance is recorded about their doings. The period of
their rule appears to have been very short, as several
independent kingdoms came into being by 1385, or a
little later. The most important of them were the king-
doms of (1) Warrangal, (2) Racakonda, (3) Kopdavidu,
and (4) Korukonda. As all these states excepting the
last came into intimate confact with the kingdom of
Vijayanagara, & brief account of each of them may
not be out of place.

Section 2:— (1) Warrangal. — Warrangal, and
together with it, the provinece of Telingiina properly
go called remained in the hands of the Mussalmans
until 1844. Sultin Muhammad who visited the place
in 1386 made fresh arrangements for the government
of the province. He divided Telingfina into two
districts and appointed separate officers to govern

* of. ASPP, iil pp. 60-61, + FV. Muic, Mas, 14-4-17
T VPG App, 4 p. 24, § S7L tv, 980; Ths Sujatei, 2,
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them. * According to the new arrangement, Nusrat
Xhan became the ruler of the western district with his
capital at Bidar; and Malik Makbil or Ki&bil took
charge of the eastern district, having his headquarters
at Warrangal. Sult&n Muhammad seems to have shown
much wisdom in the choice of the new governors,
especially the latter. Malik Makbiil was an Andhra by
birth, and he was known as Kattn before he became a
follower of the Prophet. It is said that he wae ‘a man
of high position in his tribe, and he had attracted the
favour of the #3i of that country.’ He was one of those
who were taken prisoners to Delhi after the capture of
Warrangal. When he reached the metropolis, he pre-
sented himself to the Sultdn, ¢and made his profession
of the Muhammadan faith. . ... The Sultan gave him
the name of Makbiil > on conversion, and perceiving ‘in
him many marks of sagacity and intelligence made
him deputy-Wazir of Delhi’” + His appointment as
the governor of Warrangal was probably due to the
Saltan’s belief that Malik Makbiil who was a son of the
soil would be able to exercise the imperial authority
in the conquered province more suceessfully than a
complete stranger. The hopes of the Sultin were not
fulfilled ; for Makb@il had to face the strong opposition
of the Hindu chiefs. One of them whom the Muham-
madan historians variously call, Kanya Nayak, Kanya
Paik, Kaba Niyand and Krspa Nayak *gathered
strength in the country,’ and stirring up a revolt,
forxced Makbiil, the natd wazier to flee to Delhi in or
about 1344,

Who was this Kanya Nayak? § According to
Ferishta who refers to him as Kryna Nayak, he was a

* ED, il p, 243. + #d. pp. 367-8.
1 #dd, p. 248, § App. C. Note on Kanya Nayak.
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son of Prat@parudra and headed a successful rebellion
against the Sultan, and having expelled the governor
from Telingfina, as noticed alveady, he established
himself at Warrangal. Later on he aided Zafar Khan
to overthrow the Sultin’s authority at Dévagiri; but
when Zafar became the king of Gulburga under the
name of Alg-ud-Din Hasan Gtangu Bahmani, the old
friendship was forgotten, and Krspa Niyak had
to defend himself against Al&-ud-Din’s invasions.*
Notwithstanding the surrender of some territory to
Alg-ud-Din, Krspa Nayak was able to hold his own
against the Mussalmans. Therefore, Krsna Nayak
played an important part in the history of Telingana
about the middle of the fourteenth century. In fact,
he re-established the Hindu independence in the
country, and maintained it successfully for nearly
thirty years in spite of the persistent attacks of the
Mussalmans.

Kanya or Krspa Niyak could not have been the
king of the Teling&s whom Bukka I and Harihara Il
vanquished. In the first place, Kanya was a relation
of their family. Secondly, they would not have been
so unwise as to invite the hostility of the king of
Telingana who, in virtue of his position in the flank of
the Bahmani kingdom, could render to them valzable
gervices, by thwarting Muslim designs uwpon their
territories. As a matter of fact, there seems to have
existed some sort of understanding between the royal
houses of Warrangal and Vijayanagara. There is reason
to believe that the rebellions of Warrangal and Kambila
(the later Vijayanagara) against the Sult&n of Delhi
were interconnected. The friendship which sprang up
at this time was kept up, and whenever the Muham-
madans became aggressive, the kings of Warrangal and

® Bnigg's Ferdskia. 1i. p. 298,
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Vijayanagara combined their forces to check them.
Soon after the aceession of Muhammad Shak
Bahmani I, the Hinda bankers of his kingdom,
instigated by the kings of Warrangal and Vijayanagara,
melted down the gold ecoins which he had recently
struck. This act o enraged Muhammad Shah that he
put to death several of the offenders. Sometime after
this, ¢the rZjas of Beejanuggur and Tulingana
demanded restitution of the territories wrested from
them,’ by Al&-ud-Din Hasan Gangn. Muhammad Shah
remained silent until he felt strong, and then des-
patched ambassadors to both the Hindu eapitals to
demand tribute. * The rdja of Tulingina upon this
depnted his son Vin&yak Dév with an army to recover
Kaulds, while the rdje of Beejanuggur sent a con-
siderable force to co-operate.” * These events which
took place before 1862, show that at the time friendly
relations obfained between Warrangal and Vijaya-
nagara, and no war took place between them until
then.

Kanya Nayak suoffered heavily in his war with
Muhammad Shah. He sustained defeats in several
engagements, and had to surrender the distriect of
, Gdlkonda in addition to large sums of money paid as
“war indemnity and tribute. 7 His troubles, however,
were not at an end; for, the Velamas of Ricakopda
who seem to have enfered into an alliance with the
Muhammadans most unpatriotically invaded his king-
dom at the rame time. Flis affairs seem to have
reached a erisis. He was completely exhausted owing
to his war with the Mussalmans. His friend, the king
of Vijayanagara was not in a position to gend him
asgistance on accomnt of the invasion of his kingdom
by the Bahmani Sultén. Therefore, he could offer little

v Eeg's Fardehta. fi, p. 801, + 4243, i1, pp. 303-T;
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or no resistance to the invaders. Anapdta, the chief of
Racakonda marched into his kingdom, and captured
Warrangal, -Bhuvanagiri, and Singapura sometime be-
fore 1369.* In a battle that was fought at Bhimavaram
he was killed by Mada, the brother of AnapGta. T

Section 3:— (2) Racakonda :- The Velamas of
the Récarla family who were in the service of the
Kakatiya kings for generations were in possession of
the mountainous tract in the Nalgonda district of the
present Hyderabad state. Their capital Ricakonda
from which the kingdom later derived its name was
surrounded by a ring of hills which made its position
very nearly impregnable. The exact extent of the
territory which was under their control is not yet
ascertained. The first historical person of the family
is Prasaditya who was a contemporary of Gangapati
and his daughter Rudramba. § His sons Venna and
Sabbi distingunished themselves as great warriors
during the reigns of Rudr@mb&, and her successor,
Pratiparudra. § Yarra Dacha, the son of Venna,
served in Prat@parudra’s campaigns against the
Pandyas. § His cldest son Singama appears to have
fought with the Muhammadans, and secured the liberty
of Prataparudra whom they were carrying away as a
prisoner to Delhi. Singama seems to have asserted his
independence about 1335. Then began a period of
bloody feuds and petty warfare among the various
nobles of the country; and they went on unchecked for
several decades owing to the uninterrupted progress of
anarchy. Singama who seems to have been an

® VVC. App. 4.p. 24,

+ PP Mac, Mss: 14417, Dalswwdd TRy uod pfwoe
aher 7SRRI S cr oY | T e DGR . .. By

t ¥#PC pp.1i-12. § f6id. pp. 15-16, \| 4#d. pp, 2223,
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aggressive restless sort of person was assassinated by
the Ksatriyas at the fort of Jallipalli which he was
besieging ; * and he was succeeded by Anapdia, his
eldest son. The date of AnapGta’s accession to the
throne is not known. According to one writer the
event took place in 1344, + This date should be
considered too early; for Singama, his father is said to
have defeated king Kapaya whose earliest inscription
is dated in 1846. } Therefore AnapGta’s accession
must have taken place a little later.

Anapcta adopted the aggressive policy of his
father. He is said to have subdued several forts, and
extended the boundaries of his principality. Very
soon he came into conflict with two states, Warrangal
in the north-east and Kondavidu in the south. Although
Miada the brother of Anapta is said to have defeated
the Reddis of Konpdavidu at DannalakGia, he does
not seem to have secured any material advantage. §
However, his war with Kanya Nayak of Warrangal was
more successful. AnapGia was probably in league with
the Bahmani Sultdn. He seems to have attacked Kanya
while he was engaged in a war with Muhammad Shah
Bahmani I, and succeeded sometime before 1369 in
capturing Warrangal, Bhuvanagiri, and other places.
It was probably on this occasion that Kanya Nayak
met his death while fighting with Mada, as already
mentioned, || Therefore, Anapdta’s dominions were
congiderably extended, as a consequence of this yar.

It ia maid that AnapSia’s reign came to an end in
1880 ; but he seems to have ruled for some more years;

* 7YPC p. 3L + Virabhadra Row: &4, iil, p 20.
1 S§47, iv. 960, 8§ ¥PC. p. 81
% #id Agp. A, § PV, Mac, Ms», 14 -4-17

®
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for according to the history of the Velugdti family,
he inflicted a defeat on the armies of the king of
Vijayanagara. * Now this event could have taken place
only in 1384, when the Vijayanagara king invaded
Telingdna for the first fime. An epigraph belonging to
the reign of Harihara II of Vijayanagara dated in that
year states that when Bukka II went with the army ‘to
the Orugal country, the Turukas came and attacked
him at Kottakonda.’  From the association of the
Muhammadan attack on Kottakonda with the despatch
of the expedition to Warrangal, it may appear that
Warrangal belonged fo the Muhammadans; bnt
Warrangal and the surrounding country was not
conquered by the Bahmani Sult@os until 1424.%1 It
should have been still in the possession of the Velamas
who conquered it about 1869. If AnapGta fought with
the armies of Vijayanagara, he could have done so
only after 1884. Therefore, his death should have
taken place sometime later, The object of the
expedition was probably to punish AnapGta for the
conguest of the territories of Kanya Nayak, an ally of
the Raya of Vijayanagara. Since the Muhammadans
attempted to prevent the army from reaching
‘Warrangal, it is reasonable 1o believe that there existed
at the time some sort of alliance between the
Racakonda chiefs and the Sulians of Gulbwrga.
Nevertheless, Bukka seems to have won a victory
over the Velama chiefs; for Lakgmanaefirya, the

LR 1.1 wa,;a’o' Yo 500 xg*é.aﬂm x¥sbox.” rre, p. 40,

t ZC. xii, Ck, 18, This place 18 in the N, W, of Warrangal, (Sewsll:
Historical Iscriptions p. 203),

I Forishta il, p. 406. Sews)l is of opinion that this event fook place
in 1364, ‘when the Bahmani forces finally destroyed the Kikatiya kingdom
of Warrangal,! Hirtorical Inscriptions p, 203, But this opinion is contradioted
by Ferishta and the inscriptions
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prapdeirya of Bukka states in his Vaidyardjavallabha
that his patron ¢ conquered the Andhra kings.’ #

The kingdom of Racakonda was divided into two
halves during the reign of AnapGta. One half with the
capital Racakonda was directly under Anapota’s rule;
and another with the important fort of D&varakonda
was governed by M&da, his younger brother. + Anapdta
was succeeded at Racakonda by his son Singama II
who became famous as an author and patron of men
of letters. § Mada was succeeded by his son Pedda
Vedagiri. § It was during the time of this prince
that the Vijayanagara army invaded Teling&na for the
second time. The expedition was commanded by one
of Harihara’s capable officers called Gunda or Gunda
Dandanatha. It is stated in an epigraph of Yarragudi-
dinne in the Kurnool district dated 1370 A.D. that
Gundsa was the son of a certain Salakaladsva, and
that he was the lord of Alampura. ¥ According
to another inscription in the K&Savaswami temple
at Bglir, Gunda conquered Aundhra in addition to
several other countries enumerated therein. || In his
Andhra campaigns, he seems to have been greatly
helped by .a certain Gonka Raddi Nayaka; and in
recognition of his services Gunda secured for Gonka
the governorship of Mullan&du in Coorg. ** Although
Gunda claims victory over the Andhras, Pedda
Veédagiri seems to have defeated and driven him back.
The date of this expedition is not ascertained yet.
As the inscription of Gtonka Raddi is dated in 1390,
Gunda’s expedition against the Andhras may be
assigned to an earlier date,

* MAR, 1919 p, 83, + 7¥C. p. 88, % #id. p. B9,
¥ d p, 51 ff, % LR, 40 p, 209,
| EC v.BLS, e {bd. i, Cg 89,
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The hostility between the rulers of Vijayanagara
and Racakonda continued for another quarter of a
century or more until Davaraiya I by following a
policy of conciliation won the permanent friendship
of the Velamas. The history of the relations between
Ricakonda and Vijayanagara subsequent to the death
of Harihara II does not concern us here as they fall
outside the period of our enquiry.

Section 4:—(3) Kondavidu: Prglaya Véma, the
founder of the Reddi kingdom of Kondavidu was an
officer under Pratiparudra II. On the death of his
master, he attempted to seize the Telugu country south
of the Kysna ; but was only partly successful, as he was
able to establish his authority over a limited area only,
extending from the river Kygpa to Kandukiir in the
north of the Nellore district and from the Bay of
Bengal to the Sy1saila mountain in the Kurnool district.
Lurge portions of Nellore, Kurnool, Anantapfir, and
Bellary districts and the whole of Cuddapah over which
Pratiparudra ruled appear to have slipped out of his
hands, on account of circumstances which have not yet
come under our purview. If after the death of Pratipa-
rudrh anarchy were prevailing here, as in the other
parts of the kingdom, PrSlaya Véma would not have
fonnd it difficult to subjugate this region =also. His
failure to bring under his sway the whole of the
southern Telugn country, especially Nellore which was
the birth-place of his family, * points to the existence
of gome obstacle which he could not overcome. Some

* The following passage of SrinTtha describes the quarter in which tha
Reddis of Kondavidu ongmally rose to promnence,

s BEHY LoD HORSOT § bnsey polr6goB 5 Hobd Hieasion
Y B BFoms i ShFow $HLROD BB Y HIKY MPeg® XoF
Soediiriomes  dapTKome lgnuwnsggeﬂés&-oéwﬁum
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ten years later, this area was included in the dominions
of the Rayas of Vijayanagara. It is not unreasonable
to suppose that they were in possession of it from the
time of Pratdparudra. This, however, is a mere sug-
gestion, and it may be taken for what it is worth.

Whatever be the causes which prevented Prolaya
Véma from imposing his yoke over the whole of the
southern Telugu country, he managed to hold what he
seized until 1850. According to one writer, he declared
his independence at Vinukonda about 1828. * As he
pushed his conquests eastwards, he appears to have
found it to be unsuitable as his capital; therefore,
he shifted the head-quarters of his government to
Addanki, at present a village in the OngGle talika
of the Guntiir district.

Prolaya Vema could not have been very friendly
with the Rayas of Vijayanagara. He wanted to acquire
as much territory as he could conquer in the southern
Telugu country; and the Rdyas seem to have felt an
irvesistible attraction towards the Kygpa. Although
no outbreak of war between the two states is recorded,
Prolaya Véma seems to have sustained some loss of
territory. The district of Vinukonda belonged, as
already moticed, to him from the day on which he laid
‘the foundations of his new kingdom ; but it passed into
the hands of Bukka I sometime before 1352. ¥+ This
transference of territory counld not have been eflected
by peaceful means.

Ao mibmous  (a0cK  fEmoXe~polint® ($Foxs Fdrwy
B, »
reTry Wes  Hy ABY gubeo ahr-asﬁ*(_ﬁ'a?snb'%uo o=,
Bhim&svarapuripem 1: 31,
* VirSialingam Pantole:  Z%e Lives af Poets p. 66, (1911 Edition),
1' m! ﬁil Klt 561 580
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Prolaya Véma was succeeded by his eldest son,
Anapota. He ruled for a period of twelve years from
1350 to 1362. His reign was on the whole prosperous,

,notwithstanding his frequent wars with the Velamas of
Racakonda. For some reason, unknown at present,
he was obliged to change the head-quarters of his
government. The capital of the kingdom was at first
Addanki in the Ongdle t&liika of the Guntiir district.
Anapsta abandoned this city, and repaired to the wild
hilly tract in the north-east of Palndd, where he built a
fort on the top of a rock. * This was the famous fort
of Kopdavidu which was destined to play an important
part in the history of the east-coast during the next
two or three centuries. The change of the capital was
probably due to the ever-increasing pressure of the
governors of Udayagiri upon his southern frontier,
AnapGta died in 1862 and was succeeded by his
younger brother Anavéma. During his reigm, there
appears to have been some trouble in the northemn
districts of the kingdom. The country between the
rivers Kygna and G-5d@vari was included in the Reddi
kingdom sinoe the days of his father; there seems to
have been a rebellion in this region; for according to
one of his inscriptions at Sridailam, AnavEma destroyed
Ra&jamabendrapurs, Niravadyapura and other sthals-
durgas. Having ruled for a period of nineteen years,
Anavéma died in A, D, 1881, and was succeeded by
his nephew Kumaragiri. The decline of the Reddi
kingdom began with the accesgion of Kuméragiri. He
was a lover of ease and pleasure. In spite of the efforts
of Kitaya-Véma, his brother-in-law and minister, he

® Zilot Colletion : p. 370, PrabhRkara Sastri: Syngdra Srintitham, p. 62,

Tatinnapdia nypatih patuh pilans harmand

Apilayar tasya putrel temdami@ndhra vasundhiarim ||
Kongavigum r¥adkinim savicitidn akalpayat

Dratul twagtdpd vaiciiryam abkidyacydh saviomayal |
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lost a good deal of territory within four or five years
of his accession. Harihara II conquered the regions
surrounding Srisailam and Tripur@ntakam before 1886
and his son DEvardya who became the governor of
Udayagiri about 1380, captured the old Reddi capital,
and annexzed the territory along the east-coast extend-
ing as far as Motupalli before A.D. 1890.* As a
consequence of these aggressions, Kumaiaragiri Reddi
lost nearly one third of his dominions; but he managed
to keep his authority over the rest until 1403 A. D,
when he seems to have died.

The internal affairs of the kingdom of Vijaya-
nagara soon offered an opportunity for the ruler of
Kondavidu to recover what he had lost. During the
last years of Harihara II, there seems to have been
much uncertainty about the succession to the throne.
Harihara II had several sons whom he employed as
the governors of provinces. Three of them, princes
D&varaya, Immadi Bukka, and Virfipapna rose to
prominence, and each of them entertained hopes of
ascending the throne. D&variya or Praudha Dévaraya,
as he is sometimes called, was the crown prince and he
was the governor of the important fortress of Udayagiri
from 1382 onwards. Immadi Bukka was a famous
warrior, and he was governing the province of Mulbagal
about 1891, Virtipanna was the governor of the
Tamil country from 1380 onwards and he succeeded
to the power and influence of Kampana II,

* The last Reddr mecuptions at Tripurintakam and Srifailam are dated m
A.D. 1366, and 1377 respectively. (J7rZR, 185 of 1908 , 20 of 1915). The earliest
of tha Vijayanagara inscriptions at Tripurintakam is dated in 1386 (K ER, 257
of 1008) ; and slthongh the earliest Vijayanagara record at SriSailam is dated in
A, D, 1893 (MER, 49 of 1918), 1t would have besn impossible for the Regddis to
maintain thelr authority here sfter they lost their hold on TripurIntakam,
Divariya's sonquest of Addanki is indicated in one of lus copper-plate grants;
{MDL i Cpa 1); and his eoptrol aver the east-coast as far as MBtupalll 1z

shown by the charter which he granted to the merchants of that gen-port
towe, (LF. 44, pp. 42229,
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According to an old record, Harihara II secms
to have fallen ill sometime before 1404.* On hearing
the news of his illness, all his three sons mentioned
above, hastened to Vijayanagara, so that they might
watch their  respective  interests personally. ¥
Harihara II died in 1404; 1 and his death seems to
have been followed by the outbreak of a civil war
which disturbed the peace of the kingdom during
the next two years. §

The internal distirbances did not fail to attract the
attention of the enemies of Vijayanagara. Feroz Shah,
the Sultain of Gulburga, invaded the Raictir doab ¥
and the Reddis, taking advantage of the absence of the
army from Udayagiri, invaded that province in 1406
and occupied it for sometime. The Reddi forces which
were commanded by Cenn& Reddi-Ann& Reddi-Mallg
Reddi subdued the districts of Pottapi and Pulugula
nadu. || They thus had the satisfaction of turning
the tables over their enemies. The expulsion of the
Reddis and the reconquest of Udayagiri by Dévaraya I
are subjects that do not come under the scope of the
present discussion.

‘What has been said so far is enough to emtablish
the identity of the Andhra enemies of Bukka I and
Harihara JI, They were the Velamas of R&cakonda,

* LR, 22. p. 166. + #id, 32, p. 166. cf, LR, 17, p, 178,
1 EC.vin Ti 129

§ Hanhara's successor DEvariya I did not ascend the throne until Sake 1329
Sorvafit, Kritika bz 10 Thursday (ZR 13. p. 257, Markipuram). In an wmseription
of A.D. 1406, it is said that he was permanently placed on the thrune
{EC, x. Pg.33), In another (EC, %, Mb, 175) he 15 said to have been perma-
nenily anomted to the throne of Vijayanagara.

9 Sewell : T%e Forgetien Empire p. 60.

[ ZR. 22, p. 166, (Inscnption at Tangair in the Cuadappah Dt) ;
BMER, 438 of 1911,
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and the Reddis of Kondavidu. The former, it shounld
be moled, had the title of Andkra-desadhifvara. *
Bukka I and his son waged wars on them not to
suppress any rebellion, but to destroy their inde-
pendence by econguering their respective kingdoms.
The Telugu people of the southern and the western
districts never rose up in rebellion against them but
remained submissive to them and their descendants.
Therefore, the subjugation of the Andhras mentioned
in the inscriptions of Bukka I and Harihara II cannot
at all be said to be incompatible with their Telugu
origin, gs the conquered Telugu country belonged to
the kingdoms of Racakonda and Kondavidu.

* PVC. App. Inscription 8 p. 26, g B Gpues-iHyisos ¥¥'sY omeo
0308 % T WokBW (Fdn 3&(5? F 8o & @&585*&05'3536
so;_&‘&rﬁi‘sa’ «0a 0 DO oas UV e F4E mvaSDOTS.
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CnaprrER V.

THE EXPANSION OF THE KINGDOM OF
VIJAYANAGARA,

Section 1:—The tract of territory over which Vira
Kampiladgva ruled should be regarded as the nucleus
around which the empire of Vijayanagara had grown
up; for it was entrusted to Harihara I by Sultin
Mghammad a few years after he had overthrown
Kampila. The date on which Sultin Muhammad
appointed Harihara as the governor of the conquered
country is not known. In the light of the information
supplied by the Muhammadan historians, it can only
be said that Harihara was appointed sometime between
1827 and 1844. However, a study of Harihara’s
inseriptions may enable use to sscertain the date more
precisely. According to the Kapaliir plates, he was
reigning at Kufijarakona in 1336, * As this grant is
declared spurious, the date it supplies may not be
considered trustworthy; but it is not improbable that
Harihara should have been ruling the counfry then; for
according to the Afakalagunda + and the B&dami }
inscriptions dated 1889-40, he was the lord of extensive
territories which he had conquered extending from the
eastern to the western sea. It would have taken at
least some two or three years to effect the conguest of
the land lying between the Bay of Bengal and the
Arabian Sea. In that case, he should have been ruling
the kingdom of Kampils either from 1836 or the next
year. 'T'hat coincides roughly with the date supplied
by the Kapaliir and the Yerragudi plates. § Therefore,

* NDJ, Cp.15. ¥+ LR. 35 pp. $3-38.
t 74, x, p, 68, § EC, x, Bg.70.
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it may be assumed, at the present state of our know-
ledge, that TIarihara’s appointment should have taken
place in A. D. 1836 or even a little earlier.

The exact extent of territory which the Sultan
enfrusted to his care i8 not known; but it may be
safely assumed that it included almost the whole of
the present Bellary district, and a portion of the doab
between the Tungabhadra and the Krgna. A close
scrutiny of Harihara’s inscriptions shows that he rapidly
extended his dominions by conquering the lands of his
neighbours, and that the process of conquest gradually
gpread from the east to the west. It is stated in an
inscription at Syngéri* dated 1846 that Harihara had
conquered *the earth from the eastern to the western
ocean.’ Marapa ¢ acquired a kingdom in the west’ from
Kallasa. ¥ This conquest of f the earth from the eastern
to the western ocean’ should have been completed be-
fore 1339-40 ; for in the Atakalagunda and the Badami
ingeriptions referred to above, Harihara assumes the
significant title of * Parva-Padcima-Samudrddhipati,’ or
¢ the lord of the eastern and the western ocean’. As
the kings of Vijayanagara never maintained a fleet to
control the seas, the expression should be taken to mean
the sovereignty of the land bordering on both the seas.
As a maiter of fact, Harihara I was ruling on both the
coasts about 1840, According to a Kodavaliirn epigraph,
Kampana I was ruling in the Nellore distriet in 1847, §
Another epigraph near the Buggabhfivi at Udayagiri
dated 1348, records a gift of Kampana to a deity. §
Therefore, Kampana’s rule over Udsayagiri should
have begun either in 1842 or a little earlier. Now,
Bukks I had a son of the name of Viripanna. €

* ZC. v Sgv 1. EC. vni, Sb, 875,
t ¥D7. i, N, 28, § ZR. 46, pp, 236-87,
‘ -Eeu ml TII 1“ 38| ﬂ' 12&'
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The term ‘Uddagiri’ is frequently prefixed to his
name in his inseriptions. ¢ Uddagiri’ is the contracted
form of Udayagiri. In order to acquire the epithet
¢ Uddagiri,’ he must have been either born in the place,
or should have been its governor for sometime. If he
was born at Udayagiri, when could the event have
happened ? Virfipanna was posted in 1844 to Penu-
gonda * which Harihara I or his brother Bukka
conquered from the Hoysalas between 1340 and 1344.
They would not have placed a conquered district under
the charge of an infant, If it be assumed that
Viripappa was at least ten years old at the time of his
appointment as the commandant of the fortress of
Penugonda, he should have been born about 1834 ; and
if his birth took place at Udayagiri, that fort should
have been in the possession of his father at the time.
If, on the other hand, the other alternative is accepted,
Virdpaggpa should have been the governor of Udayagiri
before 1343 ; for the family of Kampana I who began
to rule the district in that year continued to hold it
until 1380 or even later. In order that the name
Udayagiri should become specially essociated with
VirGpannae, he ought to have been connected with the
administration of the provinee for a comparatively
long period of time. In any case, the Nellore distriet
in which Udayagiri is situated, seems fo have ¢ formed
a portion of the original Vijayanagara kingdom.’ +

Section 2 :— The conquest of the west coast was
also effected more or less at the same time. It is
evident from the statement of Ibn Battfita that Konkan
acknowledged the supremacy of Vijayanagara in
1342.1 The conquest of the country should have taken

* Sawell+ L.4. i. p. 119-20. Penugonda 23.
+ NDZI, m. p. 1468,
1 Ibn Batilita: Zrewlr: (Broadway Travellers): p. 230,
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place before that date. Harihara I is said to have
constructed a fort at Barakiirn in 1886 A.D. * As this
statement is based on ftradition whose authenticity
cannot be proved, it may be set aside as unreliable.
There can be little doubt that Harihara invaded South
Canara in 1388. A Hoysala epigraph dated in that year
records a visit of Balldla III to his army stationed at
Barakfirn. ¥ He commanded Ankeya Nayaka, his
general in charge of the army *to remain in Barakfirn.’
When Ankeya replied, “I will stay, Jiya,” Ballala was
so pleased with the answer that he granted him the
village of Aladahalli. It is evident that Barakiiru was
attacked by some enemy in 1388, whom the Hoysala
generals were mnot able fo check. Their position
appears to have become precarious and Balldla
entertained serious doubts about the safety of Barakiiru,
the capital of the district. Therefore, he personally
visited the place to encourage his army, When the
officer Ankeya said that he would stay ai the post of
duty, Ballala was so pleased that he rewarded him with
the grant of a village. This probably indicates the
desperate character of the work which the officer had
undertaken to do in the face of danger. Who was
the enemy that attacked the Hoysalas in this part of
their kingdom ? It is asserted that the Alupas attacked
the Hoysala generals at Barakiiru and that Ballala
went to the place to defend it. ¢ The rulers of Tuluva
were the Alupas, and their capital was Barakiiru. It was
to break the power of the 'Alupas that the Hoysala ruler
visited the Tuluva centre.” £ This, however, iz not
possible. Although the conquest of the Tuluva coan-
try was undertaken by Balldla III as early as 1819, it
could not have been completed before 1333 ; for, none

* Sturrock : Soutk Canara Mawwal, i. p. 65,
+ BC. v, Ak. 183, % Jr. Bom, Ifist, See. il p. 121,
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of his inscriptions bearing an earlier date is found in
South Canara, though several of a later date bave been
noticed all over the district.

Reference.

Date,

Place.

Contents.

ME. R :—
492 of 1928-29

498 0f1928-29

583 of 1930.

122 of 1901.

13838

1334

1336

1386

i

Nilavara,
Udipi
Taltika,

do.

Bailiir,
Udipi
Taldka.

Mudakeri
near
Barakiiru.

14 members of the

assembly of the vil-
lage of Niruvara
made a gift of taxes
on lands to Dwmrga
Bhagavati in the pre-
sence of the gueen
Cikkayi Tayigalu
with the permission
of Vaicappa Dan-
niyaka and other
officers.

Mentions the chief

queen Bukkayi
Tayigalu and the vil-
lage of Niruvara.

Records the grant of

samudiya tax sccru-
ing from the village
of Bayiltiru by the
queen Kikkayi Tayi
to a certain Vasu-
déva Mudaliar ; and
mentions Mahdpra-
dhine Baicappa
Nayaka and Nakhara
Hanjumanas of Bara-
kiru.

Mentions Vaicappa

Dannayaka and
MahZpradhina

| Ajjapa Sahipi.
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Reference. | Date.| Place. Contents.

M. E.R:—
566 of 1930. | 13388 | Hatyan- | Mentions Kotisvara.
gadi,
Coonda-

poor
Taltka.

43 of 1901. 1341 | Gurugala| Mentions Dévappa
basti, Danpayaka.

Mudabi-
dure.

The authority of Balldla, as shown by this
schedule, was recognised wuntil 1341. There is no
indication of an Alupa rebellion during this period.
On the contrary, the Alupas seem to have remained
submissive under hig rule. If, under the circumstances,
Barakiira was threatened by an enemy, that enemy
should have eome from outside. The only foe who
, could have attempted the conqguest of this region was
. Harihara ; therefore, it must have been his invasion of
Barakiira which compelled Ballala III to go to the front.
l51*[: is interesting to note that the queen Kikkayi Tayi,
;mentioned in these insecriptions, played an important
f part in the administration of the Tulu country during
the reigns of both Ballala III and Harihara I. 'Who
was she ? and what was her place in the administrative
machinery of the province? It is suggested that she
was the queen of Ballila III.* This is not improbable.
She was, however, an Alupa by birth. The titles
FPapdyacakravariiy Basavalankara, and Rayagajankusa
which she bore establish her kinship with the Alupa

* MER, 19989, Pt ki, p. Bh
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rulers of Barakiru. * Balldla Il might have married
her for political reasons on his conquest of the territory
of the Alupas. It is interesting to note that this queen
survived Ball@la and became a subordinate of Hariharal.
She was one of Harihara’s subordinates who attended
in 1346 the festival which he celebrated at Syngéri in
honour of his conguest of the earth from ¢ the eastern
to the western ocean,’ On this occasion she granted
to Bharati Tirtha Sripada the village of Hosavir m
Santalige n#du for the maintenance of his servants,
Kikkayi Tayi who was the queen of Ballala III
would not have become a subordinate of the king of
Vijayanagara without a struggle. It is obvious that
the Tulu country was conquered by Harihara L
Although the Hoysalas ruled in parts of South Canara
until 1341, it is not improbable that Harihara’s invasion
should have taken place three years earlier.

Section 3 :—The conquest of the Hoysala King-
dom.—In the opinion of some writers, the founders of
Vijayanagara did not acquire the Hoysala dominions
by conquest, but obtained them as a legacy from a
grateful monarch for meritorious services rendered on
the field of battle. f ¢ Even the feudatory petty kings
who served under the Hoysalas at once transferred
their allegiance to Harihara.” § This is far from the
truth. Harihara I and his brothers had, in faot, to
wage several wars with the Hoysala monarchs and
their dependents before they could establish their
authority over the Hoysala territories.

‘When exactly the struggle between the Hoysalas
and the founders of Vijayasnagara began, it is not
known. By 1888, as pointed out already, war had

* BC.vi, Sg.1; MAR, 1916, p, 87, + dbid,
§ Heras: The Beginuings p. 106, § ikd, p. 190,
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broken out between them in Konkan. At the same
time, hostilities seem to have commenced in the Kolar
district on the eastern frontier of the Hoysala kingdom.
Ballila III seems to have entrusted its defence to
Ballappa, Dappaiyaka, the younger brother of Dati
Singeya Dappiyaka. A few inscriptions bearing dates
from 1887 to 1889 record the grants of some private \
individuals ‘for the success of the sword and arm of
Ballappa Danpayaka.’

-]
Reference. g Donot. Object.
EC. x. Ci. b3[1887|The gre at|“For the vietory to
Padayita Da-] the arm of the great

ppayakar,| minister Dadi Singe-
and the in-| ya Nayakar’s youn-
habitants of| ger brother Ballappa
Periyang@da{ Dagpnayakar.”

EC. x. Xl 54{1339|Davappar of|“ For the success of
Kodambuli-| the  sword and arm
yir. of Syi Podana Vira

Vallgla’s son Periya
Vallappa Dagpnaya-
kar-"

EC. x. Bp. 28|1339|Four subordi-| ¢ For the success of
nates o f| the sword and arm
Ballappal of Dati Singeya
Danna-{ Nayaka'syounger
yaka. brother Ballappa

Dagpnayakar.”

Ballappa Dappiyaka was evidently fighting during

thege years with some enemy who aitacked the Hoysala
kingdom from the east. Who could have been the
enemy against whom he was fighting ? It has been sug-
gested thut the fighting recorded in these inscriptions
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took place in the Nigarili Sﬁlamm,x@alam, a disfrict
included in the CSlamandala. Therefore, these inscrip-
tions are said to ‘referto a war against the Muham-
madans of the south.’ * Nigarili Solamandalam where
the fichting was going on during these years, was not
in Co6lamandala, It was the name by which the present
Kolar district was known during the Hoysala times.
The name was originally given to it by the CGlas in the
tenth or the early eleventh century,  and the Hoysala
monarchs who succeeded them in this part of their
empire preserved the C5la administrative system intact.
Consequently the names which the CGlas gave to the
administrative divisions survived their empire and it
was how the KGolar district came to be known as
Nigarili S5lamandalam during the rule of the Hoysala
monarchs. It is inconceivable how the Muhammadans
of the smouth <. e., of Maduara could have come so far
north as the Kolir distriet and offered baitle to
Ballappa Danp&yaka. If Ballappa fought in K3lar
against the Muhammadans of Muadura in 18387, his
adversary should have been Sheriff Jaldl-ud-Din
Ahsan Shah, the founder of the Madura sultanate. Ibn
Battita, a son-in-law of Jaldl-ud-Din who paid a wvisit
to Madura in 1848 gives an account of the history
of the sultanate of Madura.

¢t Formerly, the country of Ma’bar had submitted
to tha authority of Sultan Muhamwmad of Dihly (Delhi).
A revolt was stirred up amongst his followers by my
father-in-law, the Sheriff Djelaleddin Ahsan Shah
(Sheriff Jaldl-ud-Din Ahsan Shah) who reigned there
for five years, after which he was killed and replaced
by one of his amirs, Alauddin Odeidjy (Ald-ud-Din
Udauji) who governed for one year. At the end of thia

® Jr, Bom, Hidt, Soe 1 p, 121, 1 EC x. Indr, p, 28.
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time he et ont fo conquer the infidels ; he took a consi-
derable amount of riches and ample spoils from them
and returned to his own state. The following year he
led a second expedition against the idolators and routed
them and massacred a large number. The same day on
which he inflicted this disaster upon them it happened
that he took off his helmet in order to drink ; an arrow
shot by an unknown hand struck him and he died
on the field. Hig son-in-law, Kotbeddin (Qutb-ud-Din)
Feroz was placed upon the throne; but as his
conduct was generally disapproved of, he was killed
at the end of forty days. The Sultin Ghiyatheddin
(Ghiyas-ud-Din) was invested with authority, he
married the daughter of the Sultin and Sheriff
Djelaleddin. It is the sister of this same girl that
I had mairied at Dihly (Delhi).” *

The rebellion of Sherifi Jalal-ud-Din broke out in
1885. ¥ In orxder to suppress this rebellion, Sultan
Muhammad marched at the head of an army to Ma’bar.
When he reached Warrangal in 1886, he was stricken
with disease, so that he had to abandon the idea of
going to Ma’bar at the time. } The iroubles of the
Sultin which prevented him in the succeeding years to
resume the campaign could not have been known to
Jalgl-ud-Din in 1887. Therefore, he should have been
expecting the arrival of the Delhi army at any time.
Moreover, Ibn Battfita does not refer to any campaign
of his father-in-law againgt the infidels, although he
takes particular care to record all the expeditions of
Ala-ud-Din Udauji and Ghiy&s-ud-Din, It is unlikely
that Sheriff Jalal-ud-Din should have undertaken an ex-
pedition against the kingdom of Ballala III in the year

¥ South Ind, Mok, I, App. B. 9, 285,
3 Wi g 159, { Bamnly Z2, ii, p. 243,
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succeeding his rebellion. In fact the Muhammadans of
the south did not come into conflict with Balldla until
1340. By that time Jalal-ud-Din was assassinated
and Al&-ud-Din Udauji ascended the throne.

The enemy who attacked the eastern frontier of
the Hoysalas in 1337 should have been the magter
of the adjacent Telugu country. The northern part
of the Anantapir district passed into the hands of
Harihara I before 1840. The fort of Gutti has been
described in an undated epigraph as ‘“the mavel to
the wheel of sovereignty over the whole earth of
the illustrious king Bukka.” * Itis also said that it
increased his fortune. This refers to a period when
Gutti was the centre of the territory over which
Bukka I ruled. After 1340, Bukka began his conquast
of the Hoysala dominions from the east. Very soon
he shifted the head-quarters of his government to
Hosapattana in the Hoysapa country. No doubt, he
had an alternate capital in the Anantapilir district, but
that was no longer Gutti but Penugonda. ¥ Therefore
the Gutti inscription should be assigned to a date
earlier than 1840. This is corroborated by the Atakala-
gunda epigraph of Harihara I dated 1889 in which he
is said {o have been ruling the earth with Gutti as his
nelevidu. $ It follows from this that he was the mas-
ter of the Telugu country to the east of the Hoy-
sala kingdom. Ballappa Dannayaksa should have been
fighting not against the Muhammadans of the south,
but against Bukka I, the most prominent of the five
‘brothers who founded the kingdom of Vijayanagara.

The conquest of the Hoysala kingdom properly so
“called may be said to have begun in 1341. Ballala I
was summoned to his southexn frontier to defend it

* $ILi, p, 167, t MER, 522 of 1906, t ZR,%3.pp 52-58,
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against the inroads of Al&-ud-Din Udauji, the Sultfin of
Madura. Before he left his capital, Balldla IIT is said
to have performed the abhiséka of his son Vira Ballila
Raya * so that in the northern part of the kingdom,
people might not feel the absence of their sovereign,
and forget the obligations of loyalty. Probably, he had
also some sort of presentiment of the disaster which
was to overtake him ere long on the battle-field of
Beribi or Trichinopoly. Having entrusted the king-
dom to the care of a new monarch, and a faithful
body of ministers, he took his departure from Dbora-
samudra never more to return.

In the meanwhile, Sult&n Udauji whose military
activities summoned Ballala III to the south was
amsassinated by an unknown enemy; and he was
ultimately succeeded by Ghiyas-ud-Din who turned
out to be more inhuman than his predecessor. It
was against this raler that Ballala III marched at the
head of his army which ¢exceeded hundred thousand
men. In addition to these, Ballala had in his service
- ¢ twenty thousand Mussalmans.’ No information is
available regarding the operations during the first year
of the war ; but it is certain that nothing serious happen-
ed. At the beginning of the next year, a battle was
fought at a place called Cobban, and the Muohamma-
dans met with a ecrushing disaster. They fled in
confugion to Madura, their capital, leaving the garrison
at Cobban to defend itself as well as it could. ¥ The

* ®C, ix,Bn, 111, If1s extiemely doubiful whether this inscription refers
to the coronation of the son of Ballila, It records a gift of Naraldkaganda
Mayileya Nilyaka's brother Cenneyn NEyaka for the perpetuation of the reign
of his nephew, Mdyileys Niyaka-Cenneya Niyska. The expression * 13-
bhisahamBgalapi ¥ doss not seem to have any connection with what follows at,
and the expression *d2vgra kumdra® gqualifies MakdsBmantidkapnle Naralsha-
fagds K3Jiyn Wiyaks,

§ Soph, dud, Muh, o, Appi B, p, 238,
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defeat of the Muhammadan army left the path o
the interior of the Madura kingdom open ; and Ballla
marched trinmphantly as far as Raméévaram where he
set up a pillar of victory.* Having thus demon-
strated his strength, he returned to Cobban where he
busied himself in attempting to take the place.

The handful of Muhammadans who defended
Cobban against Balldla were hard pressed. Their
supplies were very nearly exhausted. Balldla who
had no desire to kill them offered them safe conduet,
if they would abandon the fort and retire. They
replied that they could not do anything without
consulting their Sultan. Ballala thereupon declared a
truace of fourteen days during which the Muham-
madan soldiers were expected to communicate with
their Sultdn, and obtain his opinion. When the news
of the sad condition of the garrison at Cobban reached
Madura, the Sultin collected a body of 3,000 soldiers
and approached Cobban by rapid marches. Balldla
was off his guard, probably under the notion that the
enemy would not attack him so long as the truce
lasted ; but the Muhammadans who were at Cobban
had no respect for conventions., They suddenly fell
upon the Hindu host during the hour of siesta. Ghiyfs-
ud-Din with his troops appeared on the scena in time
to complete the discomfiture of the Hindus. All was
confusion and disorder in the Hindu camp and they
were easily defeated. Balldla III himself fell into the
hands of his enemies. At first, he was imprisoned and
treated with consideration, When the Sultfn extorted
from him as much money as he could, he had him
murdered in his prison. +

* EC, x1. Mr. 82,

+ Sowk Ind, Mub, In, App, B, 839, Ballila was killed, necording to an
ingcription {(E€, iv, Kd, 75), on the batile field of Beribi on Sept, 8, 1342 but
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The long absence of Balldla in the south, his
subsequent defeat at the hands of the Mussalmans and
ultimate death in prison seem to have let loose the
forces of disintegration which soon undermined the
foundations of the Hoysala kingdom. Ballgla IV was
golemnly crowned at Dgrasamudra in 1348 ; * but he
appears to have made no effort to restors the fast
disappearing forfunes of his family. Under the cir-
cumstances, the Hoysala kingdom should have appeared
a very tempting morsel for invaders to grab at; and
they soon made their appearance on the scene.

Harihara I and his brothers had already made
themsclves masters of bits of Hoysala territory here
and there. They now proceeded to subjugate the
whole kingdom in a systematic fashion. While
Ballgla IV was being crowned at Dorasamudra, their

Tbn Baftfite declares that he was taken prisoner. Sultin Ghiy¥Es-ud-Din, having
extorted from Ballila all his wealth, ¢ had him killed and flayed; his <kin was
stuffed with straw, and hung upon the wall of Moutra (Madura), where I saw
1t suspended.) (Somth Znd. Munkh, s, App. B, p. 239). Since Battlita saw the
stuffed skin of Ballfla hanging on the walls of Madura, it 1s clear that ha did
not die on the battle field, This ~view is also indirectly supported by the
evidence of the inscriptions, Balld}a III, as mentioned already, is said to bave died
on 8th Sept, 1842, Ehs son's coronation did not take place until June 28, 1848,
There was thus an nterval of nearly ten months between the supposed date
of Balldla 1I's death and the coronation of hus son, The reason for this long
interval is not clsar, unless we suppose that Balldla was in the hands of the
enemy who wae holding out hopes of release until he axtorted all his wealth from
him. If Ghiyis-ud-Din succeeded in squeezing his wealth from Ball&la, he
should have allowed the prisomer to communicate with his officers, so that
they might furnish hira the necessary ransom, In that case, the fact that he
was alive after the battls would he known to his officers, and also to his son,
So long as Ballila was alive, there was no need for the oelebration of hia son’s
coronation, When, howsver, the news of lis murder reached DBrasamudra,
the coronation was celebrated, The 'wrong date given in Kd. 756 can only be
explained in one way. It is & 2frogul inscription get up in nemoery of a
cammon soldier who died fightlng at Beribi, by 2 relation hving in a remote
part of the country. Again the memorial stone was set up 22 years after the
death of the saldier. The author of the wirege/ inscription should have
incorpornted the general belief in the country that Ballifla Il died in the
battle of Beribl which was actuslly Jought on September 8, 1342,

# £¢. v3, Crm, 108,
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armies were depriving him of his kingdom district by
district. An idea of the progress of the Vijayanagara
conquest may be had from the following table : —

Penugonda
No. 23
Citaldrug ...| Cd. 6 | 1338 | Cd. 67 13456
Kslar ..y Kl. 82 [ 1342 | Mb.158 1343

oS o 8 .
SE8 Sy 55
District. |Reference. | € 2 | Reference, | 8:5 8 &
883 svag
= A
Anantapir ...| MER. 102 | 1340 LA. L
of 1926-7 p. 119-20 } 1344

Bangalore .. | Bn. 41 | 1843 | NL 19 1340
Tumkir ., Si. 10 | 1341 Pg. b4 1354
Mysore .. | Hg.112 | 1842 | Has. 114 1344

Hassan ...] Ak. 83 | 1338 Ak, 159 1343
Kadir . Cm. 45 | 1342 Sg. 1 1346
Simoga  ...| Sb. 494 | 1334 | Sbh. 253 1842

The earliest Vijayanagara inscription in the
Hoysala kingdom comes from the Bangalore district.
Nl 19 which is dated in 1840 records the grant of s
certain MahdsdmantGdhipati Mayileya Nayaka who was
ruling Kuokkalandd as a subordinate of Harihara I.
This chief appears to be a descendant of Mayileya
Nayaku-Cenneya Nayaka who was ruling in Kukkala-
nid as a subordinate of Ballala TII in 1883.* It is
evident that Mayileya Niyaka transferred his allegiance
to the king of Vijayanagara sometime before 1340.
Mayileya the ruler of Kukkalan&d would not have
recognised Harthara I as his overlord, nunless he was
subjugated by force of arms. It would mean that
Harihara invaded the Hoysala kingdom befors 1340.

* ZC, ix, Ne. 9.
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Probably Ballappa Danpnfiyska who was guarding, as
described already, the eastern frontier, was defeated,
and the Vijayanagara forces overran the districts of the
Hoysala kingdom in the mneighbourhood of the
frontier. Their success, however, seems to have been
short-lived ; for a few of Ballala III’'s inscriptions
dated in the succeeding year are found in the Nela-
mangala t8lika.

The conquest of the Hoysala kingdom was
seriously undertaken in 1343. KGolar in the east and
Hassan in the west seems to have passed finally into the
hands of Harihara I. The coronation of Ballgla IV was
celebrated on Friday, 5th day of the dark fortnight of
of the month of Sr@vape in the year Svabhinu corres-
ponding to Saka 1266.* The first inseription of
Harihara is dated on Thursday 1st of the bright half
of the month of Kiritika in the year SvabhZnu
corresponding to Saka 12656. + Therefore, Harihara I
wrested from Balldla IV the distriet of Hiassan in which
his capital Dorasamudra stood within three months
after his coronation. Probably Dorasamudra itself fell
into the hands of Harihara at the same time. The
conquest of the other districts followed soon. Although
1343 is the latest date found in the Hoysala inscrip-
tions, the earliest of Vijayanagara inscriptions in all
the districts do not belong to that year or the mext.
The earliest date of Vijayanagara grants in Penu-
gonda, Kolar and Mysore is 1844; in Citaldrag it is
1845 ; in Bangalore it is 1840 ; and in Kadilr it is
1346. And no Vijayanagara record belonging to a date
prior to 1864 is mo far discovered in Tumkar. It is
clear that the conquerors did not find their task easy.
They met with resistance from the officers and depen-
‘dents of the departed Hoysala kings. Nevertheless

*"RC, v, T, 106, ¥ 8C, v, Ak, 159,
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they were able to bring under their control most of the
Hoysala territory before 13486.

The warfare of these years is also mentioned in
the inscriptions of the time :—

Reference. | Date. Donor. Object.

EC. x. My, 16. | 1843 |A trustee of the| * For the suec-
temple off cess of the
Aruldlaniitha| sword and
Pernmal. arm of Val-
lappa Dap-
nayaksr.”

EC. x. Ct, 82, 1344 [Varundaram| “For the suec-
Perumal. cess of the
sword and
arm of Buk-
karaya.”

EQC. iv. Hs. 114.| 1844 |[Certain people| Set up a vira-
of the village| galin memory
Ga,]ppa.ra.da- of certain
halli. gowdas who
fell in the
;I ervice of
ariyappsa
Voc}eyar.P P

In addition to these, several explicit references fo
the conquest of the Hoysala kingdom are met with in
the insoriptions of the time of Bukka I. Mallin&tha
Vodeya, son of Aliya S&yi Nayaka, one of the officers
of Bukka I secured victories over the Hoysals army. *
Tippar&ja, another officer, of Bukka captured the
fort of Ucchangi. ¥ Tippauye Vodeyar with Teppada

s EC.x C4, 2 3 + EC. vi. Mg. 28,
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Naganna, the president of Bukka’s council, subjugated
the Hoysana country. According to the inscription des-
eribing this ecampaign, these officers were unwilling to
give up Sosaviir, the birth place of the Hoysalas.
Evidently they were besieged in the place by some
enemey who pressed them to surrender it; however,
as ithey were confident that they could withstand the
besiegers, they expressed their unwillingness to give it
up. The idea of surrender could not have arisen,
except under circumstances as described above. Now,
who could be the enemy that was interested in taking
Sosaviir ? It is said that the Hoysalas held this place
in great veneration, owing to the fact thatthe family
had its origin there. As Sosaviir was not an important
place, its possession could have been desired only on
sentimental grounds. Therefore, it may reasonably be
supposed that the people who pressed for the surrender
of Sosavir were none other than the Hoysalas. It is
probably to this campaign that Bukka I refers in
one of his inscriptions. “ Having freed from enemies
one hundred royal cities beginning from DGorasamudra,
he ruled over a kingdom perfect in seven parts.” *
He i also said to have made the Hoysala kingdom an
ornament to his arm, that is, after conquering it. +

The suobjugation of nearly the whole of the
Hoysala country should have been completed, as
already mentioned, before 1846. A few places pro-
bably still yesisted the officers of Harihara ; but their
conquest was considered inevitable. Harihara appears
to have felt that he shounld celebrate the completion
of the conquest of the country between the two seas in
a suitable manmer.} Therefore he summoned his
brothers, relations, dependents, and officers to Syngéri

» G, v, Yd.46. + MAR, 1985, p. 78, 1 EC.visg 1,
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to attend a festival which he wanted to celebrate in
honour of his victory; and the festival was accord-
ingly celebrated in 1846 A.D., when liberal gifts were
distributed among the assembled Br&hmans. Hence-
forward, the authority of the R&yas was firmly esta-
blished in the Hoysala country, in spite of the outbreak
of o few rebellions here and there. *

* There appears to have been some disturbaoce in the Canarese country at
the beginning of the reign of Harihars IL A rebellion broke out in Konkan in
1880, ¢ Some base persons born in the Konkan country, having risen against
lim, in the war (which followed), ‘Bajcappa grently distinguished himself, sent
many of the Konkagpigas to destruction, and gained the heavenly world” The
rebellion seems to have spread to the Hoysala country also; for in an inseription
of 1384, (Jr. Bom, Eist, Sec i, p, 126) it is said that the Iloysalas were one of the
people whom Haijhara Ik had conquerad. * Having conguered his ensmics, and
the prominent countries of kings of Karpita, Kontala, Konkana, Hoysala, Zndhra,
Pindyr and CGla the great lord of the earth (i e., Harihara II) enjoys all
glories.” This seems to have been the last effort of the people of the Hoysana
country to throw off the yoke of Vijayanagara, Very soon, the authority of the
RAyas becoms firmly established and the Iloysana country remained under them
as long as their power lasted.
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ArPENDIX B.

NOTE ON DORAVADL

(a) The Sources :—The [ollowing account of Dora-
vadi is based upon eleven inscriptions whose dates
range from A.D, 1280 to A.D. 1325. These inscrip-
tions are here given in a schedule for the eonvenience
of reference :—

P

The place of]

. Information
Reference. | Date. IE:IS;EI;IG: glf: cor}taint_ati in the
his fl;ther inscription.

EC. VII.

Ci. 24.| 1280 | Doravadi. | Canndarasa, a sub-
ordinate of Rama-
candra of Ditvagiri
in Kurugdda n&du,
marched to Dora-
vadi against Mum-
madi Singeya
Nayaka, but was
slain in battle.

EC. XL
Hr, 88.[1281-2 e Mummadi Singeya
N ayaka marched
upon a place the
name of which ends
with . .. . mmaliira-
kallu, and laid siege
to it.
EOQ. XI.
Hr. 387.| do. Mummadi  Singeya

Nayaka fought
against a chief
called Singeya
Nayaka at Vetan-
dakal.

[ 164 }
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Date.

The place of
residence of
Kampila or
his father.

Information
contained in the
inscription.

EC. X1
DG. 26.

MAR. 1918
P. 50.

EC. XI.
Hr. 1086.

LR. 4s.
(Hampe)
VER. Ap 386

1800

1303

1303

1309

Khandeyarfya, son of
Mummadi Singeya
Nayaka restored to
Brahmays the agra-
hira of Ilarihara.

Kampiladsva, the
general of the army
of Ramacandra of
Dévagiri, marched
against IlolAlkeve,
and lLilled in battle,
Ballila 1Is brother-
in-lawvv, 88meya
Dapndyaka who
was governing
the fort of Bemmat-
tanakallu.

Kampiladéva marched
upon Holalkere and
fought with Balla-
la’s  subordinates.
Someya Danniyaka
of Bemmadttanakalln
fought with Kam-
pila, when S8&yanna
the betel-bearer of
Someya was killed.

Vira Kampiladava, son
of Mummadi Sin-
geya Nayaka built
a temple at Hampi,
dedicated to Pra-
sanna Viriipaksa.
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The place of

i Information
residence of ) 2
Reference. | Date. Kampils, or contained in the
his father Imscription,

EC. VI
Nr. 19.| 1320 | Doravadi. | Ballala III marched
with all his
forces to Doravadi,
against Vira Kam-
piladéva. A battle
was fought,” and
! probably  Balldla
was defeated.
EC. XII |
TP. 24, 1825 A damaged inscrip-
tion. Refers 1o the
war between Ballala
III, and Kampila-
déva. Refers 1o the
death of some
person.
MAR. 1923
No. 121} Nil | Siruguppe. | Ballila III invaded the
kingdom of Vira-
Kampiladéva, and
lay encamped at
Siruguppe. A battle
was fought in
} which some of Bal-
Iala’s officers were
killed. The inserip-
tion is omly a frag-
ment.

(3) The extent of the kingdom — EC. VII
Ci. 24 mentions Doravadi in KurngGdu n&du as the
place of Mummadi Singeya N&yaka’s residence; his
dominions extended in the south as far as Holdlkere in
the Citaldrug distriet. (EC XI. Hr. 106; MAR 1912,
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p.46; MAR 19133 p. B0). It included Harilara and
probably also the whole of Davanagere talika. (EC. XI.
Dg. 26). 1n the east, it extended as far as Shuguppe
in the Bellary district (MAR. 1923 No. 121). 8o {ar as
can be deduced from these inscriptions, the kingdom
of Kampiladéva comprised large portions of the present
Bellary and Citaldrug districts.

(¢) Doravadi:—Wlhere was Doravadi sitnated ?
According 1o EC. VIL. Ci. 24 it was included in the
Kuregtdu nidu. Where was Kurugddo ni&du? The
district was evidently named after its chief town Kuru-
g6du, which is identical with the present Kurugddu in
the Bellary taliitka. Therefore, the town, Doravadi
should be loocked for in the Bellary talika or somewhere
in its neighbourhood. An inseription of a subordinate
of the Sinda chief, Kaliddva of Kurugddu, limits the
field of our search further.

Seoedated e ed,smandoeé ;Saﬁéiaﬁeﬂﬂd&edoﬁéo#ui
cevedtuede HdRerdl dugFien meliaviro Il
ume?, Bl Ho oF , eddodo sadid FodiRerdd
Der3:380dis JBome3aune B9RVS NTZdtals ||
B3R dRomdele o IdamerngPied Tekste, Fa o
ﬁéanoﬁﬁdmﬁﬁa i dodavs donddoSardseEdoidde i
s3ads2mBed o TodePrNg 3333 |1
SZZ, 1v. 260,
From this, it is seen that Doravadi nadu was in
Ballakunde 800, of which the capital was the town of
Kurugddu. What is more interesting still is that
Hampe was included in the district of Doravadi. As
Ballakunde was a small distriet, the town of Doravadi
must have stood somewhere in the neighbourhood of
Hampe. No place of the name seems to exist at present
in the Hospét ta&lika in which Hampe is included, or
anywhere else in the Bellary distriot as to that matter.
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There is, however, a place called DarGji in the neigh-
bourhood of Hampe, and it is mnot unlikely ihat it
represenis the old town of Doravadi. This is not a
wild guess. An inscription from Kurukuppe very
near Dargji (MER. 727 of 1922) refers ‘to a temple of
Viriipakga bmlt at Kureya-kuppe an agrakire village
in the Doravadi venfhe of the Hastinfivati valila.
Therefore, Darcji may be taken as the modern name of
the ancient Doravadi.

If Darcji (Doravadi) were the place of residence
of Kampiladéva, then Tampe which is almost within a
dozen miles of Dardji, should have been included in
his kingdom. This is proved by an epigraph of Vira
Kampiladéva at Hampe recording the construction of
the temple of Prasanna Virlipaksa in 1309. There-
fore, Balldla IIT who was in a chronic state of war with
Kampilad&va could not have secured a footing so very
close to the latter’s capital as Hampe; nor counld he
have built any fort or city in the place. After the
death of Kampiladsva, his kingdom was annexed by
the Sultin of Delhi who entrusted its government
about 1836 to Harthara I of Vijayanagara. It is pretty
certain that Ballala III had nothing to do with the
congirnction of the city of Vijayanagara.

(d) Relations wilh the Kiakatiyas:—The position
of the kingdom of Doravadi, situated as it was between
the Hoysala and the Kakatiya dominions brought it
often into hostile contact with its neighbours. The wars
which Kampiladéva waged with Balldla III have been
already described in the body of the present work.
An attempt is here made fo narrate briefly Kampila-
déva’s relations with the Kakatlya king. It is stated in
the Bhimebvarapurdng of Sytnftha that Pr3laya Anna,
one af the generals of PratZparudra II destroyed the
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pleasure gardens of KRummata. * The battle, in which
the early Araviti chief, KoStikanti Righava defeated
Kampilad&va, was probably fought in the coarse of this
invasion. ¥ The cause of this struggle is not very
difficult to find. Almost the whole of the western
Telugu country was included in the S&una dominions
during the reigms of Singhana and Kannara. Their
inscriptions are found as far south-east as Jammala-
madugu in the Cuddapah district. The S&una
authority in the Telugu country was gradually over-
thrown by the Kakatiyas. The country corresponding
to the present districts of Cuddapah and Kurnool was
conquered by Ganpapati; but a portion of the Telugu
country was still left in the hands of the S8unas.
During the early years of Prat@parudra II, a successful
attempt was made to wrest the remaining Telugu
districts from Ramadéva. Vitthala-bhiinatha, one of the
generals serving under Prataparndra marched probably

I brwweEs n¥go FooRT Gysow e HrdE wEex
B, o6ds GosE DecHTIUmRy ancX

T HADHBE %aﬁaé‘"aﬁsﬁ:: LS K

DYty (SR T DHOTT-

Stho wdleFoan angy ¥°8 I

BhinigsvarapuwiFigam 1 48,

¥ DHTroDocH TE gy PSWci
Heaeoln e BT oD oot
PHIT YT 8835083 3HHD
XdWwsBoi Bo T Nom Soh
o2 ¥okdores Degeec
Hesom Toesasoxe BALSE ROD
Ko® 2&"9&: b gob‘.‘b‘iﬁ'@

DiotSons WBOSYHE B0 I oK.
BalabkiEgavalam : The Bharatd, vi, p. 848,
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from Panugal at the head of his army, and * eaptured
the forts of Adavani, Tumbulam, Manuva and Haluva.”
He entered the fort of Raielr in A.D. 1295, and
constructed a ¢stone fort (in the place of a mud one)
for the protection of all the kingdom and the people.” *
As a result of Vitthala’'s conquests, the western
boundary of the K&katiya kingdom passed very near
Kampili, the most important city in Kampiladsva’s
dominions. The expansion of his kingdom towards
the west should have brought Pratiparudra II into
violent contact with Kampila, who seems to” have
suflfered defeat in the struggle that followed. But the
history of this struggle still remains obsecure ; and it is
not possible, at the present state of our knowledge, to
deseribe fully all the events connected with it.

* ASPF. vi, pp. 36-38; MAR. 1907, 1. 14,
[ 170 1]
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A NOTE ON KANYA NAYAK. *

The name of ‘the Hindu leader who successfully
headed the rebellion in Telingfpa against Sultan
Muhammad in 1344 is given differently by the
Muhgmmadan historians. Zia Barni refers to him as
Kanya Nayak ; Nizam-ud-Din Ahmad calls him Kanya-
paik; and Ferishta speaks of him as Krsn Nayak.
The name of the leader is made up of two words:
(1) Kanya or Kysna (2) Nayak or paik. So far as the
first part of the name is concerned, it may be said
that there is no real difficrence; for, the word Kanya
is but the Telugu form of the Prakyt Kapha which
is derived from the Sanskrt Kyspa. Therefore, the
words Kysna and Kanya must be taken as identical.
The same thing, however, cannot be said of the second
part, the words ¢ #d@yak’ and ¢ pdik’ being radically
different in their origin and meaning. NZyak means a
chief, or leader, and pidik has no intelligible meaning
either in Telugu or Sanskrt.

Syed Ali Aziz-ul-la Tabataba, the author of
Burhan-i-ma’asir spells the word differently, though it
is not easy to discover how exactly he originally
spelt it. In one manusecript, i.e., the one adopted
by Major King as the text of his translation, the word
is written as Kan@-bayand; but in the manuscript

* M, 8, Sarme, 1n an interesting article contributed lo the JAHS v,
pp. 217-832, arnves at the same conclusion, though he approaches the problem
from a dilferent standpoint.
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preserved in the British Museum, this name is written
in one place as Kabi-nand, and in another place as
Kana-nidah. Even in Major King's text the spelling
of the word is not uniformly the same, for, it is
written in one place without any dot to the second
letter in order to indicate its phonetic value. * The
Burhan-i-ma’asir, therefore, gives f?ur different forms

of the name :—
bl
(2 e .

e
L g
il

The last may be left out ofaceount, as it is not
possible to read it in the absence of the dot to indicate
the phonetic value of the gmecond letter. The
remaining three forms are Kan&-b@yand, Kaba-nand,
and Kand-nidab. The name here also contains two
members (i) Kand or Kabi and (i) biyand, nand, or
nidah. Kan&, no doubt, is the same word as Kanya;
and nand or nideh appears to be a corruption of
nayadu, nayapdu, nidu, all meaning a ndyak or chief;
but Kaba and bayand still remain unexplained like the
p3ik of Nizam-ud-Din Abmad. Xn fact, there seems to
be something in common between. Syed Ali and Nizam-
ud-Din. One of the forms which the name assumes
in Burkdn-i-ma’asir is Kuna-byand. Let us compare
it with Kanya-piik. They are the same. The word
bayand Like paik gives no sense. We know from Barni
that the right word is ¢ s@yak’, and not ¢ paik’ How
did the ‘p’ displace the 1’ in the text of Nizam-ud-Din ?

* 4. xxvip, p, 145 n. 18, p. 1460, 16,
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The word Kabi, suggests the clue. Suppose we inter-
change the place of ‘n’ in ‘Kanya’ with that of
‘p’ in ‘paik’, we get ‘Kapya-nayak’ in the place
of Xanya-paik. If we adopt the spelling of Burhiin-i-
ma’asiy, we should write the name as ¢ Kapya-nayand,’
which closely resembles Kab&i-nand, one of the forms
of the name given in that book. We believe that the
real name of the leader of Telingana who revolted
against Sultin Muhammad is Kapya-na@yand (Kapaya
Nayandu), and not Kanya or Krspa Nayaka. Our
belief’is based upon the following facts.

Kanya Nayak according to the Mussalman his-
torians rose up in vebellion at Warrangal in 13443 and
he ruled Telingana with Warrangal as his eapital uniil
at least 13656 A.D. He was an enemy of Sultin
Ali-ud-Din Bahmani I and of his son Muhammad Shah
with whom he fought several battles. It is evident
from this that Kanya Nayak was a great leader of the
Teling@na Hindus ; and that he re-established the lost
independence of Teling@na, and maintained it suecess-
fully for thirty years. He should have left some
records behind him to perpetuate his name and fame,
Have we got any of his records ?

When we search the Hindu records of the time,
viz., the inscriptions, we find that Warrangal and
with it Teling@na was really in the possession of a
Hindu king between 1848 and 1360; his name,
however, was not Kanya Nayak but Ka&paya Nayaka.
He was ruling Andhradésa probably from Warrangal,
and fought with the Sultan Ald-ud-Din I of Gulburga.
He seems to have several things in common with
Kanya Nayak.
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Kapaya Nayaka.

Kanya Nayak.

He was Andhradsia-

dhibvara or Andhra
Suratrapa. *

Ilis capital was proba-
bly Warrangal.

His first inscription is
dated in 1346 ;F and
his latest is d ated
in 1860.

He was an enemy of
Sultan Ald-ud-Din I
of Gulburg a with
whom he fought. §

He was Wali or the
ruler of Telingana.

Ilis capital was War-
rangal.

He became the, ruler
of Warrangal in 1344
and was ruling in
1366.

He was an enemy of
the Sultgns Ala-ud-
Din I and Muhammad
Shah of Gulburga

with whom he fought
several times.

The facts stated in the foregoing table make it
elear that K&paya Nayaka and Kanya Nayak were
holding sway over Telingdpa at the same time,
baving probably the same city of Warrangal as their
capital. Moreover, both of them fought against the
gsame enemy, the Sultan Al&-ud-din I of Gulburga.
Therefore, Kapaya and Kanya appear to be the names
of the same person.

If the real name of the leader of the Telingana
rebellion was Kapaya N@yadu, how did he come to be
known as Kanya Nayak to the Mussalman historians ?
1t is easily explained: as ndyek, ndyadu, and

* SII fv, 960, + ébrd,
§ Telingdpa inseriphions Miscellaneons 11,
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ndyapdu are but different forms of the same word,
they do not need an explanation. The real difficulty
is about the torm Kapaya. Ilow did it assume the
form Kanya ? The word Kab& of Burhin-i-ma’asir must
be taken into consideration in this context. Kapaya
was at first transformed into Kabaya and then to Kaba.
In the Persian language the letters - and - are
interchangeable. Very often the same word s spelt
with a < or 3» according to the whim of the writer or
caligraphist. A few examples are sufficient to illustrate
the point. ¢ dsp’ ! in Persian means a horse;
but the word is also written as /! ‘ashb’; the term
‘ padshah’ is written both as L3 and sls,b; and
Dipalptr (the name of a city in Hind{stan) is spelt
in two ways: ) ;—g—' lg25 and );4,:—' w35, Examples ean easily
be multiplied; but these are enough. The word
Dipalpiir is of special interest in this context. It is
an Indian term, denoting the name of a city. In
gpite of it, its spelling had undergone a change in the
hands of the Persian writers. Similarly the name of
Kapaya was transformed into Kabaya or Kab&; and
this form, as we have already noticed, is preserved in
one of the manuscripts of the Burkan-i-ma'asir. The
transformation of Kaba into Kand may be explained
in two ways. A careless scribe might have placed
the dot above the letter instead of below, then l+<
would become & or the change might be attributed
to metathesis. Nizam-ud-Din Ahmad calls the leader
of Telingina rebellion Kanya-paik instead of Kanya
Nzyak like other writers. This form of the name is
also preserved in one of the manuscripts of Buriin-i-
ma'aswr. The text of Major King spells the name as
Kan#-bayand. Therefore, the name K&paya Nayadu
became Kanya Nayak, as a consequence of a double
transformation at the hands of the Persian writers.
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Was this Kapaya or Kanya Nayak, a son of
Pratiparudra II of Warrangal? The answcer to this
question is in the negative. The Hindu records
mention a son of Pratiparudra, but he was known as
Virgbhadra.* A certain Juttaya-lenke Gonka Reddi is
also spoken of by several writers as one of Prat@pa-
rudra’s sons; but this is a mistake. Juttaya, as the
term ¢ lenke’ indicates, was a servant and not the son of
Prataparndra. XKapaya Nayaka whom we have identi-
fied with Kanya Nayak had no connection whatever
with Prat@parudra. In fact, the statement of Ferishta
that Krsna (Kanya) Nayak was a son of PratGparudra
is mnot supported by evidence. Neither Barni mor
Nizam-ud-Din mention that Kanya Nayak was Pratapa-
rudra’s son. On the contrary; they seem to indicate
that he was one of the zamindars of Telingana. That
is the truth. It is not possible to know the source from
which Ferishta obtained his inaccurate information.

Ex¥mranbtha: Pratlpacaritra pp. 79-80,
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ArpEnDIx D.
KARSZ\'IIA AND ANDHRA.

Some writers believe that the founders of Vijaya-
nagara could not be the members of a Telugu family
as Bukka I and Harihara II claim victories over the
Andhras. But this view is due to the misconception
that the terms Karpita and Andhra respectively denot-
ed in those days the areas over which the Kannada and
the Telugu languages are now spoken. This is far from
the truth. During the fourteenth and the fifteenth
centuries, nearly one third of the land inhabited by the
Telugu speaking people was known as Karpata. The
Telugu poet SrinGitha who was a contemporary of
Harihara II, Dévaraya I, and Dévaraya II, declares that
the language of his poems is Karndja-bhaga. ‘' Sanskrit
is said to be most suited for dignified composition, and
Andhra for witty expression. Whatever critics may
say, I do not mind: certain it is that my poetry is
written in the Karp&ta language.” * At first sight it
may appear that the Karpd{a-bhdsd in which Srinatha
claims to have written his poems is the Kanarese
language ; but all the works of Srindtha are written in
Telugu, and there is no reason to believe that he knew
Kanarese, for which he had little love. ¥

Whai then is the meaning of Srinatha’s statement ?
Although it looks very enigmatic to the people of the

* (B8 00805 KOX\EP S o
So¥nd T s IO FPTS aso|
SseBHY d wB 8%
221 Nssom Do B"u;h'ép“’ﬁ.ll.
Blimesvarapuripam, 1: 15,
+ of. ‘oD g KEy Kow’
Chtupadyamanimariard, 1 p. 128,
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present age, his contemporaries could not have enter-
tained any doubts. They knew that he wrote in the
idiom of his native district, P8kanZdu which was
included in the Karpiita country. It was only natural
that a poet who proudly styled himself as ¢ the sun to
the lotus garden viz., the cities of Karpfta,” * ghould
have chosen the language of that country as the
medivm to express his thoughts. It is evident from
this that Nellore and the eastern part of Cuddapah
which correspond to ancient Pikanadu were known
as Karpate during the time of Srinatha. This is
confirmed by other writers. The poet Tripuriintaka,
the grandfather of Ayyalardju RaZmabhadra who lived
in the court of Kyppadéva Raya, refers to the god
Raghuvita of Ontimitta in the Cuddapah district as
¢ the lord of Karpfta.” ¥+ The evidence of literature
is corroborated by an inscription coming from
the Onggle t&lika of the Guntir district dated
A.D. 1441. Acocording to this record, the town of
Udayagiri is said to be in the middle of Karnata:
“Udayagiryikhya nagaré kanieé Karpidtekatake madhya-
sthz.” } Udayagiri is included in the present Nellore
distviet, and it formed part of ancient Pakanadu. It
may, therefore, be concluded that during the time of
the carly Vijayanagara kings, the country comprising
the present Nellore and Cuddapah districts was also
known as Karpata. The tradition of the dispute

* ¥gbddv by S 8‘65'%-3’ Qe igvon,
Kasihkopdam 1: 7,
T Rebo B ¥Ry a% 2 oodE My BolrHotHE™
TL0B SHWoH S @)ﬁ'ﬂ"bcﬁb So¥'d
'ér-éaé“ ¥ Voo al wdrySome PN
T R I8 Doba¥iebhoe wnglyeasE 0
Satakamaitrari s (Audbra Grantha MBla 1) p, 7L
1 ND. 1 1L O, 72
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between Siindtha and the pandits of Rijahmundry over
the diction of his poems also supports the view that he
employed a local dialect in his works, and called
it Karpdje-bhdga * Conscquently the Andhras whom
Bukka I and ITarihara II conquered must be people
living outside this area.

Who were they ? A study of the inscriptions of
the Reddis of Kogpdavidu may throw some light upon
their identity. In one of the inscriptions of Prolaya
Vémh t dated A. D. 1855 it is said that he was to * the
proud Andhras like the flood of a river washing away
the trees” on the banks. This seems to indicate that
Véma waged some wars against the Andhras. Aeccord-
ing to an insoription dated 1416 A.D., Andhréévara
was one of the servants of Tippa, a nephew of
Peda-Komali Vema. 1 Since these Reddis who were
Telugus by birth refer to Andhras as their enemies
they should be regarded as the inhabitants of a
partiecular part of the land where Telugu language
is spoken.

Now, Krgna or Kapaya Nayaka who was ruling in
Telingana with the city of Warrangal as his capital is
referred to in his inscriptions as .dndhradzdadhiSvara
and Andhra Suratrdpa. As he was a friend of the
kings of Vijayanagara, he could not be the Andhra

P ron cen 4]

-arv.somd" 'u'-'a.-'n'-?;a-uo(_ts '63n&f»5&" Fo 87650-»0& &

% g0 APED (FIKPL HHNET 2odoth B oHsE
ef, Virabadhra Row, &4, ui, p. 216.

As the verse Lﬁ‘éma§n‘5 &c. comes immediately after s disdainful

reference to Kukawvis, thig verse should be taken as his defiant declaration that,
say what they might, he would still adhere to his own method of composition,

+ ND.T,11. O. 78, t LR. 42, pp. 243-250,
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king whom they conquered. There is no ovidence to
show that the Reddis of Kondavidu had any quarrel
with him. However, the Velamas of Racakonda, who
killed Kapaya, not only occupied his dominions but
appropriated his titles. TIlenceforward, they were
known as Andhradssadhisvara and Andhra Suralrdna-
It is well-known that the Velamas were engaged con-
stanily in warfare with the Reddis on one side, and the
kings of Vijayanagara on the other, It is not unlikely
that they were the Andhras who werc alluded to in the
early Vijayanagara and Reddi inscriptions. )
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VIDYANAGARA.

In ihe opinion of some writers, the city of
Vijayanagara, was not known by its other name
Vidy&nagara from the beginning. It is contended that
the name was applied to it subsequent to the fall of
the Sangama dynasty, on account of the extraordinary
influence exercised by the pontiffs of Sypgéri Matha
over the kings of Vijayanagara. The evidence of all
the inscriptions of the first dynasty which mention
Vidyanagara has been set aside, as these inscriptions
are considered forgeries. Therefore, it has become
necessary to search the contemporary literature to
find whether the city was reforred to as Vidy&nagara
by any author of the time. So far only two authors
are discovered who refer to Vidyanagara, and a careful
examination of the books of the period may reveal
more. Omne of the two writers who speak of Vidya-
nagara is Kallanatha whose evidence has already been
congidered in the body of the present book. The
other is Malling&tha, the famous commentator, who. ai
the instance of Praudha Déva Raya wrote a book called
the Vai$yavamSa-sudhiirpavam, in order to define the
term Vaifya. The following passage from that book
is of interest :

.. .. Srfnsgdster fagaea: | fagoigd | sh&-
VTSR ST AR EETE AT eE T s aaTE-
FAY, AT ATAIERY | FIAUSIEA T I99q | a=y
wag Agcafy | shwmstats auedigat sidrormeta-
TR Refray, | snmyAmRal assEamE@a Te |
agEEraRy fEATT TRIGTIETIST, | 9%g ¥ ..
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It is evident from this that during the time of
Praudha D&va Raya the city of Vijayanagara was algo
known as Vidy&nagara. Who was this Praudha Déva
Raya? He is generally taken to be Dévar@iya II who
ruled at Vijayanagara from 1423 to 1447-8. This, how-
ever, is doubtful, as Davariya I is also referred to by
this name in some of his inseriptions. ¥ Now, which of
these two was the Praudgha Déva Raya who commanded
Moallinatha to write the VaiSyavamba-sudh@rpevam ?
This can be decided only by discovering the date of
Mallinatha. Venkatanar@yana, one of his descendants,
mentions in his commentary on Cempurdmayanc
gsome historical events in connection with the lives of
his ancestors, which enable us to fix the date of
Mallinditha with tolerable certainty. What he says in
brief is this: In the Kodlacalma family, was born
Mallin&tha the famous Sat@vadhiné whom Vira Rudra
bathed in a shower of gold; his son was Kapardin,
the author of a k&rikd on the Srauta s@ires; his eldest
son was Mallinatha who was remarkable for his intelli-
gence ; his younger brother was the great Peddibhatta
who hecame famous as Mehdpddhydye in all the
countries. In a sacrifice performed by his uncle he
was bathed in a shower of gold by Sarvajiia ; he wrote
commentaries on several works such as the Naisadhe,
Jyotisa, ete. His son was Kumarasvamin, the
author of a commentary on the Prai@parudraya$obhi-
gsanam. T The genealogy that is given by Venkata-
narayana seems 0 be faulty in one respect. According
to Kumarasvamin, Peddibhatta was not an younger
brother of Mallinatha, but his son ; and Kum&rasvamin
wag the younger brother of Peddibhatta who is said to
have commented on all $asiras. 1 The genealogy

* MER. 399 of 1226.
+ Des, Cat. San, Mss. (Mad, Govt., Or. Mss Lab ) xxipp, 8212-13.
% Praidparudrayaivbhitsananm, (B.S.S) pp. 1-2.
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given by Kumarasvimin should be accepted as more
trustworthy, as he should have known who his father
and elder brother were.

If, subject to this correction, the information
furnished by Venkatanarayana be accepted as genuine,
it must be admitted that Mallinatha 1I, the famous
commentator, should have lived in the interval between
Prataparudra II and Sarvajiia. As the age of Malli-
natha Il was nearer to Sarvajiia than Prat@parudra,
the reign of Sarvajfia may be taken as a starting point.
Sarvajiia was the title conferred upon Singama IIT,
the king of Rieakonda, by his contemporaries who
admired his scholarship. And he appears to have
ascended the throne about A. D. 1420.

The Telugn poet Srindtha paid a visit to the coyrt
of this king while he was still in the service of the
Reddis of Kondavidu. On this occasion he praised the
greatness of Singama, thus in a verse: “ The name of
Sarvajia oan only be given with propriety 1o Siva
and king Rava Singa. To call another Sarvajiia
is to mistake a dog for an elephant.” When Srindtha
returned to Kondavidu, he was obliged to give an
explapation for having praised Ravu Singa, who was
an enemy of the Reddis of Kondavidu. Srindtha
is said to have given complete satisfaction to his em-
ployers by interpreting the verse in a different manner.
“ The pame Sarvajfia can be applied only to Siva;
and Ravu Singa can have no claim to it. To call
any one (excepting Siva) Sarvajfia is to call a dog
an elephant.”

It is evident from this that at the time of Sii-
nitha’s visit to RAva Singa, the kingdom of Konda-
vidu which was overthrown about A.D, 1420 was still
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in existence. Srindtha’s visit to RAcakonda should
have taken place a liitle carlier; probably he visited
Racakonda, when he was sent by Peda Komati Véma
or his successor to Dévarakonda to fetch the Reddi
sword called Nandi-kanta-pdiu-rdju which had been
carried away as a trophy by Madaya-Linga who
defeated the Reddis. Therefore, Sarvajiia Singa should
have been ruling at Racakonda about 1420 A.D.

Peddibhatta who was bathed in a shower of gold
by Sarvajiia should have been his contemporary: In
that case, Mallinatha II who was the father of Peddi-
bhatta, must have belonged to the generation before
1420, The king who then ruled at Vijayanagara was
Dé&variiya I, and not D8vardya II. Therefore it should
have been at the instance of D@varfya I that Malli-
nitha composed his Vaidyavaméa-sudharpavam.

It is evident from the above discussion that
Vijayanagara was also known as Vidy&nagara, some
seventy years after the foundation of the city.
Though we have yet no proof of it, the name might
have been in vogue from the time of the foundation
of the city.
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Adavani 170,

Addanki 124, 1285,

Aiyangar S. K. 79 2,

Ajjana Szhint 133,

Alampura 122,

AlZ-ud-Din I or Alf-ud-Din Hasan
Gangu Bahmani 86, 117, Hoysalas
attacked 61 ; South invaded 59,

AYi-ud-Din Khilji 76, Yidavas invaded
67,

Ali-ud-Din Ugdanji 187.

Aliya Micaya Dapplyaka 16.

Aliya S@yi Niyaka 145,

Kjupas 18,182 ; conquered by BallZ]a
1 67,

Anapdta, Kopdavidu Reddi 120,121,
128,

AnapBia, Velama chief 123,

Annvima 125.

Andhra and Katy'ita 177 (F,

Andhradtadhidvaia 179, 180,

Andhia SuratrTna 179, 180,

AndhrFévara 179,

Anebidderial 78.

Znegondi 26, 27,

Ankeya Niyaka 132,

Anki Niyrka 109

Arangal (See Warrangal)

Agakalagunda Inseription 129, 132,

Ayyalmdju Rimabhadra 178,

B

Bidimi fort B89.

Bldimi Tnscription 129,

Bligtpalli grant 94,

Bahidir Gursh¥sp or Bahi-ud-Din
Gurshasp or GushtEsp 8, 91, 92,

Bahmani Sultins (See under Ali-ud-
Din) 86, 87, 120,

Baicaya Dannyaka or NXyaka or
CamGpa or Camipati or Baicappa
Nayaka 6, 9, 10, 76, 75, 133,

Bailtr lascription 133,

Bilabh3gavatam 169 ».

Ballakunde 167,

Ballf]a 11, Iloysala king B, accession
69 ; Bhillama defeated 69, Cengaluva
conquered 69, inscriptions in Canna-
giri 161; in DSvanagers 162; in
Dufirwir 150 ; in Honnal; 159 ; in
S3gar 156, in SikTrplr 157, 188 ; in
Sorab 153, 153 ; Jutrasimha slain
69, Sankama defeated 69; extont of
his terntories 20, 69, %0 ; Ucchanpl
conquared 69, war with Singlu\qndafu
7L ; relations with EBugas ; 68, 73, _

Balla]it IIT or Bilal Dew or Vira BallX]a
HI, Hoysala king 3, 4, §,18,14,15,16,
22, rolations with Xlupss or Pindya
chlefs 67; anolntment 65, 66; rela-
tions with Bahmani Sultiins 61, 86,
87, Banavise attacked 78, 74 » Bira-
ktirn visited 133, Bel)dry outside his
terntory 21, 24, 45; relatlons with
Ghiyds-ud-Din 140 T; Hampa ont-
sido hils kingdom 22; relations with
Harihara I, 60, 61, 87 f, 184;
inscriptions in Cannagirl 161; in
Honnah 160; in Stigar 187; in
Simoga 186 ; 16latlons with Kampila-
d2va 80, B2 &, 166; relations with
Khwhje Jehiin 88, 86; K5t Niyaka
attacked 73; relations with Mubaral
Shah Khiljt: 19; attacked by the
Mubammadans 16, 17; murder of
14, 141 Nakkigunda besieged
74; nelevidus of 43, 871f, Nidugal
attacked 78, 76; relations with
Pigdyae 76, 78; title of Pindya-
cakravartin 78; prisoner to Delhj
11, 15 ; battle with REmad¥va 74,75 ;
attacked by RImanftha 62; relations
with Sangama’s sons 89, 90; fought
with S8uyds 73 ff; son coronatgg
139, 140 ; southern campaign 10, 11 3
terrstories and boundaries 62, 86,
Tiravanyimale or UgnZmale counciy
of 6,8,11; Tulu-n®] expedition 77,
%8 , not the builder of Vira-Viyaya,
VirlipIkgapura 43, 45,
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Ballila 1V 4, B, 139, ¥40, capitalll;
coronation 140 =, 414: aclations
with IIarihara I 144; return from
Deelhi 14, 185,

Ballappa Danpfyaka; 6, 9, 10, 136,
137; fought with Bukka I 144;
relations with Harihara [ 144,

Barakur 89 22, 132.

Barni, Zit-ud-Din 84 #, 112 ; on Kanya
Naiyak, and the Warrangal revolt 93.

BnasavadEva 77.

Basavasankara 134,

Beeja and Nugger 4,

Bellary 215.

Bemmastanakallu 165,

Beribi, battle of 140, 141 »,

Bet{adakSie 65,

Blfirati Tirtha Sripida 135,

Bheriya 42,

Bhillama 68, 69.

Bhimavaram 119,

Bhimarlya 9, 10.

BhimGivarapurinam 168, 160 », 377 ».

Bibliothica Indicn 82 .

Bidar 7, 116,

Bijiplr 59.

Bilal Dew or Ballila I (See under
Ballija TID

Brahma 67, 68,

Bukka, the father of Sangama 98,984,

Bukka 1 or Bukkariyan Vodeyale or
Bukkarfzu 59, 145; tielations with
Andhras 112, 127, 128; ruling from
Hosapaitega 22; Hoysalas conguered
139; Kapras another name §&9;
Muhammadan son 96 #, relations
with Pratiparudra 1T 100; Vidy#-
ranya, his guru ete. 58, 56; Vidy®-
nagars, his capital 52; Vijayana-
gara, founded by B2, 63 ; Vinukonda
scquired 124; Visipagya, bis son
130,

Bukka 11, Tmmadi Bukka 121, 126,

Bukkiyi Tiyigala 138,

Burh@n-i-ma'asic 86, 171, 172.

C

Tajakyas 57, 69.
Camardia 80,
CampBrimTyana 182
Candivir 77,
Cannagirt 73.
Clfupadyamagimaijai 177 s,
Caundnises 81, 164,

t

Cengaluva 69.

Cenn®i Reddi-Anni-Reddi-Malld Reddi
127.

Cenneya NTyaka 140 ».

Cikkyi TayigaJu 133.

Citaldrug 144.

Cobban, batile of 140, 148,

1>

DannRlakSia 120.

Darsji 168.

Diti Singeya DannTyaka 135,

Daulatabad 59,

Devariya 1 126, 127, 182, 184,

DE8variya II 182, 184,

DeEvarakonda 122, 184,

Dovappa Dannlynka 134

Djelaleddin 188.

Dharwar Inscription 150 2.

Dipilpiir 176,

Ddrasamudra or Dwirasamudra 3, 65,
144,

Doravadi 80, 81, o1 {, 164; insciip-
tions 164 fT; changes after S8una
downfall 82; nuclens of Vijaya-
nagara 91,

E

Exgmranitha 176 #,
Erupeya Dapyiynka 73,

K

Ferishia 79, 1212,
Feroz Shah 127,

G

Gujapati 64.

Gapapati 103, 169.
GangswaradTva 75.

Gangeya Sihiui 78, 74,
Ghiyas-ud-Din 84, 188, 140 fI,
Gonkd Redqi Nayaka 122,
Gulburga b9.

Giijera N3yaka 78,

Gunda Dagdanitha 103, 122,
Gurngala-bastl Inseription 134,

H

Harib, Hindu chief : same as Harilara 1
59

Harihara, Harfappa Vodeyar or Hari-
liara I 145, not enthroned by
Dallila L 60, 61 T} relations witk
Ballila IV 344; relations wiih
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Ballapps Dappfiyakta 144 ; relations
with Birakdir 89, 90, 133, 134
ongin of hig family 96 ff; relations
with Kadambas of Banavise 96, 973
llariappa, IImib or Sultin Ilaryab,
other names of B9, 87, 183 3
ralation with Kanya Nfyak 1013
ruling from Xampili 94 ff; not
tho same as KathSrshara 61, 62;
solations with KEsavadandanitha's
dynasty 97 ; reconverted to Hinduism
96; Spaghri meeting 54; relations
with Sultin 95, 96, 101, 129, 130;
ruling from Vidyinagara 50, 52;
founding of Vijayanagara 48, 61, 64,
west Soast conquerad 181 ff,

Haihars T, relations with ZAndbras
112, 127,128; Death of 127,
Kondavidu territory conguered 126 ;
Konkan rebellion 147 # ; Ricakonda
invaded 122 ; relations with Vidys-
1anya B6.

Ilaryab same as Harihara T 87,

¥Iilova 170.

ILampTpuram (See under losa Him-
poyn Pattana) 47.

Hampe 22, 43, 167, 198.

TIampe-Virlipitksam 45,

Hassan 144,

HastinRvati ( same as Anogondi) 27,

Tlatyangadi Tnscription 134,

1l8mitvati, river 41,

Heras 112 ».

1lesar Kundini 65.

Holilkere 166, 166.

ITonnali 72,

Hosngunga 73,

ITosa-I11ampeya~Paftann  of
puram 46, 47, 47 w.

Tamp?-

Hosapattana 42, different from Ane-
gondi 26 ; not same as Flosaviir 41;
fncluded in the Hoyssla country 26;
sdentity of 23, 25, 40, 42; Nijagali-
kataka-ritya capital 42 ; not same
ag Sakrepattape 41; different from
Vijaysnagara 23, 24, 26.

Fogavlr (See undor Hosapatfans)

Hoysala (See under Ballila I, NI
Narasimhba I, III. S8m@wara and
R¥manitha). Extent of territory 20,
21, 60, 61, 66; inscriptions 150
nclevidus 88 n; relations with

Stnpas 67 ff; conneclions wikk lhe
South 61,

Ioysana country 23-40.
1

1bn Battiita 86, 91, 92, 181, 137, 138.
Immagi Bukka (See under Bukka 1I)
IrungoladSva II 21, 78.

J

Jaddapura b.

Jaitzasimha 69,

Jdjanagar 7.

Jaka Mudda NRyaka 109,
Jakkana Niyaksa B,

Jamkhangdi 69.

Jam3l-ud-Din 87,

Jafivarman Sundarn Pipdya

(See
under Sundara Pindya) 62.

K *

Kab@nand 173,

Kadambas of Banav3sc 96, 97,

Kadymbas of Goa 63, 69,

Kadambas of Hinangal 69,

Kadlir 144,

Kikatiya 68; adminishative divi-
sions 103 ff; boar emblem 102 ff,,
relations with Doravadl 168 £,
relations with Vijayanagara 102 ,

Kilacorys 67,

K#lamsgha 6, 9, 10.

KalidEva 167,

KallanAtha 52, 132.

Kallasa 130.

Kampa Rizu (See under Kampana )

KampiladSva or Kampila, protected
Bahf-ud-Din  Gustasp 92, 93 =
relations with Ballfla IIX 82 ff, 166
doath of 84, 93; advance on Hola}-
kere; 74; relations with Kakatlyas
168 fI; extent of kingdem 167;
residence 164 ff; relations with
Stmeya Dagnlyaka 165, sons of 84£f;
relations with Sultin 80, 91 f.

Kamplli, Kembala or Kambila 80;
destruction of 3 ; Haribara ], ils rul
04 iT; extent of the kingdom 120,
166, 167; rebellion of 93, 118,119,

Kampana, Kampa R¥zu or Kapraz
59, 60, 105,130, 172.

Koanfinidah ;  corruption
Nuyadu 172,

*of Kanyn
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KannanW: 63, 64, 65, 80:

Kannara’s inscriptions : in Difvanagere
162 ; Dhiitwar 151 ; Holdlkers 163,
Stgar 166, Sikirpar 159, Sorah 164,

Kanya Nfyaka, Kipaya Nfyaka, or
Krsna Niyaka 86, 116, ff; 171 ff, 174,
176 ; revolt against the Sultfin 93,
176 ; PratdparudraIT not his father;
relations with AnapGta 120,

Kapaldr giant 48, B0, 54, 94, 129,

Kapardin 182.

Kipayn or Kipays Nfyakn (See also
under Kanya Niyak) 113, 114, 115,
120,174,

Kapris (See under Bukka I) 59.

Kargits and Andhra 177 £f.

Kataya Vemsa 128,

KathGrehara 6, 9, 10, 61, 62.

K3ttn Nayoka B,

KavadSva 74,

K Béavadagdaniitha 97,

Khandeyeariya 165,

Kbiifi Khin 82 #,

Khugrn Khiin 79,

Khwija Hiji 118,

Khwija Jahin 84, 86.

Kikk3yitayl 134, 136, 183,

Kogli 72,

Kodavalru Inscription 130,

Kondavidu 120, 123 ff, 183, 184.

Kondavidu Reddis 127, 179,

KSdiya Niyaka 140 7,

Ko&lacalma family 83.

Kalir 144 '

Kondu Niyaka 64.

Konkan §9, 131.

Ketikantl Righava 169,

X3l Niyaka 73.

Kotisvaia 134,

Kottakonda 121,

Krnadsvariya 178.

Krmakandh@ra, SEuna King, same as
Kannary 20, 21,

Kyyna NRyska (See also umder Kanya
Nryakn) ¥, 179,

=ediamAragisi 125,

Kum@radvimin 183, 188,

Kummata 169.

Kunigul 66.

Kunfjarakona 48,

FRurngodu 167,

KurokyBira-VidyRangari 52,

L
Lakymanfcirya 121, 122,
LTla Maceya 64.
Luddar Dew (See under PratSpa-
rudea) 4.
m
Ma'bar 84, 137.

Mada 120, 122, 184,
Midhaviciiya b5,
M#dhava-Raya-Ganda 9, 10,
Madura Sultins 137, 188,

Mah3ideva, SEuna king : inscrif:tions in
Cannagiri 161; in DZvagagere 162
in Dhirwar 161; in SAgar 137; in
Sikmplr 137; Soiab 154; allinmce
with IrungBlad®va 11 21,

MahIdSva Dannlyeks 71,

Major King 171, 173, 178,

Malik Bedar 7, 113,

Malik Makbiil or Kibtl 116.

Malik Ka(@r 13, 76.

MallikSrjuna B2,

Mallindtha 1T 181 fF,

Mallinfitha, grandfather of MallinTtha T
182,

MallinTtha Vodeya 148,

Mannanksgil 64.

MZInuva 170.

MTrapa 180,

M3ravarman Kulasekhara 64, 56, 76.

Mayileya Nayaka 140 #, 143,

Mayileya Nityaka-Cenneya Niyaka 143,

MelukGte 42.

Mubarak Shah Kbilji 78, 79,

Mudulk®ri Inscription 133,

Muhammadan invasions of the South
69, 66.

Muhammead bin Tughlak or SuMin
Muhammad 59, 129, territory en-
trustad to Harhara 130; relations
with Kampilad®va 8, 84, 85 ; Madura
Sultin's revolt against 137, 138;
arrangements for the government
of Warrangal 115, 116,

Mubammad Shah Bahimgani or Muham-
mad I 118, 164.

Muommagdi Singeya Nayaks 80, 81, 164,

‘Mysore, congubst by Harihara I 144.
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N
Nidu 104, 106.
Nasadha 182,
Nakharn ILajumana 133.
Nakkigundn 74,

Nandi-kantn~- pStu-riju 184,

Narasimha I1, Hoysala king: Extent of
tenritory ; inscriptions in Cannagiri
161 ; in DRvanpagero 162 ; in 1lonnall
160 ; in Sfga1 186 ; in Sorab 153.

Nainsumha I, Iloysala king 21, 62
death of 66; DPwirasamudra im-
proved 44 ; not ruler of Hampe 22 ;
Honnall attacked 72; Nidugal
attagked 75 ; war with Rimandtha
68, 64, 60, inscriptions in Divapa-
gore 162; in Honnali 160; in SHgar
136.

Nilyaka (Sce Amaraniyaka) 108,

Niyakara Systom 108 ff; Kikatiya
oiigin 109, 110,

Nelividu 88 ».

Nidugal 75 ff,

Nijapali chief 42,

Nijagali fort 41,

Nijagali village 42,

Nijagali-kataka-17yn 22, 42,

Nigarili Stlamaydalam 137,

Nikitin 96,

Nilavara Tnacription (also Niruvarn)
133.

Niruvara or Nilavara Iusctiption 133,

Nizam-ud-Din Alimad 171,

Nuniz 108,

Nuarat Khfin 116, ‘

(o]
Ontimitta 178,
Orugal (See undor Warrangal)

P
Pitkanadu 178,
PampR: goddess 48, 49.
Pindyas of Ucchangl 68.
PRpdyacakravartin 134,
Pinagal 170
Parikrama 80,
Pardkrama Pindya 78.
Parfiénra Madhaviya 58.
Parasurima-ddva 78, 77.
Pedakdmati Vima 184,
Pedda Vedagiri 122,
Peddibhaifa 182, 188.
Panugonda 139,
Prabhkara Sastrl 125 ».

Prasdditya 119,

Pratipacarita 110, 176 x,

Diatiparadra I 100, 103, 104, 119,
123, death of 113, 114, 116; grant
to GangidSva 109 ; systematised the
Niyakara System 100, 110; impri-
soned by the Sultin 113; relations
with Kampilad8va-: 170; relations
with RiImad8va 170; ruleased from
Delhi 7 ; sons of 176.

Pratiparndrayasobhiisanam 182, 182 s.

Praudha-D8varlya 182 fT,

Prala IT 108,

Prilaya 115,

Prolaya Anns 168, 169,

PrBlaya Niyaka 113,

Prolayn V&ma Reddi, or P18laya V&ma
107, 123, 124 ; war on Andhras 179 ;
extent of his kingdom 138 ; relations
with Vijayanagara Kings 124,

Plirva-pascima-samudiiidhipati 130,

Q
Qutb-ud-Din Foroz 138,

R

Ricukonda 183, 184 ; division of the
kingdom 122; history of 118'ff;
Velamas of 180, -

Rijys 104, 107,

Ra1 Laddar Dec 7.

RijakRlanirnaya 61,

Rimszcandra or Rimad8va, S8upa king
71, 72, 154; attacked and fought
with Balldla JII 74, 75; extent of
teiritory 21, 22; inscriptions in
Cannagiri 161 ; in Divanagere 163.,
in Dh3rw3r 151; 1n Honnali 160 ; in
Sikarptir 156 ; in Sorab 154, 158 ; in
Jagaltru 163 ; helped by Malik-Kxftr
76, 77; hie general Mummads
Singeya 18,

REmanitha, Hoysala king, fought with
Ballila T 62, 63, 65, 6G; death of
66 ; war with Naiasimha IIT 63, 64,
65 ; relations wilh the PRndyas 62, 63,
64,65 ; Kogli oxpedition 73; relo~—
tions with Yddavas 21.

Risaya Niyaka 80,

Rivu-Singa 183.

Riyagajinkusa 184,

Riyavieska b1,

Rudrimbd 104, 104, 110,
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VIJAYANAGARA

5

Sabb: 119,

SZdhvaka or Sidhynka 105,

Sigar 72,

Salakaladtva 122.

Sakrepattaua 41,

SHEluva Tikkama 78,

Shams-1-Siray Afif 113,

Samudlya tax 133,

Samudra Pindya 80,

Sangarya Niiyaka 81,

Sangama 97, 98, 98 .

Sangama Dyanasty 181, early
tory of 91 ff

Sangama period - literature of 52,

Sangama’s sons §9, 6.

Sannfm and STm3ana 93,

Saima, M. 8 171,

Samkama Dva ~ Kilacurys 67, 69,

Sankya S3hm 77,

Sarvajiia 182,

Styana 97 #, 165.

SELo 78.

Stunas * conguests of 71, 73 ff, rela-
tions with the Hoysalas 78 ff, attack
on their frontier 74, war -with
Ballila M 68, 73, war wth
Ballfla IIE 78 {f , woar with SSmTs-
wara 71; authority in Telugu country
169, 170; inserrptions m DhArwir,
n Simoga and in Ciialdrug 151 ff.

Siddayin Vogdeyar 5,

Sigal-nidu 66.

Sikarph: 72.

Sima 104, 106-108,

Simha Raghunitha Riyakovara 9, 10,
Stmogs inacriptions 183 fi,

Singama IIT, the Sarvajia 183,
Singama or Singema II 115, 119, 122,
Singama Niyaka 109,

Singhana or Singhana DEva accession
70, war with, Ballila II 7¢ | wscrip-
tions wm Dhirwdr 161, in Ilonnall
160 , 1n S3ger 156, an _SLkﬁtp'ﬂr 158,
359, vh Sorah 168, 134, cenquest of
territory fiom Spmdiwars 20, 21.

Singeya Danndyaka or Niyaka 6, 9,
10, 64, 80, 164,

Surist 73, 74,

Siruguppe 2166, 167,

Shleltr 64.

his-

SOmeswaia, IToysala king 44, 62, G3 ,
death of 63, 68, 63 722, citent of
territory 20, relations with Stunne
71, 1nsciiptions m Divanngere 162,
in STgar 186 , 1 Sorab 153, 164,

SOmiswara IV, Cijukya king 67, 68.

SSmeya Dapniyaka or Nayaka 164,
1686,

Sorab inscriptions 183 ff,

Sotatl:, battle of 69.

Sosavir 146.

South Canaia 132

Srauta Sttra Karka 182,

$iivana Belgola 41,

Srinitha 128, 177, 183 #, 184.

Singira Sringtham 125 ».

Stpgdr1 festival 186, 146, 147 ; mscuip
ttons 1380 ; Matha 181,

Sthala 104, 105§, 107.

SubhXita, Rijacitupaddhats 97 ».

Sultisptr 7.

Sultins of Gulburga 121

SultTns of Madura 137, 138

Sumdara Pindya 76,

Syed Ah Aziz-ul-ln 17t

T

Tarlkh-I-Ferishta 79 #,

1 Tefkh-I-Mubirak Shih 84 » o, 91 »,

TehingRna, Tilang, or Tulimgana 4, 7,
84 ; lustory of F'slugu country 112 ff.

Tepp uia Nagannpa 109, 146.

Tippa 179,

Tippari;a or Tippagna Vodeyar 145,

Tiruvapnimals or Upnamale 6, 80,

Tripurintakam ¥78

Tulu-nad 77.

Tuluvas 132,

Tuluva mnseaptions BE.

Tumbalam 170,

Tumkir 144,

U

Ucchang 69, 145,

Udayaginn or Uddagin: 60, 125, 130,
131, 178.

Ulgh Khh 7,

Unnimale (See undéer Trravapnimale)

v

Vacapps Dannfiyaka 183,
Vadyarijavallabha 122,
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Valsyavamiy Sudhfirpavam 181, 182
184,

Velima Niyakas 110,

Vallappa Danyiyaka 148,

Velunas of Reearla fanuly 118 ff,

Vilogan fumly 121,

Vimaya Redd: 106.

Venna 199,

Venkafaniiiiyana 182,

Viudyl or WVidydnagara, ether name
for Vnayanagara B0, B2, 181 ff,
BukkI 1uling 52, foundation of 48,
49; Harthara 1 rulmg 50, named
afler Vidy3ranya; 51, B2, &6,
Vidyanagar,, Kuruke®tra, other
names, 52,

Vidytranyz $iipida or VidyGranya
48, 49, 50, 86; relations with Ilai-
hara ¥, Bukkal and Harthara II
B4, B3, 856; did he buld a city?
B1, relations with Vyayrnagara B4£f,

Viaya 8, 43, 4.

Vijayanngara or de):'.'inagnm or Viia-
Vyaya-Vilipaksapatt wa 50, B2, 89,
181, ~dmuiustrative features of 103,
104; 1ts founder Bukka I, 52, 53, 55,
capitnl of the kingdom and empite
03, 54 ; Ralli]a I, not the founde:
of 43, 40; expansion of 129 ff;
foimed single oity with Hampe 43,
not the same ns Hosapattana 28, 24,
26 ; situated in the Kuntala country
23, story of foundation 48, 49;
Vadyanagara another name 02, rela-
tions with Warrangal 117, 118,

Vyayanagara mscriptions at Mysore
144, 145.

Vyayanagamia Empire: different ae-
counts of origmn 60.

Vieyanagara kings: fight with
Anapdta 121; boar, theirr crest 102,
103, Keioz Shah's attack on 127,
Hoysala terntory conquered by
1357, 142{f, Koudavidu Reddis’
atiack on 127; relations with
PrSlaya Voma 124,

+

Vitabhadia 176,

Virabhadia Row 176 2.

Vita Kampili D@va, another name of
KampihhdTva (See under Kampila-
dtva),

Vira Pindya 63, 76, 78, 80
Via Sinta-Riyakuvar 1 9, 10,
Vinaydditya 23

Vindyakdey 118,

Vinukondn 124

Vira Rudia 182,
Vira-simha-Raghunlitha 6.
Vitthala-bhGnitha 169, 170.
Visvanitha 66,

Virlipanyga 126, 180, 131.

VirGpapwa, Viripiksapnta, Vnlpa-
ksa or Viripiksapailana 44, 48, 89.

Vulpikss god 48, 49,

w
Warrangl, Wurangole m1 Orugal or
Arangal 4,121, 173, 174, rconquest
by Mussalmans ete, B, 6, 7, 00,
84,112 {f; history of 117 {F; rebel-
lLion of 93, 119 ; relwtions with the
kinpgs of Vyuyanagara 117, 118

Y

Yidavas of DTvagir: (See under Stupa
kings Blullama, Singhana Kannaa,
MahddEve, and RAmacandia,)

Yegagudi plates B0, B4, 129,

y

Zafar Khin 117,
Zia-ud-Dm Bainl (See under Barni).
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